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PART I  

We believe it is important to communicate our expectations to investors. However, there may be events in the future that we are not able 
to predict accurately or that we do not fully control that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied. This 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, the accompanying financial statements, the documents incorporated by reference and other statements we make 
from time to time may contain “forward–looking statements.” One can identify these forward-looking statements by their use of words such as 
“may,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “believe,” “anti cipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “p rojects,” “outlook” or similar 
expressions. In particular, these include statements relating to our beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, future actions, prospective products or 
product approvals, future performance or results of current and anticipated products, the outcome of contingencies, such as legal proceedings, 
and financial results. Such statements are subject to factors, risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results, events and performances to 
differ materially from those referred to in such statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to differences in our actual results include 
those discussed in Item 1 under the section entitled “Risk Factors Related to Our Business,” as well as those discussed in Item 7 under the 
section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere throughout this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K and in any other documents incorporated by reference. The forward–looking statements are based on 
information available to us on the date hereof, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects 
in our 10-Q and 8-K reports to the SEC.  
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Item 1.     Business  

Business Overview  

Insmed Incorporated is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of drugs to treat metabolic 
diseases and endocrine disorders within niche markets that have unmet medical needs. Currently, our development and commercial activities 
involve drugs that modulate Insulin-like Growth Factor-1, IGF-1, activity in the human body. Our lead product, IPLEX™ (mecasermin 
rinfabate [rDNA origin] injection), is the only FDA approved, once-daily IGF-1 replacement therapy. IPLEX was approved in December 2005 
for the treatment of growth failure in children with severe primary IGF-1 deficiency or with growth hormone gene deletion who have 
developed neutralizing antibodies to growth hormone (Severe Primary IGFD). As an Orphan Drug, IPLEX is entitled to seven years of 
marketing exclusivity for IPLEX in the treatment of Severe Primary IGFD in the United States. We are conducting and plan to pursue further 
clinical trials in order to expand the label for IPLEX into additional clinical indications.  

We are building our own specialty sales force to launch IPLEX in the United States in the second quarter of this year. We believe we can 
effectively market IPLEX by targeting the top 400 pediatric endocrinologists in the United States who we estimate treat the substantial majority 
of the approximately 6,000 children who suffer from severe short stature due to Severe Primary IGFD. The positive therapeutic characteristics 
of IPLEX that we believe will make it a commercial success are:  
   

   

   

   

We believe the commercial opportunities for IPLEX are significant and reach beyond our approved indication of Severe Primary IGFD. 
Subject to completion of additional clinical studies and regulatory approval, the initial approval of IPLEX may offer us an opportunity for label 
expansion into other indications, most with larger patient populations than Severe Primary IGFD. We are currently conducting Phase II clinical 
studies in patients with myotonic muscular dystrophy, HIV associated adipose redistribution syndrome and extreme insulin resistance. We also 
intend to conduct additional clinical studies in other growth disorders associated with IGF-1 deficiency.  

We also intend to expand the market for IPLEX by pursuing approvals outside of the United States, including the European Union. We 
have been granted Orphan Drug Designation by the European Medicines Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal Products, or the EMEA, for 
IPLEX in the treatment of primary growth hormone insensitivity syndrome (Laron Syndrome) or GHIS. We intend to expand this designation 
to include Severe Primary IGFD should this approval be granted by the EMEA. Should approval of IPLEX be granted for this indication by the 
EMEA, as an Orphan Drug, IPLEX will be provided up to 10 years of marketing exclusivity in the European Union. We plan to file for 
marketing authorization with the EMEA in the third quarter of 2006.  

In addition to our IPLEX development and commercialization programs, we have an oncology program focused on two compounds, 
INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3. Our longer-term development efforts are primarily focused on the potential to treat cancers by using these 
compounds to target growth factors and their receptors. Our small molecule compound, INSM-18, has novel effects on the activity of the IGF-1 
and other receptors, such as Her2/Neu, and may lead to the inhibition of growth of various tumors. A Phase I/II clinical study of INSM-18 in 
refractory prostate cancer patients has been initiated at the University of California, San Francisco School of Medicine. rhIGFBP-3 is a 
naturally occurring anti-tumor agent normally found in the human bloodstream. Several epidemiological studies have demonstrated that cancer 
risk increases as levels of rhIGFBP-3 in the blood decrease. A Phase I clinical study to evaluate rhIGFBP-3 safety and tolerance in human 
volunteers is in progress.  
   

4  

  •   IPLEX has demonstrated statistically significant increases in linear growth. 

  •   IPLEX is the only once-daily IGF-1 replacement therapy approved for use in the United States. 

  •   IPLEX may be administered either in the morning or evening. 

  •   IPLEX has demonstrated an acceptable safety profile. 
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Our Business Strategy  

We intend to capitalize on the therapeutic opportunities presented by IPLEX by commercializing it in its approved indication in the 
United States and extending the use of IPLEX in other indications and other geographic markets. We also intend to develop, seek regulatory 
approval of and commercialize other drugs for the treatment of other metabolic diseases and endocrine disorders with unmet medical needs. 
This includes the development of cancer treatments based on our expertise in IGF-1 biology. Both the INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3 development 
programs are based on the belief that these product candidates modulate the over expression of IGF-1 and its receptors in solid tumors. Key 
elements of our strategy include:  

Launch IPLEX commercially in 2006 with our own specialty sales force. We are building a sales and marketing force to target 
approximately 400 U.S.-based pediatric endocrinologists who we estimate treat the substantial majority of the children with Severe Primary 
IGFD. These physicians are readily accessible because they are primarily hospital-based and located in major metropolitan areas. We have 
hired a management team for our sales, marketing, medical communications and managed care groups that will bring IPLEX to the market. By 
the end of 2006, we expect to employ 25 to 30 sales representatives. In addition, we intend to conduct continuing medical education programs, 
medical symposia, and regional speaker programs aimed at establishing awareness of IPLEX in the medical community.  

Develop IPLEX in additional non-growth disorder indications. We intend to initiate clinical studies of IPLEX in the United States in 
additional indications where existing preclinical or clinical data suggest IPLEX may be an effective treatment. We have initiated studies in 
myotonic muscular dystrophy (estimated U.S. patient population is 40,000), HIV associated adipose redistribution syndrome (estimated U.S. 
patient population is 80,000) and extreme insulin resistance.  

Expand the Severe Primary IGFD indication to other growth disorders related to IGF-1 deficiency. There are a number of growth 
disorders related to IGF-1 deficiency other than Severe Primary IGFD which represent conditions with significant unmet medical needs and 
significant opportunities for expansion of the market for IPLEX. We plan to investigate these other indications and further develop those that 
provide the best market opportunity for label expansion. We believe that successful label expansion studies in IGF-1-related short stature may 
expand the U.S. market for IPLEX from 6,000 children to approximately 30,000 children. We intend to initiate a Phase II study in children 
with Noonan Syndrome, a population with IGF-1 deficiency, in the second quarter of this year.  

Establish a commercialization strategy for IPLEX outside the United States. We will either build our own European sales and 
marketing team or explore opportunities to partner with an established sales and marketing organization in Europe. We intend to file a 
Marketing Authorization Application, or MAA, with the EMEA for approval of IPLEX in the European Union for the treatment of an 
indication that is very similar to the indication for which we recently received approval from the FDA in the United States. We also intend to 
seek regulatory marketing authorization of IPLEX in additional territories, including Israel and certain Middle Eastern states and South 
America.  

Develop Oncology Portfolio. We will continue to conduct clinical studies of INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3 for the treatment of cancer. Based 
on the results of these studies, we will evaluate opportunities to initiate Phase II clinical studies in one or more of the following cancer types: 
breast, colorectal, lung or prostate. We will either conduct additional studies independently or enter into development or licensing agreements 
with companies with greater expertise in the development of cancer therapies.  
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Product Pipeline  
   

IPLEX  

IPLEX is our proprietary drug for the delivery of recombinant insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1). It is administered as a preformed 
complex with a recombinant form of its natural binding protein, insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3 (rhIGFBP-3). This novel 
compound is administered as a once-daily subcutaneous injection, which can restore and maintain IGF-1 levels to physiologically relevant 
levels. The binding protein, rhIGFBP-3, extends the residence time of IGF-1 in the blood, mimicking normal human physiology. In the bound 
state, we believe IGF-1 is inactive, and remains so until delivered to target tissues in the body where it is released and becomes biologically 
active.  

IPLEX’s Approved Indication  

Growth Failure Due to Severe Primary IGFD. Severe primary IGF-1 deficiency or Severe Primary IGFD is a condition which causes 
growth failure and extreme short stature due to a marked deficiency in IGF-1. This deficiency can be due to hereditary defects in the growth 
hormone receptor or post-receptor pathway, or due to acquired causes such as growth hormone antibodies in patients with growth hormone 
gene deletion. Characteristics of this condition can include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

Physicians characterize a child’s height deficit by calculating a height standard deviation score, or height SDS, which indicates how many 
standard deviations a child’s height is from the average value for the normal population of the same age and sex. The American Academy of 
Pediatrics and the American Academy of Clinical Endocrinology define short stature as a height that is more than two standard deviations 
below the average. Children with Severe Primary IGFD have a height SDS that is at least three standard deviations below the average. Children 
with Severe Primary IGFD who are untreated will typically attain a final height of no more than approximately 5’1” (155 cm) for boys and 4’9 
 1 / 2 ” (146 cm) for girls. Historically, prior to the approval of an IGF-1 therapy, the only treatment for severe short stature has been human 
growth hormone (hGH). However, it has been long recognized that there are a significant group of children who do not adequately respond to 
hGH due to growth hormone insensitivity.  
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Name     Indication     Status  
IPLEX     Growth Failure associated with Severe Primary IGFD    FDA Approved 

IPLEX     Myotonic Muscular Dystrophy    Phase II 

IPLEX     HIV Associated Adipose Redistribution Syndrome (HARS)    Phase II 

IPLEX     Extreme Insulin Resistance    Phase II 

IPLEX     Growth Failure associated with IGF-1 Deficiency (Noonan Syndrome)    Phase II Planned 

INSM-18     Refractory Prostate Cancer    Phase I/II 

rhIGFBP-3     Cancer    Phase I 

  •   normal or elevated serum growth hormone levels; 

  •   inability to generate normal IGF-1 levels after growth hormone provocation; 

  •   reduced serum IGF-1 and rhIGFBP-3 levels; 

  •   severe postnatal growth failure and markedly reduced adult height; 

  •   truncal adiposity; and 

  •   delayed skeletal maturation. 
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Approximately 380,000 children in the United States are referred each year to pediatric endocrinologists for evaluation of possible short 
stature. We believe approximately 6,000 of these children suffer from Severe Primary IGFD and may be treated with IPLEX.  

We are preparing to commercially launch IPLEX with our own sales force in the United States in the second quarter of 2006. In addition, 
we are currently assessing our regulatory strategy regarding submission of a Marketing Authorization Application, with the European 
Medicines Evaluation Agency for IPLEX treatment of Severe Primary IGFD. We intend to file our MAA in Europe by the end of the third 
quarter of 2006.  

Ongoing Clinical Trial  

We have results from an ongoing Phase III study of 47 children with Severe Primary IGFD. Twenty-six of these 47 children completed at 
least 6 months of IPLEX replacement therapy and were evaluable for efficacy at 6 months, which is the generally accepted minimum length of 
time required to adequately measure growth response to drug therapy. A statistically significant increase in average growth rate from 3.4 cm 
per year prior to treatment to 7.4 cm per year during the first 6 months of IPLEX treatment was demonstrated in the lower dose group, where as 
the increase was from 2.2 cm per year to 8.8 cm per year in the higher dose group (p<0.0001 for both groups). A p-value of less than 0.0001 
means that the probability that this result occurred by chance was less than 1 in 10,000. A probability of 5 in 100 or less, or p<0.05, is 
commonly considered to be statistically significant. With this six-month data, IPLEX was approved for marketing by the FDA on 
December 12, 2005.  

Twenty-four of the subjects have received at least 12 months of treatment and qualified for inclusion in the 12 month analysis. These 
subjects experienced a statistically significant increase in growth rate from 3.4 to 6.4 cm/year and 2.0 to 8.3 cm/year over the 12 month 
treatment period in the low and high dose groups, respectively (p<0.0001 for both groups). Although three patients left the study before 
completion, none of the 47 patients discontinued IPLEX treatment due to adverse events considered related to drug. Some patients experienced 
hypoglycemia, or low blood glucose levels. Enlargement of the tonsils and headaches were also noted in some patients.  

We believe that increases in growth rates resulting from IPLEX treatment were clinically meaningful, leading to catch-up growth as 
indicated by a significant increase in height SDS. These results are comparable to those observed in clinical studies of other approved growth 
indications for other growth-promoting therapies.  

Other Indications for IPLEX in Development  

Myotonic Muscular Dystrophy. Myotonic muscular dystrophy or MMD (also known as myotonic dystrophy, dystrophia myotonica or 
Steinert’s disease) is the most common type of adult muscular dystrophy and affects approximately 1 in 8,000 individuals. MMD causes 
progressive muscle wasting and weakness in the hands, forearms, legs, neck and face. It often involves many other systemic effects, including 
endocrine abnormalities, especially with respect to insulin, a regulator of blood sugar (glucose); neurological changes, including excessive 
sleepiness and apathy; cataracts, usually requiring surgical excision; gastrointestinal problems; and cardiac rhythm abnormalities, often 
requiring pacemaker insertion. In extreme cases, these patients can eventually become totally disabled, dying usually from respiratory or 
cardiac failure. At present, there is no treatment to reverse most of these symptoms. Previous preclinical and human studies have demonstrated 
that IGF-1 therapy may be an effective treatment for myotonic muscular dystrophy.  

Based on information published by the Muscular Dystrophy Association, we believe that there are approximately 40,000 patients that 
suffer from MMD in the United States.  

Ongoing Clinical Study  

A Phase II clinical study program investigating IPLEX as a treatment for MMD has been initiated by the University of Rochester School 
of Medicine, with funding provided by the Muscular Dystrophy Association and  
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the National Institute of Health. This Phase II program is designed to investigate the safety and tolerability of once-daily subcutaneous 
injections of IPLEX in patients with MMD using two sequential studies each involving 15 patients. The first study is a 24-week, dose-
escalation study of IPLEX intended to identify an optimal dose for the subsequent 24-week, fixed-dose study. Both studies will evaluate a 
number of safety parameters in a prospective manner, as well as several key efficacy measures such as muscle mass and strength.  

The University of Rochester has been designated by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) as one of several “centers of excellence” for 
muscular dystrophy research. As such, the University of Rochester is eligible to receive funding from the NIH and Muscular Dystrophy 
Association. A portion of this funding is being used to substantially fund this clinical study.  

HIV Associated Adipose Redistribution Syndrome (HARS). HIV-associated adipose redistribution syndrome, or HARS, is characterized 
by fat maldistribution in HIV-infected patients. Patients with HARS experience abnormal, pathological accumulation of adipose tissue in the 
trunk, primarily in the form of visceral adipose tissue located deep within the abdomen, underneath the abdominal muscle wall. This fat 
accumulation may be present with or without fat depletion, lipoatrophy, and/or metabolic abnormalities. In general, HARS patients accumulate 
excess visceral adipose tissue in the abdomen or may develop a fat pad on the upper back commonly known as a “buffalo hump.” This 
condition is sometimes referred to as HIV Lipodystrophy.  

Since the advent of highly active antiretroviral therapy, or HAART, there has been a marked increase in adverse metabolic effects in HIV 
patients on antiretroviral treatments. These adverse effects include insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, dyslipidemia and changes in body fat 
distribution that include syndromes of both central fat accumulation (visceral adiposity and buffalo hump) and fat loss in the limbs. Recent 
studies performed in subjects on HAART suggest that at least 20% of individuals develop the morphologic features of this syndrome. With the 
similarity of HARS to metabolic syndrome X, which has been associated with increased risk of cardiovascular disease, it is now feared that 
these HAART side effects may impact the long-term prognosis in patients whose life expectancies have been significantly extended due to 
effective viral suppression by HAART. At present, there is no approved treatment for this condition.  

We believe that there are at least 80,000 patients who suffer from HARS in the United States.  

Ongoing Clinical Study  

A Phase II clinical study investigating IPLEX as a treatment for HARS has been initiated by the University of California, San Francisco. 
This Phase II open-label study is designed to evaluate the safety and efficacy of 12 weeks of IPLEX treatment in 12 subjects with HARS. To 
qualify for inclusion in the study, patients must be between 18-65 years of age, have confirmed HIV-1 infection and fat accumulation (visceral 
adiposity). The primary goal of the study is to determine the effects of IPLEX on visceral fat and glucose and lipid metabolism.  

Extreme Insulin Resistance. Syndromes of extreme insulin resistance result from genetic defects in the insulin receptor or insulin 
signaling pathways and include Type A and Type B Syndromes, Rabson-Mendenhall Syndrome and Leprechaunism. In addition to insulin 
resistance and glucose intolerance or overt diabetes, these syndromes share a number of common features, including variable degrees of 
hyperandrogenism, hirsutism, and dysmorphic features. Individuals with extreme insulin resistance who develop frank diabetes require large 
doses (>200 units/day) of subcutaneous insulin, oral hypoglycemic agents and insulin sensitizers. Despite this intense regimen, glycemic 
control remains poor and these patients are at high risk of the complications of diabetes such as cardiovascular disease, nephropathy, 
retinopathy and neuropathy. Previous Phase II clinical studies completed with IPLEX in diabetic patients have shown improved glycemic 
control, improved insulin sensitivity as well as a reduction in daily insulin consumption. IPLEX has been granted Orphan Drug Designation in 
both the United States and Europe for extreme insulin resistance.  
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Ongoing Clinical Study  

We have initiated a Phase II clinical study at the University of Cambridge to investigate the therapeutic benefit of treating Type A and 
Rabson-Mendenhall Syndrome extreme insulin resistance with IPLEX. This Phase II, open-label, dose-ranging study is designed to evaluate 
the safety and efficacy of 16 weeks of IPLEX treatment in 10 patients with Type A extreme insulin resistance or Rabson-Mendenhall 
Syndrome. To qualify for inclusion in the study, patients must be between 10-65 years of age and have a diagnosis of Type A extreme insulin 
resistance or Rabson-Mendenhall Syndrome. The primary efficacy endpoints of the trial are improvement in glycemic control, improvement in 
insulin sensitivity, reduction in hemoglobin A1c and improvement in body composition. We expect to present interim data at Endocrine 
Society’s Annual Meeting in June 2006 (ENDO 2006), and complete the trial by the end of 2006.  

Noonan Syndrome. Noonan Syndrome is a congenital disorder characterized by a deficiency in IGF-1, short stature, heart defects and 
variable dysmorphic features. Growth failure is a consistent feature of Noonan Syndrome and the response to recombinant human growth 
hormone therapy has been disappointing, particularly in children with an identified gene mutation.  

With an incidence of approximately one in 2,000, we estimate that there are approximately 30,000 children in the United States with 
Noonan Syndrome.  

Planned Clinical Study  

We plan to conduct a Phase II, open-label, multicenter, clinical study to evaluate the pharmacokinetics, safety and efficacy of 12 months 
of IPLEX treatment in 24 children with growth failure due to Noonan Syndrome. The IPLEX dose will be titrated to maintain IGF-I SDS in the 
upper normal range. The primary and secondary efficacy measures are annualized height velocity and height SDS, respectively.  

Long-Term Development Opportunity for IPLEX  

Diabetes. As an extension of studies related to extreme insulin resistance and as one of our longer-term development initiatives, we 
believe that IPLEX may have application in the treatment of diabetes.  

Data from several Phase II studies conducted with IPLEX indicate that IPLEX has a beneficial effect in lowering glucose levels, and 
insulin demands. Patients with type 1 diabetes are characterized by their inability to produce insulin. In these patients, insulin deficiency leads 
to glucose intolerance in childhood. In type 1 diabetes, down-regulation of growth hormone receptors in the liver results in reduced circulating 
IGF-1 levels, which can lead to growth hormone hypersecretion. This, in turn, causes decreased insulin sensitivity and worsening of metabolic 
control. We believe treatment of type 1 diabetes with IPLEX may reduce growth hormone levels and improve insulin sensitivity and glycemic 
control, while decreasing insulin dose requirements. Type 2 diabetes is characterized by insulin resistance. In addition to low circulating levels 
of IGF-1, these patients have an increased number of insulin/IGF-1 hybrid receptors. Increased expression of these hybrid receptors positively 
correlates with a decrease in both insulin binding affinity and insulin sensitivity. We believe treatment of type 2 diabetics requiring insulin 
therapy with IPLEX may lead to improved glycemic control while decreasing the insulin dose requirement.  

According to the ADA, approximately 73% of insulin-using type 2 diabetes patients are not adequately controlling their blood sugar 
levels to the ADA recommended guidelines. We believe that there are approximately one million insulin-using diabetes patients who do not 
adequately control their blood sugar. Since clinical studies for this indication are likely to be very large and expensive, we have no current 
plans to pursue a clinical development program on our own, however, we may look for a partner to assist us with this clinical development 
program.  
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Oncology Programs — INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3  

INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3 are in early clinical development and are primarily being investigated for the treatment of cancer. Identification 
of the signaling pathways that regulate tumor growth has led to novel strategies for the treatment of cancer. As a result, new agents that target 
growth factors and their receptors are emerging as promising new alternatives to existing treatments which generally include cytotoxic agents 
that significantly decrease patient quality of life. To this end, we believe both INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3, are promising potential novel 
treatments for a variety of cancer types. Preclinical models demonstrate that both treatments interact with the IGF system to reduce tumor 
growth.  

INSM-18  

INSM-18 is an orally available small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitor that has demonstrated selective inhibition of IGF-1 and human 
epidermal growth factor receptor (Her2/Neu). It has demonstrated anti-tumor activity in preclinical studies of breast, lung, pancreatic and 
prostate tumors. Two single dose Phase I clinical studies have been previously completed with INSM-18. In both studies, INSM-18 was safe 
and well tolerated.  

The American Cancer Society estimated that 232,000 new cases of prostate cancer occurred in the United States in 2005. It was also 
estimated by the American Cancer Society that 30,350 deaths occurred as a result of prostate cancer, making it the second leading cause of 
cancer death in men.  

Ongoing Clinical Study  

The University of California, San Francisco, has initiated a dose-escalating Phase I/II clinical study designed to define the maximum 
tolerated dose of INSM-18 in patients with relapsed prostate cancer. The study will consist of a 28-day extension at each dose level to 
investigate the effect of INSM-18 on prostate-specific antigen levels.  

rhIGFBP-3  

Although IGF-1 is critical for normal growth and metabolism, aberrant signaling through this pathway is closely linked to the abnormal 
and unregulated growth of a variety of tumors. Blocking tumor-associated IGF signaling has been proven to prevent tumor growth in a variety 
of preclinical models. rhIGFBP-3 has demonstrated preclinical efficacy in numerous cancer indications, including breast, prostate, liver, 
ovarian, and colon cancers. Additionally, several lines of recent evidence from various cell systems have suggested that rhIGFBP-3 may play a 
more active, IGF-1-independent role in growth regulation of cancer cells, binding specifically with high affinity to the surface of various cell 
types and directly inhibiting monolayer growth of these cells in an IGF-1-independent manner. Recent independent studies have demonstrated 
that when IGFBP-3 is used in combination it can accentuate and even synergize the efficacy of standard cancer therapies. Paclitaxel-induced 
apoptosis is accentuated by rhIGFBP-3, which has been shown to sensitize cells to apoptotic signals such as irradiation and ceramides. 
Preclinical in vitro and in vivo studies performed by us corroborate previously published reports regarding rhIGFBP-3’s efficacy when 
administered alone or in combination therapy.  

Ongoing Clinical Trial  

We have initiated a Phase I clinical study with rhIGFBP-3. The Phase I clinical study is an open-label, dose-escalation study designed to 
evaluate the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of a single intravenous dose of rhIGFBP-3. The primary goal of this 30-patient study is to 
identify the appropriate dose of rhIGFBP-3 for a planned Phase II clinical trial in breast cancer.  

Research and Development  

We have devoted substantially all of our resources since we began our operations to the research and development of a number of drug 
candidates for metabolic and endocrine diseases. Our research and development efforts are now principally focused on conducting additional 
clinical studies, further developing our  
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approved drug, IPLEX, and expanding the label for IPLEX into other indications. We conduct very little of our own preclinical laboratory 
research. We are currently conducting a worldwide Phase III clinical study with our lead drug, IPLEX, and we are also conducting clinical 
studies with our anti-cancer drug candidates, INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3 and plan on conducting additional clinical studies with these drugs in 
the future.  

Research and development expenses primarily include expenses incurred in preparing and obtaining the approval from regulatory bodies, 
certain expenses involving the development of manufacturing processes and clinical studies (including necessary quantities of drugs being 
studied). Our research and development expenses were approximately $23.3 million in 2004 and $21.8 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2005. The amount spent on research and development relative to the overall budget is expected to decrease now that we are 
dedicating a greater proportion of our resources to the commercialization of IPLEX.  

Manufacturing  

We currently manufacture our own supply of bulk IPLEX and rhIGFBP-3 at our FDA approved facility in Boulder, Colorado. The 
manufacturing process requires compliance with current good manufacturing practices, or cGMP, and other similar regulations. IPLEX is a 
complex of two proteins, rhIGF-1 and its binding protein rhIGFBP-3, and is manufactured using recombinant DNA technology. The 
manufacturing process is complicated and involves expression of the two proteins by bacterial fermentation followed by purification and 
combination of the two proteins. During the manufacturing process, rhIGF-1 and rhIGFBP-3 are produced separately and then combined to 
make IPLEX. The rhIGFBP-3 can either be utilized to make IPLEX or kept separate as its own distinct product. We currently outsource to third 
party contract manufacturers some of the analytical testing and the final fill, finish and labeling of IPLEX.  

As part of ongoing regulatory compliance, it is likely that the FDA will inspect our manufacturing facilities and our contract 
manufacturers’ facilities from time to time to ensure compliance with cGMP. If these facilities are not in compliance with cGMP, the FDA will 
likely require us to halt manufacturing until we bring the facilities into compliance. This could take a substantial period of time and could 
adversely affect the development and timing of our clinical studies and/or commercial sales of IPLEX. If for any other reason we are unable 
manufacture sufficient quantities of our drug candidates and their components which meet our planned time and cost parameters, the 
commercialization of IPLEX and the development and timing of our clinical studies for additional indications may be adversely affected.  

We expect to expend significant resources for the expansion and modification of our manufacturing facility over the next three years in an 
effort to increase our production capacity and the efficiency of our operations. We believe this facility will meet our commercial and clinical 
needs for at least the next three years.  

Marketing and Sales  

Our sales and marketing efforts will initially target the sale of IPLEX to patients being treated by the approximately 400 U.S.-based 
pediatric endocrinologists who we estimate treat the substantial majority of children with Severe Primary IGFD. Because these pediatric 
endocrinologists are primarily hospital-based and concentrated in major metropolitan areas, we believe that a focused marketing organization 
and specialized sales force can effectively serve them. In addition, we intend to conduct continuing medical education programs, medical 
symposia, and regional speaker programs aimed at establishing awareness of IPLEX in the physician community. We also intend to conduct 
post-marketing studies and establish a patient registry to provide further data on the safety and efficacy of IPLEX.  

The marketing and selling of IPLEX will be accomplished with an initial group of approximately 25-30 sales professionals with 
supporting staff in marketing, medical communications and managed care. In total, we expect the commercial operations group will grow to 
40-45 people by the end of 2006. Future expansion will largely be driven by the availability of new clinical data and FDA action on future 
marketing label expansion applications for IPLEX and our other leading drug candidates.  
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It is our belief that we can serve the top prescribing pediatric endocrinologists with a focused sales and marketing effort. We plan to 
launch IPLEX in the second quarter of this year and begin generating prescriptions for treating Severe Primary IGFD at that time. We will 
distribute IPLEX through an established specialty distributor. Like other high value protein therapeutics, revenues for IPLEX will be recorded 
with the initiation of each individual prescription. We believe this should allow the company to establish a long-term revenue stream as each 
patient is expected to remain on IPLEX for an average of 6-10 years. We are currently determining the pricing of IPLEX but anticipate pricing 
IPLEX within the range of the other currently marketed growth promoting agents.  

We are exploring several opportunities for sales and marketing in Europe, including the establishment of our own sales and marketing 
organization, acquisition of an existing sales and marketing organization and partnering with an established sales and marketing organization.  

Our goal is to retain marketing, sales and distribution rights to our drug candidates for certain niche markets and find commercial partners 
to develop and market our drugs in markets outside of our current focus.  

Patents and Proprietary Rights  

Insmed Patent Portfolio  

Proprietary protection is important to our business, and our policy is to protect our technology by filing patent applications for technology 
that we consider important. We intend to file additional patent applications, when appropriate, relating to improvements in our technology and 
other specific drugs that we develop. As with any pending patent application, there can be no assurance that any of these applications will issue 
in the United States or a foreign country. There also can be no assurance that a subsequent U.S. or foreign patent will later be held valid and 
enforceable.  

We hold 28 United States patents relating to the composition, production, antibodies and methods of use for IPLEX and rhIGFBP-3, 
including:  
   

   

   

As part of the ongoing development of IPLEX, INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3, we have filed or intend to file patent applications related to 
new production methods, improved formulations, new medical uses and new dosing regimens in the United States and in many of the major 
international pharmaceutical markets. The various issued patents related to IPLEX and rhIGFBP-3 compositions, methods of production and 
methods of treatment expire at various times during the years 2010 through 2019.  

In addition, foreign counterparts to the above-referenced U.S. patents have issued or are pending issue in the major pharmaceutical 
markets, such as Europe, Canada and Japan.  

With respect to Europe, we recently decided to withdraw one of our patents, EP 451,194, or the ‘194 patent, which is directed to 
compositions and methods of using IGFBP-3. This patent expires in 2009. We do not believe that a competitor is developing IGFBP-3 or will 
engage in activities encompassed by this patent prior to 2009. As such, the costs of maintaining this patent outweigh its estimated value. 
Therefore, we have withdrawn its approval of the text of the ‘194 patent. As a result of this action, we expect the European Patent Office will 
soon revoke the ‘194 patent.  
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  •   Two issued patents for rhIGFBP-3 composition-of-matter; 

  
•   15 therapeutic use patents for IPLEX, IGF-1, rhIGFBP-3 or rhIGFBP-3 fragments for the treatment of various disease conditions; 

and 

  
•   11 patents regarding novel expression, production or analysis methods, some of which may be used for the manufacture of IPLEX 

and pharmaceutical compositions of IPLEX. 
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As part of our business strategy, we plan to license intellectual property which we feel may be important to the development and 
commercialization of our products. In April 2005, we were granted a non-exclusive license to certain proprietary manufacturing technology 
from Avecia Limited. In January 2004, we were granted a non-exclusive license to patent rights pertaining to the use of IGF-1 therapy for the 
treatment of extreme or severe insulin resistant diabetes from Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. In November 1998, we were granted a non-
exclusive license to certain proprietary manufacturing technology from Brookhaven Science Associates, LLC.  

Reflecting our commitment to safeguarding proprietary information, we require our employees and consultants to sign confidentiality 
agreements. These agreements prohibit unauthorized disclosure of our proprietary information. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary 
information, unauthorized parties may attempt to obtain and use our proprietary information. Policing unauthorized use of our proprietary 
information is difficult and the steps we have taken might not prevent misappropriation, particularly in foreign countries where the laws may 
not protect our proprietary rights as fully as do the laws of the United States.  

We note that there has been increasing litigation in the biopharmaceutical industry with respect to the manufacture and sale of new 
therapeutic compounds. The validity and breadth of claims in biotechnology patents may involve complex factual and legal issues, for which 
no consistent policy exists. In particular, the patent protection available for protein-based drugs, such as IPLEX and rhIGFBP-3, is highly 
uncertain and involves issues relating to the scope of protection of claims to gene sequences and the production of their corresponding proteins. 

Our patent positions are highly uncertain, and any future patents we receive for our potential products will be subject to this uncertainty, 
which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We intend to actively pursue patent protection for 
products resulting from our research and development activities that have significant potential commercial value. Nevertheless, it is possible 
that, in the patent application process, certain claims may be rejected or achieve such limited allowance that the value of the patents would be 
diminished. Further, there can be no assurance that any patents obtained will afford us adequate protection. In addition, any patents we procure 
may require cooperation with companies holding related patents. We may have difficulty forming a successful relationship with these other 
companies.  

In some cases, litigation or other proceedings may be necessary to enforce our patents or protect our know-how or other intellectual 
property rights. Any additional potential litigation is likely to result in a substantial cost to us and a diversion of our resources. We cannot be 
sure that any of our patents will ultimately be held valid. An adverse outcome in any litigation or proceeding could subject us to significant 
liability.  

Third-Party Patents  

Third parties, including Genentech, Inc. hold United States and/or foreign patents possibly directed to the composition, production and/or 
use of rhIGF-1, rhIGFBP-3, rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 (IPLEX) and/or recombinant proteins. In addition, Novartis AG and Chiron Corporation have 
rights to United States and foreign patents relating to the use of IGF-1 for the treatment of type 1 diabetes, and Novartis owns United States and 
foreign patents relating to the treatment of osteoporosis with IGF-1. Furthermore, Genentech owns U.S. and foreign patents directed to using 
IGF-1 to increase the growth rate of certain patients with non-growth hormone-deficient short stature and patients having partial growth 
hormone insensitivity syndrome.  

We can provide no assurance that one of these third parties will not assert an infringement action against us. Likewise, we cannot predict 
with certainty the outcome of such a proceeding. In the event of a successful claim against us for infringement or misappropriation of a third 
party’s proprietary rights, we may be required to:  
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Furthermore, litigation with any third party, even if the allegations are without merit, would likely be expensive and time-consuming and divert 
management’s attention.  

Any conclusions regarding non-infringement and invalidity are based in part on a review of publicly available databases and other 
information. There may be information not available to or otherwise not reviewed by us that might change our conclusions. Moreover, the 
scope and validity of patent claims are determined based on many facts and circumstances, and in a litigation a court may reach a different 
conclusion on any given patent claim than the conclusions that we have reached.  

We are currently defending infringement claims brought against us. On December 20, 2004, Tercica and Genentech filed a complaint 
against Avecia Limited and us in the United Kingdom at the High Court of Justice, Chancery Division, Patents Court alleging infringement of 
EP patent No. 571,417, or the ‘417 patent. The ‘417 patent has claims directed to particular uses of a combination of IGFBP-3 and IGF-1. In 
the complaint, Tercica asked the court for an injunction to restrain allegedly infringing activity, for a declaration that the ‘417 patent is valid 
and infringed, for an order requiring the delivery or destruction of allegedly infringing articles and materials and for an inquiry into possible 
economic damages. In May 2005, we filed for summary judgment to dismiss the complaint. Our motion for summary judgment was denied and 
a trial date in this litigation has not been set.  

In addition, on December 23, 2004, Genentech and Tercica sued us for infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,187,151 and 6,331,414 in the 
United States District Court for the Northern District of California. These patents are directed to certain methods of using IGF-1/IGFBP-3 and 
methods of producing human IGF-1, respectively. On February 16, 2005, Tercica filed an amended complaint, adding an infringement 
allegation against us with respect to U.S. Patent No. 5,528,287, or the ‘287 patent. The claims of the ‘287 patent are directed to DNA encoding 
BP53 (i.e. IGFBP-3) and recombinant constructs, transformed host cells and methods for using same. Genentech and Tercica claim that the 
production or use of IPLEX, a complex of rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3, will infringe these patents. We moved to dismiss the amended complaint for 
lack of jurisdiction and on other grounds. At a hearing on the motion on April 15, 2005, the court granted our motion and dismissed the case 
with leave for plaintiffs to refile the complaint. A second amended complaint was filed on April 22, 2005 by Genentech and Tercica against us. 
Among other things, this amended complaint added Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, our wholly-owned subsidiary, as a defendant. We moved to 
dismiss the portion of the second amended complaint that relates to the ‘287 patent. On June 29, 2005, the Court denied our motion to dismiss. 
On July 14, 2005, we filed its answer and counterclaims. In the answer and counterclaims, we denied infringement and sought a declaratory 
judgment that the asserted patents are not infringed, are invalid, and/or are unenforceable. The reply to the counterclaims by Genentech and 
Tercica was filed on August 5, 2005. On October 17, 2005, Tercica and Genentech filed a third amended complaint adding Insmed Therapeutic 
Proteins, our wholly-owned subsidiary, as a defendant. The answer and counterclaims in response to the third amended complaint were filed by 
us on October 27, 2005. Briefing on patent claim construction issues and summary judgment motions is set to be completed by May 5, 2006, 
with a claim construction hearing scheduled for May 19, 2006. Discovery is ongoing and a trial date is scheduled for November 2006.  

On May 27, 2005, Genentech and Tercica filed a motion for preliminary injunction seeking an order barring us, until trial, from making, 
using or selling the drug called “SomatoKine,” (now known as IPLEX) with respect  
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•   expend significant resources to redesign our product so that it does not infringe the proprietary rights of others, or to develop or 

acquire non-infringing proprietary rights, which may not be possible and would require additional clinical trials and regulatory 
approvals; 

  
•   redesign our product to avoid infringing on third party proprietary rights, which may result in significant regulatory delays associated 

with conducting additional clinical trials or other steps to obtain regulatory approval; and 

  
•   obtain one or more licenses from third parties for the infringed proprietary rights, which may not be available to us on acceptable 

terms or at all. 
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to its allegations of infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,331,414 and 5,187,151, and requesting that we be required to share any Orphan Drug 
Exclusivity it obtains with Tercica. We filed an opposition to the motion for a Preliminary Injunction on June 10, 2005. On June 16, 2005, 
Genentech and Tercica withdrew their motion for a preliminary injunction, but reserved the right to refile the motion for a preliminary 
injunction.  

We cannot predict with certainty the outcome of proceedings involving Tercica and Genentech. The claim construction ruling and 
summary judgment rulings to be issued by the court could have an adverse impact on our position in this proceeding, including by narrowing or 
limiting our defenses. An adverse ruling after trial on any of the claims alleged would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

We have entered into license agreements, and may enter into future license agreements, with various licensees to develop and market our 
drugs, and we can give no assurances that third parties will not claim that we and/or our licensees, by practicing our technology, are infringing 
on their proprietary rights. If other companies successfully bring legal actions against us or our licensees claiming patent or other intellectual 
property infringements, in addition to any potential liability for damages, a court could require us and/or our licensees to obtain a license in 
order to continue to use the affected processes or to manufacture or use the affected drugs, or alternatively, require us and/or our licensees to 
cease using such drugs or processes. Such a result may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
Any such claim, with or without merit, could result in costly litigation or might require us and/or our licensees to enter into royalty or licensing 
agreements, all of which could delay or otherwise adversely impact the development of our potential drugs candidates for commercial use. If a 
court requires us to obtain licenses, there can be no assurance that we and/or our licensees will be able to obtain them on commercially 
favorable terms, if at all. Without such licenses, we and/or our licensees may be unable to develop certain drugs. Our breach of an existing 
license or our failure to obtain, or our delay in obtaining, a license to any technology that we require to commercialize our drugs may materially 
adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Competition  

We are engaged in an industry that is intensely competitive and characterized by rapid technological progress. For our approved drug, 
IPLEX, and our other drug candidates, we face significant competition from biotechnology, large pharmaceutical and other companies, as well 
as universities and research institutions. Most of these companies and institutions have substantially greater capital resources, research and 
development staffs, facilities and experience in conducting clinical studies and obtaining regulatory approvals. In addition, many of these 
companies have greater experience and expertise than we do in manufacturing and marketing pharmaceutical products.  

We cannot predict the relative competitive position of our drug candidates if they are approved for use. However, we expect that the 
following factors will determine our ability to compete effectively: safety and efficacy, product price, ease of administration, and marketing 
and sales capability.  

Competition for IPLEX  

Currently, we are aware of at least one other company, Tercica, that is selling a drug that competes directly with IPLEX. Tercica received 
approval from the FDA in August 2005 for its twice-daily IGF-1 injection drug, Increlex™, for the long-term treatment of growth failure in 
children with Severe Primary IGFD or with growth hormone gene deletion who have developed neutralizing antibodies to growth hormone. 
This indication is substantially similar to the indication for which the FDA approved IPLEX. It is likely that Tercica is planning to develop 
rhIGF-1 for some of the same indications that we plan to pursue with IPLEX. We are currently engaged in litigation with Tercica related to 
patent infringement, deceptive promotional statements and unfair business practices claims that Tercica has brought against us.  
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We believe that IPLEX has the following positive therapeutic attributes:  
   

   

   

   

Growth hormone may also be a competitive product for the treatment of some indications that we may pursue with IPLEX, such as HIV 
associated adipose redistribution syndrome. The major suppliers of commercially available growth hormone are Genentech, Eli Lilly, Novo 
Nordisk, Pfizer and Serono. We believe that Novo Nordisk may be conducting clinical studies for the use of its growth hormone in pediatric 
IGF-1 deficiency. We are also aware that Serono is seeking regulatory approval for its growth hormone, Serostim™, for the treatment of HIV 
associated adipose redistribution syndrome, and that Theratechnologies is conducting Phase III studies for a growth hormone releasing agonist 
for the treatment of HIV associated adipose redistribution syndrome.  

In addition, we believe that Genentech, Merck, Novo Nordisk and Pfizer have previously conducted research and development of orally-
available small molecules that cause the release of growth hormone, known as growth hormone secretagogues. We are not aware of any 
continued clinical development of these molecules by these companies. We believe that Rejuvenon Corporation may have licensed certain 
rights to Novo Nordisk’s growth hormone secretagogues, which are in preclinical development. We are also aware that Theratechnologies is 
developing various peptides that stimulate the release of hormones that could be used in the treatment of some of the same indications we plan 
to pursue with IPLEX.  

Many companies are seeking to develop products and therapies for the treatment of diabetes. Our competitors include multinational 
pharmaceutical companies, specialized biotechnology firms, and universities and other research institutions. Our largest competitors include 
Amylin Pharmaceuticals, Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Eli Lilly, GlaxoSmithKline, Merck, Novartis, Novo Nordisk and Takeda Chemical 
Industries. Various products are currently available to treat type 2 diabetes, such as injectable insulin, inhalable insulin, GLP-1 analogues and 
oral hypoglycemic drugs.  

Further, several companies are developing various new approaches to improve the treatments of type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Specifically, 
Amylin Pharmaceuticals has conducted and is continuing to conduct clinical studies for three products, Symlin, Byetta, and a long-acting 
release formulation of Byetta, for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Symlin and Byetta were recently approved for use by the FDA. Tercica has 
indicated that it plans to pursue the development of rhIGF-1 in the treatment of severe forms of diabetes.  

Competition for Our Other Drug Candidates  

Many companies are pursuing the development of products for the treatment of cancer. Our competitors include multinational 
pharmaceutical companies, specialized biotechnology firms, and universities and other research institutions. Although we are unaware of any 
companies developing rhIGFBP-3 for cancer, we are aware of companies who are developing products that are intended to target the same 
IGF-1 pathway targeted by INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3. These companies include ImClone, Amgen, OSI Pharmaceuticals, Bristol-Myers Squibb 
and Genentech.  

It is possible that there are other companies with products currently in development or that exist on the market that may compete directly 
with IPLEX, INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3.  

Deceptive Promotional Statements and Unfair Business Practice Litigation  

On December 6, 2005, Tercica filed a complaint against us in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California 
alleging we made deceptive promotional statements and engaged in unfair  
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business practices related to Tercica’s product, Increlex, allegedly in violation of the California Business and Professions Code and the Federal 
Lanham Act. Tercica amended the complaint on December 15, 2005. Tercica is requesting injunctive and monetary relief.  

Although we deny any liability, no assurances can be given as to the outcome of this action. An unfavorable settlement or decision could 
affect our ability to make, use or sell our products, and would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. Any liability resulting from this action may exceed our financial resources. We have requested that the court dismiss the action on a 
number of bases, including that Tercica failed to state a claim under the Federal Lanham Act and the court lacks personal jurisdiction over us. 
We plan to seek attorneys’ fees from Tercica if the case is successfully concluded.  

Government Regulation  

Government authorities in the United States and other countries extensively regulate the research, development, testing, manufacture, 
promotion, marketing and distribution of drug products. If we do not comply with applicable requirements, we may be fined, the government 
may refuse to approve our marketing applications or allow us to manufacture or market our products, and we may be criminally prosecuted.  

We and our third party manufacturers may also be subject to regulations under other federal, state, and local laws, including the 
Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Environmental Protection Act, the Clean Air Act and import, export and customs regulations.  

FDA Approval Process  

The steps ordinarily required before a new drug may be marketed in the United States are similar to steps required in many other 
countries. The process required by the FDA before a new drug may be marketed in the United States generally involves the following: 
completion of preclinical laboratory and animal testing in compliance with FDA regulations, submission of an Investigational New Drug 
Application, or IND, which must become effective before human clinical studies may begin, performance of adequate and well-controlled 
human clinical studies to establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug for its intended use, and submission and approval of a New 
Drug Application, or NDA, by the FDA.  

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry and stability, as well as animal studies to evaluate toxicity before a 
drug is administered to human subjects. The results of preclinical testing are submitted to the FDA as part of an IND. The FDA requires a 30-
day waiting period after the submission of each IND before beginning clinical tests in humans. At any time during this 30-day period or at any 
time thereafter, the FDA may order the partial, temporary or permanent discontinuation of a clinical trial or impose other sanctions if the FDA 
believes that the clinical trial is not being conducted in accordance with FDA requirements or presents an unacceptable risk to the clinical trial 
patients. Clinical studies must be conducted in accordance with the FDA’s good clinical practices requirements. The IND process may become 
extremely costly and substantially delay development of our products. Moreover, positive results of preclinical tests will not necessarily 
indicate positive results in clinical studies.  

Clinical studies to support NDA approval are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may overlap. In Phase I 
clinical studies, the product is tested in a small number of patients or healthy volunteers, primarily for safety at one or more doses and to assess 
pharmacokinetics. In Phase II clinical studies, in addition to safety, the sponsor evaluates the efficacy of the product on targeted indications, 
identifies possible adverse effects and safety risks in a patient population, and assesses dose tolerance and optimal dose range. If a compound is 
found to be potentially effective and to have an acceptable safety profile in Phase II studies, Phase III studies, also referred to as “pivotal 
studies,” are undertaken. Phase III clinical studies typically involve testing for safety and clinical efficacy in an expanded patient population at 
geographically-dispersed study sites.  
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After completion of the required clinical testing, an NDA is submitted. An NDA contains the results of the preclinical and clinical 
studies, together with, among other things, detailed information on the manufacture and composition of the product and proposed labeling, 
including payment of a user fee. The FDA may request additional information before accepting an NDA for filing, in which case the 
application must be resubmitted with the additional information. During its review of an NDA, the FDA may refer the application to an 
appropriate advisory committee for review, evaluation and recommendation as to whether the application should be approved. The FDA is not 
bound by the recommendation of an advisory committee.  

Under the policies agreed to by the FDA under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or the PDUFA. Once the NDA is accepted for filing 
by the FDA, the FDA has 10 months in which to complete its initial review of a standard NDA and respond to the applicant, and 6 months to 
initially review and respond to a priority NDA. Standard NDA status or priority NDA status are based on several factors identified by the FDA 
including for example, whether the drug product, if approved, would be a significant improvement compared to marketed products in the 
treatment, diagnosis, or prevention of a disease. The review process and the PDUFA goal date may be extended by 3 months if the FDA 
requests, or the NDA sponsor otherwise submits, a major amendment containing additional information or clarification regarding information 
already provided in the submission within the last 3 months of the PDUFA goal date.  

If the FDA’s evaluation of the NDA, and the FDA inspections of the clinical investigators and the facilities are favorable, the FDA may 
issue either an approval letter or an approvable letter. An approvable letter contains the conditions that must be met in order to secure approval 
of the NDA. If and when those conditions have been met to the FDA’s satisfaction, the FDA will issue an approval letter. An approvable letter 
authorizes commercial marketing of the drug for certain approved indications. In addition, an approval letter may contain various post-
marketing commitments or agreements, which are often referred to as Phase IV studies. If the FDA’s evaluation of the NDA submission, 
clinical investigation, or manufacturing facilities is not favorable, the FDA may refuse to approve the NDA and issue a not approvable letter.  

The manufacturers of approved products and their manufacturing facilities are subject to continual review and periodic inspections. 
Because we may contract with third parties for manufacturing of our products, our ability to control compliance with FDA requirements may 
be incomplete. In addition, after any of our drugs are on the market, identification of certain side effects or the occurrence of manufacturing 
problems could cause product recall, withdrawal of approval, reformulation of the drug, additional preclinical testing or clinical studies, or 
labeling changes.  

The FDA’s policies may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory approval 
of our products. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse governmental regulation that might arise from future legislative 
or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad.  

The Hatch-Waxman Act  

The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 or Hatch-Waxman Act amended the Federal Food, Drug, and 
Cosmetic Act. Under the Hatch-Waxman Act, newly-approved drugs and indications may benefit from a statutory period of non-patent 
marketing exclusivity. The Hatch-Waxman Act provides 5-year marketing exclusivity to the first applicant to gain approval of an NDA for a 
new chemical entity, meaning that the FDA has not previously approved any other new drug containing the same active moiety. However, in 
the case of a combination drug containing a new chemical entity and a non-new chemical entity, 5-year exclusivity does not attach to the new 
chemical entity. The Hatch-Waxman Act prohibits the submission of an Abbreviated NDA, or ANDA, for a generic drug, or a Section 505(b)
(2) NDA for another version of such drug during the 5-year exclusive period. However, the submission of an ANDA or Section 505(b)(2) NDA 
containing a paragraph IV certification claiming that a patent listed in the FDA’s Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence 
Evaluations, or Orange Book for the drug is invalid or will not be infringed by the manufacture, use or sale of the new product is permitted 
after four years. The submission of a paragraph IV certification may trigger a 30-month stay of approval of the ANDA or Section 505(b)(2) 
NDA. Protection under  
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Hatch-Waxman will not prevent the submission or approval of another full NDA; however, the applicant would be required to conduct its own 
preclinical and adequate and well-controlled clinical studies to demonstrate safety and effectiveness. The Hatch-Waxman Act also provides 3 
years of marketing exclusivity for the approval of new and supplemental NDAs, for, among other things, new indications, dosage forms, or 
strengths of an existing drug, if new clinical investigations that were conducted or sponsored by the applicant are essential to the approval of 
the application.  

IPLEX is currently protected by 3-year exclusivity, which expires on December 12, 2008. This exclusivity runs concurrently with a 7-
year period of orphan drug exclusivity, which prevents the FDA from approving another marketing application for the same drug for the same 
indication, except in the limited circumstances described below. In addition, the FDA’s Orange Book publication lists two patents covering 
IPLEX to which a generic applicant must certify.  

Orphan Drug Designation and Exclusivity  

Some jurisdictions, including Europe and the United States, may designate drugs for relatively small patient populations as Orphan 
Drugs. The FDA grants Orphan Drug Designation to drugs intended to treat a rare disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 
individuals in the United States, or in cases where more than 200,000 individuals are affected in the United States, for which there is no 
reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making available in the United States will be recovered from sales in the United States. 
In the United States, Orphan Drug Designation must be requested before submitting an application for marketing approval. Orphan Drug 
Designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process. If a product that has 
Orphan Drug Designation subsequently receives FDA approval for the indication for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to 
Orphan Drug Exclusivity, which means the FDA may not approve any other application to market the same drug for the same indication for a 
period of 7 years, except in limited circumstances. After an orphan drug is approved, the FDA can subsequently approve a competitor’s version 
of the same drug for the same indication if the subsequent applicant shows clinical superiority (superior efficacy, safety, or a major contribution 
to patient care) to the approved product with Orphan Drug Exclusivity. Also, competitors may receive approval of different drugs or biologics 
for the indications for which the Orphan Drug has exclusivity.  

IPLEX was approved on December 12, 2005 as an Orphan Drug, and is currently protected by 7-year Orphan Drug Exclusivity for the 
treatment of Severe Primary IGFD. This exclusivity expires on December 12, 2012. This period of exclusivity runs concurrently with the 3-
year period of exclusivity applicable to IPLEX. We have received Orphan Drug Designation for IPLEX for the treatment of extreme insulin 
resistance. We also intend to file for Orphan Drug Designation for other indications that meet the criteria for Orphan Drug Designation. If the 
FDA designates the drug and approves our marketing application, or approves marketing applications under current designations, we will be 
granted seven years of Orphan Drug Exclusivity for the drug for the designated indication. Obtaining FDA approval to market a product with 
Orphan Drug Exclusivity may not provide us with a material commercial advantage.  

Under European Union medicines laws, the criteria for designation as an “orphan medicine” are similar to those in the United States. A 
drug is designated as an Orphan Drug if the sponsor can establish that the drug is intended for a life-threatening or chronically debilitating 
condition affecting no more than five in 10,000 persons in the European Union or that is unlikely to be profitable, and if there is no approved 
satisfactory treatment or if the drug would be a significant benefit to those persons with the condition. Orphan medicines are entitled to ten 
years of market exclusivity, except under certain limited circumstances comparable to U.S. law. During this period of market exclusivity, no 
“similar” product, whether or not supported by full safety and efficacy data, will be approved unless a second applicant can establish that its 
product is safer, more effective or otherwise clinically superior. This period may be reduced to six years if the conditions that originally 
justified Orphan Drug Designation change or the sponsor makes excessive profits. We have been granted Orphan Drug Designation by the 
EMEA for IPLEX in the treatment of growth disturbance due to growth hormone insensitivity syndrome (Laron Syndrome). We have also 
obtained Orphan Drug Designation in the European Union for IPLEX for the treatment of extreme insulin resistance.  
   

19  



Table of Contents  

Other Regulatory Requirements  

We are also subject to a number of post-approval regulatory requirements. If we seek to make certain changes to an approved product, 
such as promoting or labeling a product for a new indication, making certain manufacturing changes or product enhancements or adding 
labeling claims, we will need FDA review and approval before the change can be implemented. While physicians may use products for 
indications that have not been approved by the FDA, we may not label or promote the product for an indication that has not been approved. 
Securing FDA approval for new indications or product enhancements and, in some cases, for manufacturing and labeling claims, is generally a 
time-consuming and expensive process that may require us to conduct clinical studies under the FDA’s IND regulations. Even if such studies 
are conducted, the FDA may not approve any change in a timely fashion, or at all. In addition, adverse experiences associated with use of the 
products must be reported to the FDA, and FDA rules govern how we can label, advertise or otherwise commercialize our products.  

There are current post-marketing safety surveillance requirements that we need to meet to continue to market an approved product. The 
FDA also may, in its discretion, require post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the effects of approved products or place conditions 
on any approvals that could restrict the commercial applications of these products.  

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pharmaceutical products, several other types of state and federal laws have been applied 
to restrict certain marketing practices in the pharmaceutical industry in recent years. These laws include anti-kickback statutes and false claims 
statutes. The federal health care program anti-kickback statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, 
soliciting or receiving remuneration to induce or in return for purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for the purchase, lease or order of any 
health care item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or other federally financed health care programs. This statute has been 
interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and prescribers, purchasers and formulary 
managers on the other. Violations of the anti-kickback statute are punishable by imprisonment, criminal fines, civil monetary penalties and 
exclusion from participation in federal health care programs. Although there are a number of statutory exemptions and regulatory safe harbors 
protecting certain common activities from prosecution or other regulatory sanctions, the exemptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly, and 
practices that involve remuneration intended to induce prescribing, purchases or recommendations may be subject to scrutiny if they do not 
qualify for an exemption or safe harbor.  

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false claim for payment to the 
federal government, or knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false statement to have a false claim paid. Recently, several pharmaceutical 
and other health care companies have been prosecuted under these laws for allegedly inflating drug prices they report to pricing services, which 
in turn are used by the government to set Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement rates, and for allegedly providing free product to customers 
with the expectation that the customers would bill federal programs for the product. In addition, certain marketing practices, including off-label 
promotion, may also violate false claims laws. The majority of states also have statutes or regulations similar to the federal anti-kickback law 
and false claims laws, which apply to items and services reimbursed under Medicaid and other state programs, or, in several states, apply 
regardless of the payor.  

In addition, we and our manufacturers are subject to requirements that drugs be manufactured, packaged and labeled in conformity with 
current good manufacturing practice, or cGMP. To comply with cGMP requirements, manufacturers must continue to spend time, money and 
effort to meet requirements relating to personnel, facilities, equipment, production and process, labeling and packaging, quality control, record-
keeping and other requirements. The FDA periodically inspects drug manufacturing facilities to evaluate compliance with cGMP requirements. 

Also, as part of the sales and marketing process, pharmaceutical companies frequently provide samples of approved drugs to physicians. 
This practice is regulated by the FDA and other governmental authorities, including, in particular, requirements concerning record-keeping and 
control procedures.  
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Outside the United States, our ability to market our products will also depend on receiving marketing authorizations from the appropriate 
regulatory authorities. The requirements governing the conduct of clinical studies and marketing authorization vary widely from country to 
country. The foreign regulatory approval process includes risks similar to those associated with FDA approval as described above.  

Employees  

At December 31, 2005, we had 85 employees, including 17 in research and development, 23 in regulatory, clinical and quality assurance, 
28 in manufacturing and 17 in finance and administration. In connection with the commercial launch of IPLEX and to create a sufficient sales 
and marketing capability for the commercialization of other drug and other indications, once approved, we expect to hire approximately 40 
additional employees in our Sales and Marketing department by December 31, 2006. We also expect to hire approximately 40 additional 
employees for manufacturing operations in Boulder, Colorado.  

Our continued success will depend in large measure on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled employees who are in great demand. 
None of our employees are represented by a labor union, and we believe that our relations with the employees are generally good.  

Facilities  

Our Headquarters is located in Glen Allen, Virginia where we occupy approximately 46,000 square feet of space for corporate and 
development activities under a lease expiring in October 2006.  

Our manufacturing facility is located in Boulder, Colorado where we occupy approximately 25,000 square feet dedicated to cGMP 
production of commercial and clinical drug and quality control and 26,000 square feet of space in two adjacent facilities for additional 
laboratory and research and development operations, administrative functions, and cGMP warehouse and dispensing operations. Our lease for 
the Boulder facility dedicated to cGMP manufacturing expires in February 2008 but may be renewed annually for up to an additional 5 years.  
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Risk Factors Relating to Our Business  

You should consider carefully the following risk factors, together with all of the other information included in this prospectus supplement 
or incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement. Each of these risk factors could adversely affect our business, operating results 
and financial condition, as well as adversely affect the value of an investment in our common stock.  

Since we have a limited operating history, a history of operating losses and an expectation that we will generate operating losses for the 
foreseeable future, we may not achieve profitability for some time, if at all.  

Until recently, we have been focused solely on drug development and currently have no commercial sales. We have incurred losses each 
year of operation and we expect to continue incurring operating losses for the foreseeable future. The process of developing our products 
requires significant preclinical testing and clinical studies as well as regulatory approvals for commercialization and marketing before we can 
begin to generate any revenue from product sales. In addition, commercialization of our drug candidates will require us to establish a sales and 
marketing organization and contractual relationships to enable product manufacturing, distribution and other related activities. We expect that 
these activities, together with our general and administrative expenses, will result in substantial operating losses for the foreseeable future. As 
of December 31, 2005, our accumulated deficit was $254.7 million. For the year ended December 31, 2005 our consolidated net loss was $40.9 
million.  

We have only one drug that has been approved for commercial sale by the FDA, IPLEX™, and we are in the earlier stages of researching 
and developing two other drug candidates, INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3. Until we have had an opportunity to establish IPLEX as a commercially 
viable product or complete the development and commercialization of our other drug candidates, we cannot predict our future revenue with any 
degree of certainty.  

For these and other reasons, our independent registered public accounting firm believes that there is substantial doubt that we will be able 
to continue as a going concern. If we do not continue as a going concern our investors will likely lose all of their investments.  

Third-party claims that our products infringe on th eir proprietary rights may materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

Third parties have claimed that we are infringing or have misappropriated their proprietary rights and we can give no assurances that 
other third parties will not claim that we and our licensees who develop and distribute our products, are infringing their proprietary rights. It is 
difficult to predict with any certainty the outcome of any legal proceeding. If third parties successfully bring legal action against us or our 
licensees claiming patent or other intellectual property infringement, in addition to any potential liability for damages, including compensatory 
damages and treble damages, a court could require us and/or our licensees to cease using any infringing processes or manufacturing and selling 
any infringing products. Such a result would likely have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
Any such claim, with or without merit, could result in costly litigation, require us to pay significant settlement amounts or require us and/or our 
licensees to enter into royalty or licensing agreements, all of which could delay or otherwise adversely impact the development of our potential 
products for commercial use. If a court determines that we may not manufacture or sell our products or use our processes without having 
obtained licenses, there can be no assurance that we and/or our licensees will be able to obtain them on commercially favorable terms, if at all. 
Without such licenses, we and/or our licensees may be unable to develop certain products. Our breach of an existing license or our failure to 
obtain, or our delay in obtaining, a license to any technology that we require to commercialize our products may materially adversely impact 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

With respect to any infringement claim asserted by a third party, we can give no assurances that we will be successful in the litigation or 
that such litigation would not have a material adverse effect on our business,  
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financial condition and results of operation. In the event of a successful claim against us for infringement or misappropriation of a third party’s 
proprietary rights, we may be required to:  
   

   

   

   

   

In this regard, we note that on December 20, 2004, Tercica, Inc. and Genentech, Inc. filed a complaint against Avecia Limited and us in 
the United Kingdom at the High Court of Justice, Chancery Division, Patents Court alleging infringement of EP patent No. 571,417, or the 
‘417 patent. The ‘417 patent has claims directed to particular uses of a combination of IGFBP-3 and IGF-1. In the complaint, Tercica asked the 
court for an injunction to restrain allegedly infringing activity, for a declaration that the ‘417 patent is valid and infringed, for an order 
requiring the delivery or destruction of allegedly infringing articles and materials and for an inquiry into possible economic damages. In May 
2005, we filed for summary judgment to dismiss the complaint. The motion for summary judgment was denied. A trial date in this litigation 
has not been set.  

In addition, on December 23, 2004, Genentech and Tercica sued us for infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,187,151 and 6,331,414 in the 
United States District Court for the Northern District of California. These patents are directed to certain methods of using rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 
and methods of producing rhIGF-1, respectively. On February 16, 2005, Tercica filed an amended complaint, adding an infringement allegation 
against us with respect to U.S. Patent No. 5,528,287, or the ‘287 patent. The claims of the ‘287 patent are directed to DNA encoding BP53 (i.e. 
IGFBP-3) and recombinant constructs, transformed host cells and methods for using the same. Genentech and Tercica claim that the production 
or use of IPLEX, a complex of rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3, will infringe these patents. We moved to dismiss the amended complaint for lack of 
jurisdiction and on other grounds. At a hearing on the motion on April 15, 2005, the court granted our motion and dismissed the case with leave 
for plaintiffs to refile the complaint. A second amended complaint was filed on April 22, 2005 by Genentech and Tercica against us that, 
among other things added Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, our wholly-owned subsidiary, as a defendant. We moved to dismiss the portion of the 
second amended complaint that relates to the ‘287 patent. On June 29, 2005, the Court denied our motion to dismiss. On July 14, 2005, we filed 
our answer and counterclaims, in which we denied infringement and sought a declaratory judgment that the asserted patents are not infringed, 
are invalid, and/or are unenforceable. The reply to the counterclaims by Genentech and Tercica was filed on August 5, 2005. On October 17, 
2005, Tercica and Genentech filed a third amended complaint adding Insmed Therapeutic Proteins, our wholly-owned subsidiary, as a 
defendant. The answer and counterclaims in response to the third amended complaint were filed by us on October 27, 2005. Briefing on patent 
claim construction issues and summary judgment motions is set to be completed by May 5, 2006, with a claim construction hearing scheduled 
for May 19, 2006. Discovery is ongoing and a trial date is scheduled for November 2006.  

On May 27, 2005, Genentech and Tercica filed a motion for preliminary injunction seeking an order barring us, until trial, from making, 
using or selling the drug called “SomatoKine,” (now known as IPLEX) with respect to its allegations of infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 
6,331,414 and 5,187,151, and requesting that we be required to share any Orphan Drug Exclusivity it obtains with Tercica. We filed an 
opposition to the motion for a Preliminary Injunction on June 10, 2005. On June 16, 2005, Genentech and Tercica withdrew their motion for a 
preliminary injunction, but reserved the right to refile the motion for a preliminary injunction. We cannot predict whether Genentech and 
Tercica will seek a preliminary injunction at another time.  
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  •   pay damages, including up to treble damages, and the other party’s attorneys’  fees, which may be substantial; 

  •   cease the development, manufacture, marketing and sale of products or use of processes that infringe the proprietary rights of others; 

  
•   expend significant resources to redesign our products or our processes so that they do not infringe the proprietary rights of others, 

which may not be possible; 

  
•   redesign our products or processes to avoid third party proprietary rights, we may suffer significant regulatory delays associated with 

conducting additional clinical trials or other steps to obtain regulatory approval; and 

  
•   obtain one or more licenses arising out of a settlement of litigation or otherwise from third parties for the infringed proprietary rights, 

which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. 
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We cannot predict with certainty the outcome of proceedings involving Tercica and Genentech. The claim construction ruling and 
summary judgment rulings to be issued by the court, which could occur in the next few months, could have an adverse impact on our position 
in this proceeding, including by narrowing or limiting our defenses. An adverse ruling after trial on any of the claims alleged would have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and would lead to some or all of the consequences 
described above, such as damages and the requirement that we cease manufacture and sale of IPLEX unless we can obtain a license or develop 
or acquire alternative products or processes that do not infringe the patents, which may not be available on commercially favorable terms, if at 
all. Further, we may have an obligation to indemnify distributors if IPLEX and other third parties. In addition, if such adverse ruling requires us 
to cease the manufacture and sale of IPLEX and we are unable to raise the capital that would be necessary to conduct the clinical trials 
necessary to obtain regulatory approval of our other product candidates, we could be forced to curtail our development programs and possibly 
to cease operations altogether.  

These proceedings have required a substantial diversion of financial and personnel resources from operations. Further, defending any 
future patent infringement claims will also require that we divert financial and personnel resources from operations and may expose us to 
liabilities for costs or other damage awards.  

We face uncertainties related to patents and proprietary technology that may materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

Our success will depend in part on our ability to:  
   

   

   

Our patent positions are highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions, and any future patents we receive for our 
potential products will be subject to this uncertainty, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We 
intend to actively pursue patent protection for products resulting from our research and development activities that have significant potential 
commercial value. Nevertheless, due to the inherent uncertainty of the patent process, it is possible that, in the patent application process, 
certain claims may be rejected or achieve such limited allowance that the value of the patents would be diminished. Further, there can be no 
assurance that any patents obtained will afford us adequate protection. In addition, any patents we procure may require cooperation with 
companies holding related patents. We may have difficulty forming a successful relationship with these other companies.  

Third parties have claimed that we are infringing or have misappropriated their proprietary rights. We can give no assurance that other 
third parties will not make similar claims. Various third parties have obtained, and are attempting to obtain, patent protection relating to the 
production and use of our approved product and product candidates. We can give no assurances as to whether any issued patents, or patents that 
may later issue to third parties, would affect our contemplated commercialization of IPLEX or any other product. We can give no assurances 
that such patents can be avoided, invalidated or licensed.  

Furthermore, litigation with any third party, even if the allegations are without merit, would likely be expensive and time-consuming and 
divert management’s attention.  

Any conclusions we may have reached regarding non-infringement and invalidity are based in part on a review of publicly available 
databases and other information. There may be information not available to or otherwise not reviewed by us that might change our conclusions. 
Moreover, as described above, the scope and validity of patent claims are determined based on many facts and circumstances, and in a 
litigation a court may reach a different conclusion on any given patent claim than the conclusions that we have reached.  
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  •   obtain patent protection for our products; 

  •   prevent third parties from infringing our patents; and 

  •   refrain from infringing the patents of others, both domestically and internationally. 
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We note that third parties with significant financial resources, including Genentech, Inc., Novartis and Chiron Corporation hold United 
States and/or foreign patents possibly directed to the composition, production and/or use of rhIGF-1, rhIGFBP-3, IPLEX and/or recombinant 
proteins. We can provide no assurance that any one of these third parties will not assert an infringement action against us that may adversely 
affect our ability to make, use or sell our products.  

We may have to undertake costly litigation to enforce any patents issued or licensed to us or to determine the scope and validity of 
another party’s proprietary rights. We can give no assurances that a court of competent jurisdiction would validate our issued or licensed 
patents. An adverse outcome in litigation or an interference or other proceeding in a court or patent office could result in the invalidation of our 
patents and could otherwise materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

All of our products are currently in, or have just completed, the research and development stage. If we are unable to commercialize 
them it will materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Even if we are successful in developing and obtaining approval for our drug candidates, there are numerous circumstances that could 
prevent the successful commercialization of the products such as:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Our growth strategy includes the commercialization of more than one product. We may not be able to identify and acquire 
complementary products, businesses or technologies and if acquired or licensed, they might not improve our business, financial condition or 
results of operations.  

We currently have limited sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, which may make commercializing our products difficult. If 
we are unable to build sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, it will materially adversely affect our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.  

Now that the FDA has permitted us to commence commercial sales of IPLEX, we must establish capabilities to complete the commercial 
sale, marketing and distribution of IPLEX. These are areas in which we  
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•   the regulatory approvals of our products are delayed or we are required to conduct further research and development of our products 

prior to receiving regulatory approval; 

  •   we are unable to build a sales and marketing group to successfully launch and sell our products; 

  
•   we are unable to raise the additional funds needed to successfully develop and commercialize our products or acquire additional 

products for growth; 

  •   we are required to allocate available funds to litigation matters; 

  
•   we are unable to manufacture the quantity of product needed in accordance with current good manufacturing practices to meet market 

demand, or at all; 

  
•   our product is determined to be ineffective or unsafe following approval and is removed from the market or we are required to 

perform additional research and development to further prove the safety and effectiveness of the product before re-entry into the 
market; 

  •   competition from other products or technologies prevents or reduces market acceptance of our products; 

  
•   we do not have and cannot obtain the intellectual property rights needed to manufacture or market our products without infringing on 

another company’s patents; 

  •   we are unsuccessful in defending against patent infringement claims being brought against us our products or technologies; or 

  
•   we are unable to obtain reimbursement for our product or such reimbursement may be less than is necessary to produce a reasonable 

profit. 
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have no experience. To market IPLEX or any of our products directly, we must develop a marketing and sales force with technical expertise 
and with supporting distribution capability. We may engage a pharmaceutical company with a large distribution system and a large direct sales 
force to assist us in marketing IPLEX outside the United States or in marketing any of our other products. There can be no assurance that we 
will successfully establish sales and distribution capabilities or establish third-party sales and distribution arrangements on satisfactory terms, 
or at all. To the extent we enter into co-promotion, licensing, third-party sales or distribution agreements, any revenues we receive will depend 
on the efforts of third parties and there can be no assurance that our efforts will succeed. Failure to successfully sell, market or distribute our 
products once approved will materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

If our products fail to achieve market acceptance for any reason, such failure may materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

There can be no assurance that any of our approved drug and our drug candidates, if approved for marketing, will achieve market 
acceptance. If our drugs and drug candidates, once approved, do not receive market acceptance for any reason, it will adversely affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. The degree of market acceptance of any drugs we develop will depend on a number of 
factors, including:  
   

   

   

   

For example, even after we obtain regulatory approval to sell our products, physicians and healthcare payers could conclude that our 
products are not safe and effective and physicians could choose not to use them to treat patients. Our competitors may also develop new 
technologies or products which are more effective or less costly, or that seem more cost-effective than our products.  

In addition, legislation and regulations affecting the pricing of pharmaceuticals may change in ways adverse to us. While we cannot 
predict the likelihood of any such legislative or regulatory proposals, if the government or an agency adopts such proposals, they could 
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

If there are fewer children with Severe Primary IGFD than we estimate, we may not generate sufficient revenues to continue 
development of other products or to continue operations, or we may not be able to complete our clinical studies.  

We estimate that the number of children in the United States with Severe Primary IGFD is approximately 6,000. Our estimate of the size 
of the patient population is based on our interpretation of published studies. If our interpretation and extrapolation of data from these published 
studies do not accurately reflect the number of children with Severe Primary IGFD, our assessment of the market may be incorrect and we may 
not achieve sufficient revenue to continue operations.  

Reimbursement policies and changes in the health care system may adversely affect the sale of our current and future products or our 
ability to obtain an adequate level of reimbursement or acceptable prices for our current and future products.  

Our ability to earn sufficient returns on IPLEX or our other products, if and when such products are approved and ready for marketing, 
will depend in part on the extent to which reimbursement for our products and  
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  •   the establishment and demonstration in the medical community of the clinical efficacy and safety of our drugs; 

  •   their potential advantage over existing and future treatment methods; 

  •   their price; and 

  •   reimbursement policies of government and third-party payers, including hospitals and insurance companies. 
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related treatments will be available from government health administration authorities, private health coverage insurers, managed care 
organizations and other third-party payers. If we fail to obtain appropriate reimbursement, it could prevent us from successfully 
commercializing our future products.  

There have been and continue to be efforts by governmental and third-party payers to contain or reduce the costs of health care through 
various means, including limiting coverage and the level of reimbursement. We expect that there will continue to be a number of legislative 
proposals to implement government controls and other reforms to limit coverage and reimbursement. The announcement of these proposals or 
reforms could impair our ability to raise capital. The adoption of these proposals or reforms could impair our operations and financial 
condition.  

Additionally, third-party payers, including Medicare, are increasingly challenging the price of medical products and services and are 
limiting the reimbursement levels offered to consumers for these medical products and services. If purchasers or users of our future products 
are not able to obtain adequate reimbursement from third-party payers for the cost of using these products, they may forego or reduce their use. 
Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved health care products and whether adequate third-party coverage 
will be available.  

We cannot provide any assurance that third-party payers will provide adequate reimbursement, if any, for IPLEX.  
   

We cannot be certain that we will obtain additional regulatory approvals in the United States and Europe. The failure to obtain such 
approvals may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We are required to obtain various regulatory approvals prior to studying our drug products in humans and then again before we market 
and distribute our products. The regulatory review and approval process required to perform a clinical study in both the United States and 
Europe includes evaluation of preclinical studies and clinical studies, as well as the evaluation of our manufacturing process and is complex, 
lengthy, expensive, resource intensive and uncertain. Securing regulatory approval to market our products also requires the submission of 
extensive preclinical and clinical data, manufacturing information regarding the process and facility, scientific data characterizing our product 
and other supporting data to the regulatory authorities in order to establish its safety and effectiveness. This process is also complex, lengthy, 
expensive, resource intensive and uncertain. We have limited experience in filing and pursuing applications necessary to gain these regulatory 
approvals.  

Data submitted to the regulators is subject to varying interpretations that could delay, limit or prevent regulatory agency approval. We 
may also encounter delays or rejections based on changes in regulatory agency policies during the period in which we develop a drug and/or 
the period required for review of any application for regulatory agency approval of a particular product. Delays in obtaining regulatory agency 
approvals could adversely affect the marketing of any drugs that our collaborative partners or we develop. Such delays could impose costly 
procedures on our collaborative partners’ or our activities, diminish any competitive advantages that our collaborative partners or we may attain 
and adversely affect our ability to receive royalties, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 
of operations.  

We are currently conducting a Phase III clinical trial of IPLEX in patients with Severe Primary IGFD and plan to include the data in a 
MAA submission to the EMEA. We must receive approval of these applications before we can market IPLEX in certain countries outside of 
the United States.  

As part of our normal development we continue to increase our scale of production and refine our manufacturing process. Because of 
these changes we are required to perform various comparability analyses to demonstrate that the drug product used in our previous 
development studies and for commercialization is essentially the same as the new drug product produced. We have had several discussions 
with the FDA and intend to have discussions with foreign regulatory agencies regarding our Phase III clinical study and this comparability 
analysis. We believe we understand what is required to satisfy the EMEA. We plan to submit this  
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data to the appropriate regulatory authorities as part of the regulatory process. If we do not properly understand what is required to satisfy 
regulatory authorities or if we are unable to produce comparable drug product or meet the regulatory requirements of comparability it will 
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the approval of our drug candidates and may either refuse to accept our applications, 
or may decide after review of our applications that our data is insufficient to allow approval of IPLEX. If the EMEA does not accept or approve 
our application, it may require that we conduct additional clinical, preclinical or manufacturing studies and submit that data before it will 
reconsider our application. This could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Even if the FDA or the EMEA grants approval for a drug, such approval may limit the indicated uses for which we may market the drug, 
and this could limit the potential market for such drug. Furthermore, if we obtain approval for any of our products, the marketing and 
manufacture of such products remain subject to extensive regulatory requirements. Further, any such approval would be subject to continual 
review, and later discovery of unknown problems could restrict the products’ future use or cause their withdrawal from the market. Failure to 
comply with regulatory requirements could, among other things, result in fines, suspension of regulatory approvals, operating restrictions and 
criminal prosecution. In addition, many countries require regulatory agency approval of pricing and may also require approval for the 
marketing in such countries of any drug that our collaborative partners or we develop.  

If the results of our Phase III clinical trial for IPLEX do not continue to support the approval of IPLEX or if we cannot produce 
comparable drug product, have not correctly understood the regulatory requirements associated with comparability of drug products or for 
various other reasons cannot satisfy ongoing regulatory requirements, we may not receive FDA and/or EMEA approvals or such approvals may 
be substantially delayed or withdrawn. Any of these events might prevent us from selling IPLEX in its approved indication or from expanding 
the market for IPLEX, either of which would materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Even if we obtain approval for our products in the United States or the European Union, we cannot be certain that we will obtain any 
regulatory approvals in other countries. The failure to obtain such approvals may materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

In order to market our products outside of the United States and European Union territories, our corporate partners and we must comply 
with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries. The approval procedures vary among countries and can involve 
additional product testing and administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval in these other territories might differ from 
that required to obtain FDA or EMEA approval. The regulatory approval process in these other territories includes at least all of the risks 
associated with obtaining FDA and EMEA approval detailed above. Approval by the FDA or the EMEA does not ensure approval by the 
regulatory authorities of other countries. The failure to obtain such approvals may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.  

We are currently a defendant in a civil action in which we are accused of deceptive promotional statements and unfair business 
practices. An unfavorable settlement or judgment in this action could harm our business and financial condition.  

On December 6, 2005, Tercica filed a complaint against us in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California 
alleging we made deceptive promotional statements and engaged in unfair business practices related to Tercica’s drug, Increlex, in violation of 
the California Business and Professions Code and the Federal Lanham Act. Tercica amended the complaint on December 15, 2005. Tercica is 
requesting injunctive and monetary relief.  
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Although we deny any liability, no assurances can be given as to the outcome of this action. An unfavorable settlement or decision could 
affect our ability to make, use or sell our products, and would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. Any liability resulting from this action may exceed our financial resources. The parties have not initiated discovery in this action 
and no trial date has been set.  

An inability to compete successfully will materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We engage in a business characterized by extensive research efforts, rapid developments and intense competition. We cannot assure that 
our products will compete successfully or that research and development by others will not render our products obsolete or uneconomical. Our 
failure to compete effectively would materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We expect that 
successful competition will depend, among other things, on product efficacy, safety, reliability, availability, timing and scope of regulatory 
approval and price. Specifically, we expect crucial factors will include the relative speed with which we can develop products, complete the 
clinical testing and regulatory approval processes and supply commercial quantities of the product to the market. We expect competition to 
increase as technological advances are made and commercial applications broaden. In each of our potential product areas, we face substantial 
competition from large pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other companies, as well as universities and research institutions. Relative to us, 
most of these entities have substantially greater capital resources, research and development staffs, facilities and experience in conducting 
clinical studies and obtaining regulatory approvals, as well as in manufacturing and marketing pharmaceutical products. Many of our 
competitors may achieve product commercialization or patent protection earlier than we will. Furthermore, we believe that our competitors 
have used, and may continue to use, litigation to gain a competitive advantage. Finally, our competitors may use different technologies or 
approaches to the development of products similar to the products we are seeking to develop.  

Currently, we are aware of at least one other company, Tercica, that has received approval from the FDA for a rhIGF-1 product for an 
indication very similar to the indication for which IPLEX has been approved. Tercica’s product was approved for the long term treatment of 
growth failure in children with severe primary IGF-1 deficiency or with growth hormone gene deletion who have developed neutralizing 
antibodies to growth hormone. We believe this indication would include patients with Severe Primary IGFD. Because there are already patients 
using Tercica’s product, the market opportunity for IPLEX may be diminished if doctors who are already prescribing Tercica’s product to their 
patients are unwilling to switch their patients to a different drug. We believe Tercica may also be planning to develop rhIGF-1 for some of the 
same indications that we plan to pursue with IPLEX.  

Growth hormone may also be a competitive product for the treatment of some indications that we may pursue with IPLEX such as HIV 
associated adipose redistribution syndrome. The major suppliers of commercially available growth hormone are Genentech, Eli Lilly, Novo 
Nordisk, Pfizer and Serono. We believe that Novo Nordisk may be conducting clinical studies for the use of its growth hormone in pediatric 
IGF-1 deficiency. We are also aware that Serono is seeking regulatory approval for their growth hormone, Serostim™, for the treatment of HIV 
associated adipose redistribution syndrome, and that Theratechnologies is conducting Phase III studies for a growth hormone releasing agonist 
for the treatment of HIV associated adipose redistribution syndrome.  

In addition, we believe that Genentech, Merck, Novo Nordisk and Pfizer have previously conducted research and development of orally-
available small molecules that cause the release of growth hormone, known as growth hormone secretagogues. We are not aware of any 
continued clinical development of these molecules by these companies. We believe that Rejuvenon Corporation may have licensed certain 
rights to Novo Nordisk’s growth hormone secretagogues, which are in preclinical development. We are also aware that Theratechnologies is 
developing various peptides that stimulate the release of hormones that could be used in the treatment of some of the same indications we plan 
to pursue with IPLEX.  
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Many companies are pursuing the development of products for the treatment of cancer. Our competitors include multinational 
pharmaceutical companies, specialized biotechnology firms, and universities and other research institutions. Although we are unaware of any 
companies developing rhIGFBP-3 for cancer, we are aware of companies that are developing products that are intended to target the same IGF-
1 pathway as rhIGFBP-3. These companies include ImClone, Amgen, OSI Pharmaceuticals, Bristol-Myers Squibb and Genentech.  

Biotechnology and related pharmaceutical technology have undergone and should continue to experience rapid and significant change. 
We expect that the technologies associated with biotechnology research and development will continue to develop rapidly. Our future success 
will depend in large part on our ability to maintain a competitive position with respect to these technologies. Any compounds, products or 
processes that we develop may become obsolete before we recover any expenses incurred in connection with their development. Rapid 
technological change could make our products obsolete, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.  

Our inability to compete in our industry could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Competitors could develop and gain FDA approval of products containing rhIGF-1, which could adversely affect our competitive 
position in all indications where we are currently developing IPLEX.  

rhIGF-1 manufactured by other parties may be approved for use in other indications in the United States in the future, including myotonic 
muscular dystrophy, HIV associated adipose redistribution syndrome and severe insulin resistance. In the event there are other rhIGF-1 
products approved by the FDA to treat indications other than those covered by IPLEX, physicians may elect to prescribe a competitor’s product 
containing rhIGF-1 to treat the indications for which IPLEX has received and may receive approval. This is commonly referred to as off-label 
use. While under FDA regulations a competitor is not allowed to promote off-label use of its product, the FDA does not regulate the practice of 
medicine and as a result cannot direct physicians as to what product containing rhIGF-1 to prescribe to their patients. As a result, we would 
have limited ability to prevent off-label use of a competitor’s product containing rhIGF-1 to treat any diseases for which we have received FDA 
approval even if it violates our patents and/or we have orphan drug exclusivity for the use of rhIGF-1 to treat such diseases.  

If another party obtains Orphan Drug Exclusivity for a product that is essentially the same as a product we are developing in a 
particular indication, we may be precluded or delayed from commercializing the product in that indication. This may materially 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant Orphan Drug Designation to drugs intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is 
generally a disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States. The company that obtains the first marketing 
approval from the FDA for a designated orphan drug for a rare disease receives marketing exclusivity for use of that drug for the designated 
condition for a period of seven years. Similar laws exist in Europe. If a competitor obtains approval of the same drug for the same indication or 
disease before us, we would be blocked from obtaining approval for our product for seven or more years, unless our product can be shown to 
be clinically superior. In addition, more than one drug may be approved by the FDA for the same orphan indication or disease as long as the 
drugs are different drugs. As a result, even if our product is approved and receives Orphan Drug Exclusivity, as in the case of our drug IPLEX, 
the FDA can still approve different drugs for use in treating the same indication or disease covered by our product, which could create a more 
competitive market for us. For example, the FDA approved Tercica’s drug, Increlex™, for the treatment of Severe Primary IGFD and granted 
Tercica’s product Orphan Drug Exclusivity. Therefore, Tercica’s product will compete with IPLEX for the treatment of Severe Primary IGFD 
when IPLEX is launched commercially and the value of IPLEX’s Orphan Drug Status in this indication will be limited.  
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Confidentiality agreements with employees and others may not adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary 
information. Disclosure of this information may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

In order to protect our proprietary technology and processes, we rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our corporate partners, 
employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators and sponsored researchers and other advisors. These agreements may not effectively 
prevent disclosure of confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential 
information. In addition, others may independently discover trade secrets and proprietary information. Costly and time-consuming litigation 
could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could 
adversely affect our competitive business position.  

We may not be able to manufacture quantities of IPLEX sufficient to meet market demand, or manufacturing capacity necessary to 
supply IPLEX, rhIGFBP-3 or INSM-18 for use in clini cal studies may not be available, which may adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. If we are unable to find sufficient manufacturing capacity or successfully implement our 
own manufacturing capabilities, it could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Failure to successfully manufacture our products could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. We intend to manufacture IPLEX and rhIGFBP-3 bulk drug substance and perform the majority of analytical testing at our 
manufacturing facility in Boulder, Colorado and utilize contract manufacturers for sterile filtering, filling, finishing, labeling and some 
analytical testing. We intend to manufacture INSM-18 with contract manufacturers.  

In order to meet anticipated commercial and clinical demand for IPLEX and clinical demand for rhIGFBP-3, we plan to implement 
stepwise changes to our Boulder, Colorado manufacturing facility and manufacturing process beginning this year. We must submit to the FDA 
information and data pertaining to these changes and the FDA must approve these changes before we will be allowed to use IPLEX or 
rhIGFBP-3 that is manufactured following implementation of these changes.  

There can be no assurance that we will be successful in implementing changes to our manufacturing facility or process for making IPLEX 
and rhIGFBP-3 or that the FDA will review and approve these changes in a timely manner or at all or that contract manufacturers will have the 
capacity to produce and test our products. If we are unable to implement the required changes to our manufacturing facility and process or there 
is a delay in the implementation and approval of these changes, we will be limited to our current manufacturing capacity and would not be able 
to meet the market or clinical demand which would adversely affect the development and commercialization of IPLEX and rhIGFBP-3. If our 
contract manufacturers are unable to meet our sterile filtering, filling, finishing, labeling and analytical testing needs, in a way that meets our 
time and cost parameters, our commercialization of IPLEX and the development and timing of our preclinical and clinical studies may be 
adversely affected.  

In addition, there can be no assurance that an adverse regulatory inspection at our manufacturing facility or contract manufacturer would 
not impede our commercial supply capability. We have chosen to commercialize IPLEX on our own and this is time consuming, resource 
intensive and capital intensive. If our facilities and contract manufacturers cannot produce and test our products according to current good 
manufacturing practices, or cGMP, and pass a cGMP inspection, we may be unable to develop and commercialize our products. This would 
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

The available capacity for the manufacture and testing of recombinant proteins that comprise IPLEX is limited. A shutdown or disruption 
at our manufacturing facility due to technical, regulatory or other problems, resulting in an interruption in supply of these materials, could delay 
our development activities and adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
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Our manufacturing facility and contract manufacturers must undergo inspections by the FDA and/or the EMEA for compliance with 
cGMP regulations. In the event these facilities do not continue to receive satisfactory cGMP inspections for the manufacture and testing of our 
products, we may need to fund additional modifications to our manufacturing or testing processes, conduct additional validation studies, or find 
alternative manufacturing and testing facilities, any of which would result in significant cost to us as well as a significant delay of up to several 
years in obtaining additional approvals for IPLEX or continuation of the development of our products. In addition, our manufacturing facility 
and any contract manufacturer we may utilize will be subject to ongoing periodic inspection by the FDA, the EMEA and other foreign agencies 
for compliance with cGMP regulations and similar foreign standards. We have limited control over contract manufacturers’ compliance with 
these regulations and standards.  

Product for our clinical studies is currently made at our manufacturing facility and then sent to contract manufacturers for sterile 
filtration, filling into vials and some analytical testing. Should our manufacturing facility or our contract manufacturers become unavailable to 
us for any reason, including damage from any event, including fire, flood, earthquake or terrorism, we may be unable to complete manufacture 
of IPLEX or validation of the manufacturing process for IPLEX. This could delay the sale and marketing of IPLEX, our clinical studies and the 
approval of our MAA, which would delay or otherwise adversely affect revenues. If the damage to any of these facilities is extensive or if our 
contract manufacturer is unwilling or unable to perform under our agreements, we will need to find alternative facilities. The number of 
contract manufacturers with the expertise and facilities to manufacture IPLEX bulk drug substance on a commercial scale in accordance with 
cGMP regulations is extremely limited and it would take a significant amount of time and resources to arrange for alternative manufacturers. If 
we need to change to other contract manufacturers, we would also need to transfer to these new manufacturers and validate the processes and 
analytical methods necessary for the production and testing of IPLEX. Any of these factors could lead to (1) the delay or suspension of our 
clinical studies, regulatory submissions, regulatory approvals or commercialization of IPLEX, or (2) higher costs of production, or (3) our 
failure to effectively commercialize IPLEX or our other drug candidates.  

Furthermore, if our manufacturing facility or our contract manufacturers fail to deliver sufficient quantities of bulk drug substance or 
finished product on a timely basis and at commercially reasonable prices, and we are unable to promptly find one or more replacement 
manufacturers capable of production at a substantially equivalent cost, in substantially equivalent volume and on a timely basis, we will likely 
be unable to meet demand for IPLEX and we would lose potential revenues.  

We need collaborative relationships to be successful. If we are unable to form these relationships it could materially adversely impact 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We currently rely and may in the future rely on a number of significant collaborative relationships for intellectual property rights, 
research funding, manufacturing, analytical services, preclinical development, clinical development and/or sales and marketing. For example, 
almost all of our clinical trial work is done in collaboration with academic institutions and we have licensed intellectual property to permit the 
development, manufacture and commercialization of IPLEX and our drug candidates. Reliance on collaborative relationships poses a number 
of risks, including the following:  
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  •   we may not be able to effectively control whether our corporate partners will devote sufficient resources to our programs or product; 

  
•   disputes may arise in the future with respect to the ownership of rights to technology developed with, licensed to or licensed from 

corporate partners; 

  
•   disagreements with corporate partners could result in loss of intellectual property rights, delay or terminate the research, development 

or commercialization of product candidates or result in litigation or arbitration; 

  •   contracts with our corporate partners may fail to provide sufficient protection of our intellectual property; 
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Given these risks, a great deal of uncertainty exists regarding the success of our current and future collaborative efforts. Failure of these 
efforts could delay, impair or prevent the development and commercialization of our products and adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

Our long-term viability and growth depend on the successful development and commercialization of our products. Pharmaceutical 
product development is an expensive, high risk, lengthy, complicated, resource intensive process.  

Our long-term viability and growth depend on the successful development and commercialization of additional products which lead to 
revenue and profits. All of our products other than IPLEX are in the research and development stage. Our products must be successfully 
developed prior to commercialization. Pharmaceutical product development is an expensive, high risk, lengthy, complicated, resource intensive 
process. In order to succeed, among other things, we must be able to:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

The development program with respect to any given product will take many years and thus delay our ability to generate profits. In 
addition, potential products that appear promising at early stages of development may fail for a number of reasons, including the possibility that 
the products may require significant additional testing or turn out to be:  
   

   

   

   

   

In order to conduct the development programs for our potential products we must, among other things, be able to successfully:  
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  •   we may have difficulty enforcing the contracts if one of these partners fails to perform; 

  
•   corporate partners have considerable discretion in electing whether to pursue the development of any additional products and may 

pursue technologies or products either on their own or in collaboration with our competitors; and 

  
•   corporate partners with marketing rights may choose to devote fewer resources to the marketing of our products than they do to 

products of their own development. 

  •   identify potential drug product candidates; 

  •   design and conduct appropriate laboratory, preclinical and other research; 

  •   submit for and receive regulatory approval to perform clinical studies; 

  •   design and conduct appropriate preclinical and clinical studies according to good laboratory and good clinical practices; 

  •   select and recruit clinical investigators; 

  •   select and recruit subjects for our studies; 

  •   collect, analyze and correctly interpret the data from our studies; 

  •   submit for and receive regulatory approvals for marketing; and 

  •   manufacture the drug product candidates according to current good manufacturing practices. 

  •   unsafe; 

  •   not effective; 

  •   too difficult or expensive to develop or manufacture; 

  •   too difficult to administer; or 

  •   unstable. 

  •   raise sufficient money to pay for the development; 
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If our products fail in preclinical or clinical stu dies or if we cannot enroll enough patients to complete our clinical studies, such failure 
may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

In order to sell our products, we must receive regulatory approval. Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any 
of our products under development, we must demonstrate through preclinical studies and clinical studies that the product is safe and effective 
for use in each target indication. In addition, the results from preclinical testing and early clinical studies may not be predictive of results 
obtained in later clinical studies. There can be no assurance that our clinical studies will demonstrate sufficient safety and effectiveness to 
obtain regulatory approvals. A number of companies in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries have suffered significant setbacks in 
late stage clinical studies even after promising results in early stage development. If our products fail in preclinical or clinical studies, it may 
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We are currently conducting a Phase III clinical trial of IPLEX in patients with Severe Primary IGFD and plan to include the data from 
the trial in a Marketing Authorization Application, or MAA, to the European Medicines Agency, or EMEA. We must receive approval of these 
applications before we can market IPLEX in certain countries outside of the United States. We are also planning and conducting clinical studies 
with INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3.  

The completion rate of these and other clinical studies is dependent on, among other factors, the patient enrollment rate. Patient 
enrollment is a function of many factors, including:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

We believe our planned procedures for enrolling patients are appropriate; however, delays in patient enrollment would increase costs and 
delay ultimate commercialization and sales, if any, of our products. Such delays could materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

We may be required to conduct broad, long-term clinical studies to address concerns that the long-term use of IPLEX in broader 
chronic indications might increase the risk of diabetic retinopathy. This may materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

In previously published clinical studies of rhIGF-1, concerns were raised that long-term use of rhIGF-1 might lead to an increased 
incidence and/or severity of retinopathy, a disease of new blood vessel growth in the eye which results in loss of vision. Because our product 
contains rhIGF-1, the FDA may require us to conduct broad, long-term clinical studies to address these concerns prior to receiving FDA 
approval for broad chronic indications such as diabetes. These clinical studies would be expensive and could delay or prevent our 
commercialization of IPLEX for these broader chronic indications. Adverse results from these studies could prevent our commercialization of 
IPLEX for broad chronic indications or could jeopardize existing development and approvals in other indications.  
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  •   attract and retain appropriate personnel; and 

  •   develop relationships with other companies to perform various development activities that we are unable to perform. 

  •   Investigator identification and recruitment; 

  •   regulatory approvals to initiate study sites; 

  •   patient population size; 

  •   the nature of the protocol to be used in the trial; 

  •   patient proximity to clinical sites; 

  •   eligibility criteria for the study; and 

  •   competition from other companies’  clinical studies for the same patient population. 
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We will need additional funds in the future to continue our operations, but we face uncertainties with respect to our access to capital 
that could materially adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We will require substantial future capital in order to execute our business plan. Our future capital requirements will depend on many 
factors, including factors associated with:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

We may also need to spend more money than currently expected because we may change our drug development plans, acquire additional 
drugs or drug candidates or we may misjudge our costs. We have no committed sources of capital and do not know whether additional 
financing will be available when needed, or, if available, that the terms will be favorable. There can be no assurance that our cash reserves 
together with any subsequent funding will satisfy our capital requirements. The failure to satisfy our capital requirements will adversely affect 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. Without additional funding, we do not believe that existing cash reserves, including 
amounts raised in our March 15, 2005 financing, will sufficiently fund our activities through the next twelve months. Our independent 
registered public accounting firm has indicated that there are material uncertainties which cast significant doubt upon our ability to continue as 
a going concern. The addition of this going concern disclosure may discourage investors from purchasing our stock.  

We may seek additional funding through strategic alliances, private or public sales of our securities or licensing all or a portion of our 
technology. Such funding may significantly dilute existing shareholders or may limit our rights to our currently developing technology. There 
can be no assurance, however, that we can obtain additional funding on reasonable terms, or at all. If we cannot obtain adequate funds, we may 
need to significantly curtail our product development programs and/or relinquish rights to our technologies or drug candidates. This may 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We are dependent upon retaining and attracting key personnel and others, the loss of which could materially adversely affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We depend highly on the principal members of our scientific and management staff, the loss of whose services might significantly delay 
or prevent the achievement of research, development or business objectives and would materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. Our success depends, in large part, on our ability to attract and retain qualified management, scientific and 
medical personnel, and on our ability to develop and maintain important relationships with commercial partners, leading research institutions 
and key distributors. A number of factors affect our ability to attract qualified personnel, including our size, our location, our status as a public 
company and our uncertain prospects. We face intense competition for such personnel and relationships. We cannot assure that we will attract 
and retain appropriate persons or maintain such relationships.  
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  •   obtaining marketing, sales and distribution capabilities; 

  •   launching products; 

  •   other activities required for product commercialization; 

  •   litigation; 

  •   manufacturing; 

  •   process development; 

  •   research and development, including, among other items, preclinical testing and clinical studies; 

  •   obtaining regulatory approvals; 

  •   retaining employees and consultants; 

  •   filing and prosecuting patent applications and enforcing patent claims; and 

  •   establishing strategic alliances. 
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We expect that our potential expansion into areas and activities requiring additional expertise, such as further clinical studies, 
governmental approvals, manufacturing, sales, marketing and distribution will place additional requirements on our management, operational 
and financial resources. We expect that these demands will require an increase in management and scientific personnel and the development of 
additional expertise by existing management personnel. The failure to attract and retain such personnel or to develop such expertise could 
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Our research, development and manufacturing activities involve the use of hazardous materials, which could expose us to damages 
that could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Our research, development and manufacturing activities involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, including hazardous chemicals 
and radioactive materials. We believe that our procedures for handling hazardous materials comply with federal and state regulations; however, 
there can be no assurance that accidental injury or contamination from these materials will not occur. We currently maintain a general liability 
insurance policy that has a $1.0 million per claim limit and also caps aggregate claims at $2.0 million. In addition, we have an umbrella 
insurance policy that covers up to $2.0 million of liability in excess of the general liability policy’s $2.0 million limit. In the event of an 
accident, we could be held liable for damages, which would likely exceed our insurance coverage and other available financial resources. This 
liability would limit our ability to commercialize IPLEX and develop other products which would materially adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.  

We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of 
hazardous materials and waste products. These laws and regulations may require us to incur significant costs to comply with environmental 
laws and regulations in the future that could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

We may be subject to product liability claims if our products harm people, and we have only limited product liability insurance.  

The manufacture and sale of human therapeutic products involve an inherent risk of product liability claims and associated adverse 
publicity. We currently have only limited product liability insurance for clinical studies and no commercial product liability insurance. We do 
not know if we will be able to maintain existing or obtain additional product liability insurance on acceptable terms or with adequate coverage 
against potential liabilities. This type of insurance is expensive and may not be available on acceptable terms. If we are unable to obtain or 
maintain sufficient insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims, we may be unable 
to commercialize our products. A successful product liability claim brought against us in excess of our insurance coverage, if any, may require 
us to pay substantial amounts. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

It is illegal for us to promote IPLEX for uses other than those approved by the regulatory authorities. Such off-label promotion, as it is 
known, may result in regulatory actions against us even if such activities by us are inadvertent.  

Physicians may prescribe drugs for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and that differ from those approved by the FDA. 
Such off-label uses are common across medical specialties. Although the FDA does not regulate the practice of medicine, the FDA does restrict 
our communications with respect to off-label use. We cannot promote FDA-approved drugs for off-label uses. A company may engage in 
truthful, non-misleading, and non-promotional speech concerning its products. For example, while we may inform physicians that we are 
conducting a clinical trial to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of IPLEX in unapproved uses and encourage those physicians to refer eligible 
patients to enroll in the clinical trial, we cannot promote the product for unapproved uses. We may also educate physicians about a particular 
disease state and how that disease is properly diagnosed so that patients who qualify for the clinical trial might be identified, and survey 
physicians  
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who are lawfully prescribing our products or competitors’ products for off-label uses to monitor patients’ experiences. We may also, pursuant 
to FDA policies, respond to unsolicited requests from health care professionals and engage in appropriate scientific exchange of information 
about unapproved uses. As we have no sales and marketing experience, we have not engaged in these lawful activities with respect to IPLEX in 
the past. These rules are complex and our sales and marketing employees may not understand the regulations against off-label promotion. We 
do not yet have policies and procedures in place to regulate the lawful promotion of our marketed products within their labeled indications. 
While our employees will be trained to follow specific policies and procedures designed to instruct the lawful promotion of our products and 
must certify that they will abide by them, we cannot guarantee that our employees will follow these policies and procedures. The FDA actively 
enforces regulations prohibiting promotion of off-label uses and the promotion of products for unapproved uses. The FDA’s regulations and 
policies are subject to varying interpretations, which are evolving. We cannot guarantee that we will change our policies as the FDA’s 
regulations and policies change. Failure to comply with these regulations and policies can result in regulatory enforcement action by the FDA 
and other governmental bodies, which would have an adverse effect on our revenues, business and financial prospects.  

Conversion of our outstanding notes and exercise of warrants and options issued by us will significantly dilute the ownership interest 
of existing shareholders.  

As of February 28, 2006, the convertible notes issued by us on March 15, 2005 and the warrants issued by us in March 2005, November 
2004 and July 2003 were convertible into and exercisable for up to approximately 13.2 million shares of our common stock, representing 
approximately 17% of our then outstanding common stock.  

As of February 28, 2006, our outstanding options to our employees, officers, directors and consultants were exercisable for up to 
6.1 million shares of our common stock, representing approximately an additional 8% of our then outstanding common stock.  

The conversion or exercise of some or all of our convertible notes, warrants and options will significantly dilute the ownership interests 
of existing shareholders. Any sales in the public market of the common stock issuable upon such conversion or exercise could adversely affect 
prevailing market prices of our common stock.  

The market price of our stock has been and may continue to be highly volatile, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on 
our common stock in the foreseeable future.  

Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq National Market under the ticker symbol “INSM.” The market price of our stock has been and 
may continue to be highly volatile, and announcements by us or by third parties may have a significant impact on our stock price. These 
announcements may relate to:  
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  •   our listing status on The Nasdaq National Market; 

  •   results of our clinical studies and preclinical studies, or those of our corporate partners or our competitors; 

  •   our operating results; 

  •   developments relating to patent or other litigation in which we are involved; 

  •   developments in our relationships with corporate partners; 

  •   developments affecting our corporate partners; 

  
•   negative regulatory action or regulatory approval with respect to our announcement or our competitors’ announcements of new 

products, 

  •   government regulation, reimbursement changes and governmental investigation or audits related to us or to our products, 

  •   developments related to our patents or other proprietary rights or those of our competitors; 
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In addition, the stock market has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations, which have particularly affected 
the market prices for emerging biotechnology and biopharmaceutical companies, and which have often been unrelated to their operating 
performance. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.  

In the past, when the market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that stock have often instituted securities class action litigation 
against the company that issued the stock. If any of our shareholders brought a lawsuit against us, we could incur substantial costs defending 
the lawsuit. The lawsuit could also divert the time and attention of our management.  

Future sales by existing shareholders may lower the price of our common stock, which could result in losses to our shareholders. Future 
sales of substantial amounts of common stock in the public market, or the possibility of such sales occurring, could adversely affect prevailing 
market prices for our common stock or our future ability to raise capital through an offering of equity securities. Substantially all of our 
common stock is freely tradable in the public market without restriction under the Securities Act, unless these shares are held by “affiliates” of 
our company, as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act.  

We have never paid dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to fund the development 
and growth of our businesses and, therefore, we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.  

Certain provisions of Virginia law, our articles of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, and our Rights Plan make a 
hostile takeover by a third party difficult.  

Certain provisions of Virginia law and our articles of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could hamper a third party’s 
acquisition of, or discourage a third party from attempting to acquire control of us. The conditions could also limit the price that certain 
investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. These provisions include:  
   

   

   

   

   

In addition, in May 2001, our board of directors approved the adoption of a Rights Plan under which shareholders received rights to 
purchase new shares of preferred stock if a person or group acquires 15% or more  
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  •   changes in the position of securities analysts with respect to our stock; and/or 

  •   operating results below the expectations of public market analysts and investors. 

  

•   a provision allowing us to issue preferred stock with rights senior to those of the common stock without any further vote or action by 
the holders of the common stock. The issuance of preferred stock could decrease the amount of earnings and assets available for 
distribution to the holders of common stock or could adversely affect the rights and powers, including voting rights, of the holders of 
the common stock. In certain circumstances, such issuance could have the effect of decreasing the market price of the common stock; 

  
•   the existence of a staggered board of directors in which there are three classes of directors serving staggered three-year terms, thus 

expanding the time required to change the composition of a majority of directors and perhaps discouraging someone from making an 
acquisition proposal for us; 

  •   the amended and restated bylaws’  requirement that shareholders provide advance notice when nominating our directors; 

  
•   the inability of shareholders to convene a shareholders’ meeting without the chairman of the board, the president or a majority of the 

board of directors first calling the meeting; and 

  
•   the application of Virginia law prohibiting us from entering into a business combination with the beneficial owner of 10% or more of 

our outstanding Voting stock for a period of three years after the 10% or greater owner first reached that level of stock ownership, 
unless we meet certain criteria. 
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of our common stock. These provisions are intended to discourage acquisitions of 15% or more of our common stock without negotiations with 
the board. The rights trade with our common stock, unless and until they are separated upon the occurrence of certain future events. Our board 
of directors may redeem the rights at a price of $0.01 per right prior to the time a person acquires 15% or more of our common stock.  

Our common stock may be thinly traded from time to time, which means large transactions in our common stock may be difficult to 
conduct in a short time frame.  

On occasion, we have a low volume of daily trades in our common stock on The Nasdaq National Market. Any large transactions in our 
common stock may be difficult to conduct and may cause significant fluctuations in the price of our common stock.  

Our long term growth strategy may include acquiring complementary businesses or technologies that may not be available or, if 
available and purchased or licensed, might not improve our business, financial condition or results of operations.  

As part of our business strategy, we eventually expect to pursue acquisitions and in-license new products and technologies. Nonetheless, 
we cannot assure you that we will identify suitable acquisitions or products or that we can make such acquisitions or enter into such license 
agreements on acceptable terms. If we acquire businesses, those businesses may require substantial capital, and we cannot provide assurance 
that such capital will be available in sufficient amounts or that financing will be available in amounts and on terms that we deem acceptable. 
Furthermore, the integration of acquired businesses may result in unforeseen difficulties that require a disproportionate amount of 
management’s attention and our other resources. Finally, we cannot provide assurance that we will achieve productive synergies and 
efficiencies from these acquisitions.  
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Our Headquarters is located in Glen Allen, Virginia where we occupy approximately 46,000 square feet of space for corporate and 
development activities under a lease expiring in October 2006. Our annual cash cost for the Virginia space including utilities and services in 
2005 was approximately $1.3 million under an operating lease that contains annual escalations of 1.75% and expires in October 2006.  

Our manufacturing facility is located in Boulder, Colorado where we occupy approximately 25,000 square feet dedicated to cGMP 
production of commercial and clinical drug and quality control and 26,000 square feet of space in two adjacent facilities for additional 
laboratory and research and development operations, administrative functions, and cGMP warehouse and dispensing operations. Our annual 
cash cost for the Colorado manufacturing facility including utilities and services in 2005 was approximately $0.9 million under an operating 
lease that contains an annual escalation of 3% and expires in February 2008.  

We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our current needs and that suitable additional or alternate space will be available on 
commercially reasonable terms when our lease expires or when we need additional space.  

   

Infringement Claims  

We are currently defending infringement claims brought against us. On December 20, 2004, Tercica and Genentech filed a complaint 
against Avecia Limited and us in the United Kingdom at the High Court of Justice, Chancery Division, Patents Court alleging infringement of 
EP patent No. 571,417, or the ‘417 patent. The ‘417 patent has claims directed to particular uses of a combination of IGFBP-3 and IGF-1. In 
the complaint, Tercica asked the court for an injunction to restrain allegedly infringing activity, for a declaration that the ‘417 patent is valid 
and infringed, for an order requiring the delivery or destruction of allegedly infringing articles and materials and for an inquiry into possible 
economic damages. In May 2005, we filed for summary judgment to dismiss the complaint. Our motion for summary judgment was denied and 
a trial date in this litigation has not been set.  

In addition, on December 23, 2004, Genentech and Tercica sued us for infringement of U.S. Patent Nos., 5,187,151 and 6,331,414 in the 
United States District Court for the Northern District of California. These patents are directed to certain methods of using rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 
and methods of producing rhIGF-1, respectively. On February 16, 2005, Tercica filed an amended complaint, adding an infringement allegation 
against us with respect to U.S. Patent No. 5,528,287, or the ‘287 patent. The claims of the ‘287 patent are directed to DNA encoding BP53 (i.e. 
IGFBP-3) and recombinant constructs, transformed host cells and methods for using the same. Genentech and Tercica claim that the production 
or use of IPLEX, a complex of rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3, will infringe these patents. We moved to dismiss the amended complaint for lack of 
jurisdiction and on other grounds. At a hearing on the motion on April 15, 2005, the court granted our motion and dismissed the case with leave 
for plaintiffs to refile the complaint. A second amended complaint was filed on April 22, 2005 by Genentech and Tercica against us that, 
among other things added Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, our wholly-owned subsidiary, as a defendant. We moved to dismiss the portion of the 
second amended complaint that relates to the ‘287 patent. On June 29, 2005, the Court denied our motion to dismiss. On July 14, 2005, we filed 
our answer and counterclaims, in which we denied infringement and sought a declaratory judgment that the asserted patents are not infringed, 
are invalid, and/or are unenforceable. The reply to the counterclaims by Genentech and Tercica was filed on August 5, 2005. On October 17, 
2005, Tercica and Genentech filed a third amended complaint adding Insmed Therapeutic Proteins, our wholly-owned subsidiary, as a 
defendant. The answer and counterclaims in response to the third amended complaint were filed by us on October 27, 2005. Briefing on patent 
claim construction issues and summary judgment motions is set to be completed by May 5, 2006, with a claim construction hearing scheduled 
for May 19, 2006. Discovery is ongoing and a trial date is scheduled for November 2006.  
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On May 27, 2005, Genentech and Tercica filed a motion for preliminary injunction seeking an order barring us, until trial, from making, 
using or selling IPLEX with respect to its allegations of infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,331,414 and 5,187,151, and requesting that we be 
required to share any Orphan Drug Exclusivity it obtains with Tercica. We filed an opposition to the motion for a Preliminary Injunction on 
June 10, 2005. On June 16, 2005, Genentech and Tercica withdrew their motion for a preliminary injunction, but reserved the right to refile the 
motion for a preliminary injunction. We cannot predict whether Genentech and Tercica will seek a preliminary injunction at another time.  

Deceptive Promotional Statements and Unfair Business Practices Claims  

On December 6, 2005, Tercica filed a complaint against us in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California 
alleging we made deceptive promotional statements and engaged in unfair business practices related to Tercica’s product, Increlex, allegedly in 
violation of the California Business and Professions Code and the Federal Lanham Act. Tercica amended the complaint on December 15, 2005. 
Tercica is requesting injunctive and monetary relief.  

Although we deny any liability, no assurances can be given as to the outcome of this action. An unfavorable settlement or decision could 
affect our ability to make, use or sell our products, and would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. Any liability resulting from this action may exceed our financial resources. We have requested that the court dismiss the action on a 
number of bases, including that Tercica failed to state a claim under the Federal Lanham Act and the court lacks personal jurisdiction over us. 
We plan to seek attorneys’ fees from Tercica if the case is successfully concluded.  

We cannot predict with certainty the outcome of these proceedings. We note however, that an adverse ruling could materially and 
adversely impact our ability to make, use or sell our products.  

   

There were no matters submitted to a vote of our shareholders during the quarter ended December 31, 2005.  
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PART II  

   

Our common stock began trading on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market on June 1, 2000. We moved from The Nasdaq SmallCap Market to 
The Nasdaq National Market on August 8, 2000.  

Our trading symbol is “INSM.” The following table lists, for the periods indicated, the high and low sale prices per share for our common 
stock as reported on The Nasdaq National Market.  
   

On February 28, 2006, the last reported sale price for our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market was $2.47 per share. As of 
February 28, 2006, there were 585 holders of record of our common stock.  

We have never declared or paid dividends on our common stock. We anticipate that we will retain all earnings, if any, to support 
operations and to finance the growth and development of our business. Therefore, we do not expect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable 
future. Any future determination as to the payment of dividends will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our 
financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and other factors our board of directors deems relevant.  

   

In the table below, we provide you with selected historical financial data. We have prepared this information using the consolidated 
financial statements of Insmed for the five years ended December 31, 2005. The financial statements for each of the five fiscal years ended 
December 31, 2005 have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. Ernst & Young LLP’s report on 
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005, which appears elsewhere herein, includes an explanatory 
paragraph which describes an uncertainty about Insmed’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

When you read this selected historical financial data, it is important that you also read the historical financial statements and related notes 
in our annual and quarterly reports filed with the SEC, as well as “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations” on pages 31 to 35.  
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Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities 

     
Insmed  

Common Stock 
Fiscal Year 2005     High    Low 

Fourth Quarter     $ 2.04    $ 1.10 
Third Quarter       1.64      0.86 
Second Quarter       1.45      0.79 
First Quarter       2.30      0.80 

Fiscal Year 2004     High    Low 

Fourth Quarter     $ 2.48    $ 1.24 
Third Quarter       2.33      1.00 
Second Quarter       3.40      1.98 
First Quarter       4.28      2.87 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data 
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2001     2002     2003     2004     2005   
     (in thousands, except per share data)   

Historical Statement of Operations Data:             

Revenues     $ 296     $ 1,955     $ 150     $ 137     $ 131   
Operating expenses:             

Research and development       35,506       18,077       7,140       23,320       21,835   
General and administrative       4,881       2,984       3,477       4,242       5,730   
Operational restructuring charge       —         2,533       —         —         —     
Goodwill write-off       —         15,385       —         —         —     

Stock compensation       95       —         119         —     
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Total operating expenses       40,482       38,979       10,736       27,562       27,565   
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Operating loss       (40,186 )     (37,024 )     (10,586 )     (27,425 )     (27,434 ) 
Interest income       3,017       607       288       222       752   
Interest expense       —         —         —         —         (14,247 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Loss before income taxes       (37,169 )     (36,417 )     (10,298 )     (27,203 )     (40,929 ) 
Income tax expense       —         —         —         —         —     

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net loss       (37,169 )     (36,417 )     (10,298 )     (27,203 )     (40,929 ) 
Basic and diluted net loss per share       (1.13 )     (1.10 )     (0.29 )     (0.69 )     (0.84 ) 
Weighted average shares       32,871       33,066       35,600       39,160       48,742   

Historical Balance Sheet Data:             

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities     $ 51,250     $ 27,337     $ 29,526     $ 9,222     $ 18,835   
Total assets       71,606       28,308       29,812       13,011       22,870   
Long-term debt, net       —         —         —         —         6,437   
Stockholders’  equity       59,695       23,446       26,220       7,235       10,529   
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The following discussion also should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto.  

Overview  

Insmed Incorporated is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of drugs for the treatment of 
metabolic diseases and endocrine disorders. We concentrate our efforts on treatments of conditions for niche markets with unmet medical 
needs. Currently, our development activities involve drugs that modulate IGF-1 activity in the human body. Our lead product, IPLEX™ 
(mecasermin rinfabate [rDNA origin] injection), the only once-daily IGF-1 replacement therapy, has been approved for commercial sale by the 
FDA, and we are in the process of establishing our sales and marketing team to commence commercial sales of IPLEX in the United States in 
the second quarter of 2006. Our development efforts are now focused on expanding the label for IPLEX into other clinical indications where 
we have proof of concept for IGF-1 therapy. In addition, we are developing two other drug candidates, INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3, which are in 
clinical development for treating cancer.  

On December 12, 2005, the FDA approved IPLEX for the treatment of growth failure in children with severe Primary IGF-1 deficiency 
or with growth hormone gene deletion who have developed neutralizing antibodies to growth hormone (Severe Primary IGFD). As an Orphan 
Drug, IPLEX is entitled to seven years of marketing exclusivity for the treatment of Severe Primary IGFD in the United States.  

We are preparing to commercially launch IPLEX in the United States for the treatment of Severe Primary IGFD. The initial target 
population is approximately 6,000 children. These children are cared for primarily by pediatric endocrinologists and we plan to initially target 
the top 400 pediatric endocrinologists with our own focused specialty sales force. We have already hired a management team for our sales, 
marketing, medical communications and managed care groups that will bring IPLEX to the market. IPLEX has a therapeutic profile that we 
believe will make it a commercial success. Our plans for 2006 include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

We have not been profitable and have accumulated deficits of approximately $254.7 million through December 31, 2005. We expect to 
incur significant additional losses for at least the next several years until such time as sufficient revenues are generated to offset expenses. In 
general, our expenditures may increase as development of our product candidates progresses. However, there will be fluctuations from period 
to period caused by differences in project costs incurred at each stage of development.  

With the approval of our first drug product, IPLEX, for the treatment of Severe Primary IGFD on December 12, 2005 we estimate the full 
cost of bringing this drug to market to be $270 million. The full cost and completion dates, through commercialization, of our non-IPLEX 
research and development projects, INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3, cannot be estimated at this time.  
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

  •   Fully commercialize and market IPLEX for the treatment of Severe Primary IGFD; 

  •   Initiate clinical trials to expand IPLEX into additional niche indications; 

  •   Ramp up manufacturing capability in support of 2006/2007 commercialization of IPLEX; 

  •   Establish commercial activities consistent with FDA approval process; 

  •   Capitalize through debt/equity and partnership fees to sustain 2006/2007 operations; 

  •   Establish a partner or partners outside the U.S. for our products; and 

  •   Aggressively defend patent lawsuits and other litigation in the United States and United Kingdom. 
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Research and Development Activities  

We are engaged in the research and development of proposed drug products for the treatment of metabolic diseases and endocrine 
disorders. All of our research and development expenditures, whether conducted by our own staff or by external scientists on our behalf and at 
our expense, are recorded as expenses as incurred and amounted to approximately $128 million dollars for the period since inception, in 
November 1999, through December 31, 2005, and $7 million, $23 million and $22 million in the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 
2005. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses, costs to develop and manufacture products and 
amounts paid to contract research organizations, hospitals and laboratories for the provision of services and materials for drug development and 
clinical trials.  

Our leading product, IPLEX, was approved in December 2005 for the treatment of Severe Primary IGFD. IPLEX has also been granted 
Orphan Drug Designation for the treatment of Severe Primary IGFD indication and other indications. Substantially all of our research and 
development expenditures for fiscal 2004 and 2005 have been related to IPLEX.  

Our research and development efforts for other products are in their early stages and include primarily research and development 
regarding rhIGFBP-3 for the treatment of various cancers and INSM-18 for the treatment of various tumors. These products are either in 
preclinical stages or, Phase I and II clinical trials. All of our research and development expenditures related to these early-stage products and 
our efforts associated with IPLEX are significantly interrelated as they are all associated with drugs that modulate IGF-I activity in the human 
body. A significant finding in any one drug for a particular indication may provide benefits to our efforts across all of these products. All of 
these products also share a substantial amount of our common fixed costs such as salaries, facility costs, utilities and maintenance. Given the 
small portion of research and development expenses that are related to products other than IPLEX we have determined that very limited 
benefits would be obtained from implementing cost tracking systems that would be necessary to allow for cost information on a product-by-
product basis.  

In the near term, Insmed intends to focus substantially all of its research and development resources on the expansion of IPLEX into other 
indications. Our plans to expand IPLEX into additional indications are expected to represent our main research and development focus 
beginning in 2006. Our thrust to develop our other early-stage products will continue but we expect those efforts to account for a much smaller 
portion of Insmed’s research and development expenditures. These estimates are based on currently available information and, due to a number 
of factors, no assurance can be provided that this project will not take longer to complete or cost more than we have currently estimated.  

Our clinical trials with respect to IPLEX are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that are outside of our control, including the 
possibility that necessary regulatory approvals may not be obtained. For example, the duration and the cost of clinical trials may vary 
significantly over the life of a project as a result of differences arising during the clinical trial protocol, including, among others, the following:  
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  •   the number of patients that ultimately participate in the trial; 

  •   the duration of patient follow-up that is determined to be appropriate in view of results; 

  •   the number of clinical sites included in the trials; 

  •   the length of time required to enroll suitable patient subjects; and 

  •   the efficacy and safety profile of the product candidate. 
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Our clinical trials may also be subject to delays or rejections based on our inability to enroll patients at the rate that we expect or our inability to 
produce clinical trial material in sufficient quantities and of sufficient quality to meet the schedule for our planned clinical trials.  

Moreover, all of our product candidates and particularly those that are in the preclinical or early clinical trial stage must overcome 
significant regulatory, technological, manufacturing and marketing challenges before they can be successfully commercialized. Some of these 
projects may never reach the clinical trial stage of research and development. As preclinical studies and clinical trials progress, we may 
determine that collaborative relationships will be necessary to help us further develop or to commercialize our product candidates, but such 
relationships may be difficult or impossible to arrange. Our projects or intended projects may also be subject to change from time to time as we 
evaluate our research and development priorities and available resources.  

Any significant delays that occur or additional expenses that we incur may have a material adverse affect on our financial position and 
require us to raise additional capital sooner or in larger amounts than is presently expected. In addition, as a result of the risks and uncertainties 
related to the development and approval of our drug candidates and the additional uncertainties related to our ability to market and sell these 
products once approved for commercial sale, we are unable to provide a meaningful prediction regarding the period in which material net cash 
inflows from any of these projects are expected to become available.  

Results of Operations  

Year Ended December 31, 2005 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004  

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded a net loss of $40.9 million. Research and development expenses (which consist 
primarily of costs associated with clinical trials of our product candidates, including the costs of manufacturing, compensation and other 
expenses related to research and development personnel and facilities expenses) decreased $1.4 million from $23.3 million in 2004 to $21.9 
million in 2005. This decrease in spending resulted from a winding-down of our clinical trials program offset by an increase in manufacturing 
activity at our ITP facility.  

General and administrative expenses increased $1.5 million from $4.2 million for 2004 to $5.7 million for 2005. The increase was due to 
higher external service and personnel costs in support of our business. Revenues decreased $6,000 from $137,000 in 2004 to $131,000 in 2005 
due to a slight decline in royalties.  

We recorded $14.2 million in interest expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as a result of the March 15, 2005 
convertible notes financing. Of this amount $13.1 million was non-cash as a result of the accelerated amortization of the debt discount as a 
result of the conversion of notes to common stock in the 3 rd and 4 th quarters of 2005. $5.0 million of unamortized debt discount remained in 
long-term liabilities on our balance sheet and is expected to be amortized over the remaining life of the notes.  

As of December 31, 2005, cash and cash equivalents increased to $18.8 million from $9.2 million at December 31, 2004. As a result of a 
higher average cash balance and higher interest rates in 2005 compared to 2004, interest income increased $530,000 from $222,000 in 2004 to 
$752,000 in 2005.  

Accounts payable and accrued project costs and other costs decreased $0.5 million from $3.5 million at December 31, 2004 to $3.0 
million at December 31, 2005 as a result of decreased clinical and manufacturing activity. $1.6 million of accrued project costs and other costs 
related to a duplicate deposit of warrant exercise money received that was returned by the company in January 2006. Stockholders’ equity 
increased $3.3 million mainly as a result of the convertible notes financing on March 15, 2005 in which the company received net proceeds of 
$32.6 million. This was offset by the net loss for the year of $40.9 million. The accumulated deficit at December 31, 2005 increased to 
approximately $254.7 million due to our 2005 net loss of $40.9 million.  
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Year Ended December 31, 2004 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003  

For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded a net loss of $27.2 million. Research and development expenses (which consist 
primarily of costs associated with clinical trials of our product candidates, including the costs of manufacturing, compensation and other 
expenses related to research and development personnel and facilities expenses) increased $16.2 million from $7.1 million in 2003 to $23.3 
million in 2004. This rise in spending resulted from a broader clinical trials program and an increase in manufacturing activity at our ITP 
facility and at our contract manufacturer Avecia to produce IPLEX for our clinical trials,  

General and administrative expenses increased $0.7 million from $3.5 million for 2003 to $4.2 million for 2004. The increase was due to 
higher external service and personnel costs in support of our business. Revenues decreased $13,000 from $150,000 in 2003 to $137,000 in 
2004 due to a slight decline in royalties.  

As of December 31, 2004, cash and cash equivalents decreased to $9.2 million from $29.5 million at December 31, 2003. As a result of a 
lower average cash balance and lower interest rates in 2004 compared to 2003, net interest income decreased $66,000 from $288,000 in 2003 to 
$222,000 million in 2004.  

Accounts payable and accrued project costs increased $1.1 million from $2.4 million at December 31, 2003 to $3.5 million at 
December 31, 2004 as a result of increased clinical and manufacturing activity. Stockholders’ equity decreased $19.0 million mainly as a result 
of the net loss for 2004 of $27.2 million being partially offset by approximately $8.0 million in net proceeds received in connection with a 
private placement of our common stock on November 8, 2004. The accumulated deficit at December 31, 2004 increased to approximately 
$213.7 million due to our 2004 net loss of $27.2 million.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

There is considerable time and cost associated with developing a potential drug or pharmaceutical product to the point where FDA 
approval for sales is received. In our financial management, we seek to raise the funds necessary for such development primarily through the 
issuance of equity securities in private placement transactions. However, it is our intention to pursue additional financing options, including 
entering into agreements with corporate partners in order to provide milestone payments, license fees and equity investments.  

Capital Requirements  

Capital expenditures in the year ended December 31, 2005 were principally related to the research and development, increased clinical 
trial activity and manufacturing activities at our site in Boulder, Colorado, as well as administrative support activities. In the short-term, we will 
need to raise substantial additional funds to continue the commercialization and marketing of IPLEX. In the longer-term, we will require 
substantial additional funds for the continued development of our other lead drug products. We have filed a shelf registration statement with the 
SEC that allows us to sell up to $75,000,000 of its common stock, preferred stock or warrants for common or preferred stock. We may sell 
these securities in one or more separate offerings in amounts, at prices and on terms to be determined at the time of such offer or offerings. This 
shelf registration statement is intended to give us flexibility to take advantage of financing opportunities when and if deemed appropriate by us. 
Our continuation as a going concern depends on our ability to obtain such additional financing and, ultimately, to generate positive cash flow 
and attain profitability. There can be no assurance that adequate funds will be available when we need them or on favorable terms. If at any 
time we are unable to obtain sufficient additional funds, we will be required to delay, restrict or eliminate some or all of our research or 
development programs, dispose of assets or technology or cease operations.  

The registered public accounting firm report to our audited financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2005, indicates that 
there are a number of conditions that raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Such conditions identified in the 
report are our net loss position, our failure to attain profitable operations and our dependence upon obtaining adequate financing.  
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Planned expenditures in 2006 include the funding of our ongoing research and development activity, such as manufacturing and clinical 
trial costs, general and administrative support costs plus commercialization efforts associated with our FDA approved drug, IPLEX.  

Capital Resources  

We have funded our operations to date primarily through public and private placements of equity securities. We plan to continue 
incurring losses as we expand our research and development and do not expect material revenues for at least the next several years. At 
December 31, 2005, our cash and cash investments were approximately $18.8 million and were invested in money market instruments. This is 
an increase from $9.2 million at December 31, 2004 as a result of the Convertible Notes financing described below.  

On March 15, 2005 (the Initial Closing Date), we issued and sold approximately $35,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 5.5% Senior 
Convertible Notes (the Notes) to a group of institutional investors, which Notes will be convertible into our common stock, par value $0.01 per 
share, and Warrants to purchase 14,864,865 shares of our common stock (the Warrants), at an exercise price of $1.36 per share. The Notes will 
convert into the Company’s Common Stock at a conversion price of $1.295 per share as adjusted in accordance with certain anti-dilution 
adjustments (the Conversion Price). The principal of each Note will mature and be payable in nine quarterly installments commencing on 
March 1, 2008 and ending on March 1, 2010. All outstanding Notes shall be repaid in cash or converted within five years after the Initial 
Closing Date. Interest on the Notes is payable quarterly. Upon conversion of the Notes, the related accrued and unpaid interest, if any, shall be 
paid in cash to the investor. The Warrants are exercisable for five years from the Initial Closing Date. Commencing two years after the Initial 
Closing Date, if the market value of our common stock closes above 200% of the Conversion Price for at least fifteen of twenty consecutive 
trading days and other specific criteria are met, we shall have the right on one occasion only to redeem 50% or more (on a pro rata basis) of the 
Notes at par, plus any related accrued interest. The investors have the right to require us to repurchase the Notes upon the occurrence of certain 
repurchase events set forth in the transaction agreements, including, but not limited to, the absence of trading or market prices, delisting, a 
fundamental change or certain actions that discriminate against the investors in regards to their interest in the common stock. The investors 
shall also have a right of participation in any future financings undertaken by us prior to March 16, 2006, which will permit the investors to 
purchase up to such portion of any subsequent equity or equity-linked financing, on the same terms and conditions as the other parties in the 
financing, as shall enable each investor to maintain its ownership percentage of the Company on a fully-diluted basis at such time.  

Our business strategy contemplates raising additional capital through equity sales. We also plan to enter into agreements with corporate 
partners in order to fund research and development and to provide milestone payments, license fees and equity investments to fund our 
operations.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial 
condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that we believe is material to 
investors.  
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Contractual Obligations  

We are obligated to make future payments under various contracts as set forth below:  
   

Critical Accounting Policies  

Preparation of financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We use our historical experience and other relevant factors when 
developing our estimates and assumptions. We continually evaluate these estimates and assumptions. The accounting policies discussed below 
are those we consider critical to an understanding of our consolidated financial statements because their application places the most significant 
demands on our judgment. Our financial results might have been different if different assumptions had been used or other conditions had 
prevailed. For additional accounting policies, see Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements – “Description of the Business and Summary 
of Significant Accounting Policies”  

Research and Development  

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related 
expenses, cost to develop and manufacture products, patent protection costs and amounts paid to contract research organizations, hospitals and 
laboratories for the provision of services and materials for drug development and clinical trials. We do not have separate accounting policies for 
internal or external research and development and we do not conduct any research and development for others. Our expenses related to clinical 
trials are based on estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with third party organizations that conduct and 
manage clinical trials on our behalf. These contracts set forth the scope of work to be completed at a fixed fee or amount per patient enrolled. 
Payments under these contracts depend on performance criteria such as the successful enrollment of patients or the completion of clinical trial 
milestones. Expenses are accrued based on contracted amounts applied to the level of patient enrollment and to activity according to the clinical 
trial protocol.  

Our expenses relating to contract manufacturing of clinical material are based on agreements reached with the contract manufacturer. The 
contract identifies the amount of clinical material to be manufactured, the time for manufacture, and other development work to be completed 
in supporting the manufacturing of the clinical material. In general, the contract and the work to be completed are in phases, and we accrue 
expenses for these contracts based upon the initiation and timing of each phase.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

We recognize expense for stock-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, 
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees , and related interpretations.  
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Payments Due by Years  

(in thousands)  

Contractual Obligations     Total    2006    
2007 -  
2009    2010 

     (in thousands) 
Long term debt (1)     $ 13,472    $ 629    $ 11,555    $ 1,288 
Operating lease obligations       1,460      1,001      459      —   
Asset retirement obligations       2,100      —        2,100      —     

                            

   $ 17,032    $ 1,630    $ 14,144    $ 1,288 
                            

(1) Long-term debt obligations reflect the future interest and principal payments of the Company’s convertible notes outstanding as of 
December 31, 2005. These notes become due in quarterly installments beginning on March 8, 2008 if not converted to common shares at 
an earlier date. 
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Accordingly, compensation cost is recognized for the excess, if any, of the estimated fair value of the stock at the grant date over the exercise 
price. Disclosures regarding alternative fair value measurement and recognition methods prescribed by Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(“FASB”) Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended by FASB Statement No. 148, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure , are presented in Notes 1 and 2. The fair value for these awards was estimated at the date of 
grant using the Black-Scholes pricing method assuming a weighted average volatility, a risk-free interest rate, no dividends, and a weighted-
average expected life of the option.  

Stock options granted to non-employees are accounted for in accordance with the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 96-18, Accounting 
for Equity Instruments that are issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services . Accordingly, 
the estimated fair value of the equity instrument is recorded on the earlier of the performance commitment date or the date the services required 
are completed.  

   

We invest excess cash in investment grade, interest-bearing securities and, at December 31, 2005, had $18.8 million invested in money 
market instruments. Such investments are subject to interest rate and credit risk. Our policy of investing in highly rated securities whose 
maturities at December 31, 2005, are all less than 3-months minimizes such risks. In addition, while a hypothetical 1.0% per annum decrease in 
market interest rates would reduce interest income in 2005, it would not result in a loss of the principal and the decline in interest income 
would be deemed immaterial. Our purpose in making these investments is to generate investment income.  

We currently do not transact any significant portion of our business in functional currencies other than the United States dollar. To the 
extent that we continue to transact its business using the United States dollar as our functional currency, we do not believe that the fluctuations 
in foreign currency exchange rates will have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.  

   

The information required by Item 8 is set forth on pages F-1 to F-13.  

   

None.  

   

Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

Based on their evaluation, as of December 31, 2005, Insmed Incorporated’s Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have 
concluded that Insmed Incorporated’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) are effective.  

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

The management of Insmed Incorporated is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Insmed Incorporated’s internal 
control over financial reporting was designed to provide reasonable assurance to Insmed Incorporated’s management and board of directors 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  
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Insmed Incorporated’s management assessed the effectiveness of Insmed Incorporated’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2005 based on the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 
Internal Control — Integrated Framework . Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design of Insmed Incorporated’s internal 
control over financial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of Insmed Incorporated’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Based on this assessment, Insmed Incorporated’s management concluded that, as of December 31, 2005, Insmed Incorporated’s internal control 
over financial reporting was effective.  

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an audit report on management’s assessment of Insmed 
Incorporated’s internal control over financial reporting. The report of Ernst & Young LLP is contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.  

There have been no changes in Insmed Incorporated’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months 
ended December 31, 2005 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, such internal control over financial 
reporting.  

   

None.  

PART III  
   

The information presented under the captions “Nominees,” “Directors Whose Terms Expire at the 2006 Annual Meeting (Class III 
Directors),” “Directors Whose Terms Expire at the 2007 Annual Meeting (Class I Directors),” “Executive Officers (other than those who are 
also Directors.” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and “Meetings of the Board and its Committees – Audit 
Committee” of the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “2006 Proxy Statement”) is 
incorporated herein by reference. Such 2006 Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in April 2006.  

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers and employees (including our 
President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer) and have posted the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics on our 
website. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K relating to amendments to or waivers from any provision 
of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Treasurer and Controller by 
posting this information on our website. Our Internet website address is www.insmed.com. The information on our website is not, and shall not 
be deemed to be, part of this report or incorporated into any other filings we make with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

   

The information presented under the captions “Executive Officer Compensation” and “Director Compensation” of the 2006 Proxy 
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.  

   

The information presented under the captions “Stock Ownership” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” of the 2006 Proxy 
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.  

   

The information presented under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” of the 2006 Proxy Statement is 
incorporated herein by reference.  
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The information presented under the captions “Fees Paid to Ernst & Young LLP” and “Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy” of the 
Audit Committee Report included in the 2006 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.  

PART IV  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

None required.  

   

The exhibits that are required to be filed or incorporated by reference herein are listed in the Exhibit Index. Exhibits 
10.1, 10.2, 10.14 and 10.16 constitute management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed as 
exhibits hereto.  
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

Item 15.   Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) Documents filed as part of this report. 

  
1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . The following consolidated financial statements of the Company are set forth herein, 

beginning on page F-1: 

  (i) Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

  (ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

  (iii) Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

  (iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’  Equity. 

  (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

  (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

  2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES. 

  3. EXHIBITS. 
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to 
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of Richmond, Commonwealth of Virginia, on the 3 rd day of 
March, 2006.  
   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on 
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 3 rd day of March, 2006.  
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a Virginia corporation  
(Registrant)  

By:   / S /    G EOFFREY A LLAN         

  

Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D.  
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief  

Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)  

Signature     Title  

/ S /    G EOFFREY A LLAN          
Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D.     

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer)  

/ S /    K EVIN P. T ULLY          
Kevin P. Tully     

EVP, Chief Financial Officer  
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Kenneth G. Condon     

Director  

/ S /    G RAHAM K. C ROOKE          
Graham K. Crooke, MB.BS     

Director  

/ S /    S TEINAR J. E NGELSEN          
Steinar J. Engelsen, M.D.     

Director  

/ S /    M ELVIN S HAROKY          
Melvin Sharoky, M.D.     

Director  

/ S /    R ANDALL W. W HITCOMB          
Randall W. Whitcomb, M.D.     

Director  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Insmed Incorporated  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Insmed, Incorporated (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2005 and 
2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
Insmed Incorporated at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that Insmed Incorporated will continue as a going concern. As 
more fully described in Note 2, the Company has incurred recurring operating losses and has a net capital deficiency. These conditions raise 
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described 
in Note 2. The financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification 
of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
effectiveness of Insmed Incorporated’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report 
dated February 10, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

Richmond, Virginia  
February 10, 2006,  
except for Note 10 as to  
which the date is February 28, 2006  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Insmed Inc.  

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying “Report of Management on Insmed Incorporated’s Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting”, that Insmed Incorporated maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2005, based on criteria established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Insmed Incorporated’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on 
our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Insmed Incorporated maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Insmed Incorporated maintained, 
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of Insmed Incorporated, as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, and our report dated February 10, 2006, except 
for Note 10 as to which the date is February 28, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

/s/    Ernst & Young LLP  

Richmond, Virginia  
February 10, 2006  
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INSMED INCORPORATED  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
(in thousands)  

   

See accompanying notes.  
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December 31, 
 

2005     
December 31, 

2004    

Assets      

Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 18,835     $ 9,222   
Restricted cash       285       285   
Other current assets       83       174   

       
  

      
  

Total current assets       19,203       9,681   
Long-term assets:       

Restricted cash—long term       3,118       3,303   
Deferred financing costs, net       532       —     
Property and equipment, net       17       27   

       
  

      
  

Total long-term assets       3,667       3,330   
       

  
      

  

Total assets     $ 22,870     $ 13,011   
       

  

      

  

Liabilities and stockholders’  equity      

Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable     $ 968     $ 2,621   
Accrued project costs & other       1,990       884   
Payroll liabilities       1,574       1,183   
Interest payable       52       —     
Restructuring reserve       286       360   

       
  

      
  

Total current liabilities       4,870       5,048   
Long-term liabilities:       

Convertible debt       11,438       —     
Debt discount       (5,001 )     —     

       
  

      
  

Net convertible debt       6,437       —     
Asset retirement obligation       1,034       443   
Restructuring reserve-long-term portion       —         285   

       
  

      
  

Total liabilities       12,341       5,776   
       

  
      

  

Stockholders’  equity:       

Common stock; $.01 par value; authorized share 500,000,000; issued and outstanding shares, 
66,525,792 in 2005 and 44,893,496 in 2004       665       449   

Additional capital       264,522       220,515   
Accumulated deficit       (254,658 )     (213,729 ) 

       
  

      
  

Net stockholders’  equity       10,529       7,235   
       

  
      

  

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity     $ 22,870     $ 13,011   
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INSMED INCORPORATED  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
(in thousands, except per share data)  

   

   
See accompanying notes.  
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Year Ended  

December 31,    
     2005     2004     2003   

Revenues     $ 131     $ 137     $ 150   

Operating expenses:         

Research and development       21,835       23,260       7,140   
General and administrative       5,730       4,242       3,596   

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total operating expenses       27,565       27,502       10,736   
       

  
      

  
      

  

Operating loss       (27,434 )     (27,365 )     (10,586 ) 
Interest income       752       222       288   
Interest expense       (14,247 )     (60 )     —     

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net loss     $ (40,929 )   $ (27,203 )   $ (10,298 ) 
       

  

      

  

      

  

Basic and diluted net loss per share     $ (0.84 )   $ (0.69 )   $ (0.29 ) 
       

  

      

  

      

  

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share       48,742       39,160       35,600   
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INSMED INCORPORATED  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004, AND 2003  

(in thousands, except share amounts)  
   

See accompanying notes.  
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Common 
 

Stock     
Additional 

Capital     

Accumulated 
 

Deficit     

Accumulated  
Other  

Comprehensive 
 

 Income (Loss)     Total   

Balance at December 31, 2002     $ 332     $ 199,344     $ (176,228 )               —      $ 23,448   
Issuance of 53,171 shares of common stock upon exercise of 

stock options       1       53       —       —        54   
Issuance of 36,439 shares of common stock from Employee 

Stock Purchase Plan       —         27       —       —        27   
Issuance of 5,146,846 shares of common stock and 1,544,046 

warrants for cash, net of offering costs of $972,593       51       12,872       —       —        12,923   
Recognition of stock compensation expense for consultants       1       118       —       —        119   
Stock re-purchase from Taisho       (1 )     (52 )          (53 ) 
Comprehensive earnings:              

Net loss and comprehensive loss       —         —         (10,298 )   —        (10,298 ) 
       

  
      

  
      

  
           

  

Balance at December 31, 2003       384       212,362       (186,526 )   —        26,220   
Issuance of 6,091 shares of common stock upon exercise of stock 

options       —         3       —       —        3   
Issuance of 36,860 shares of common stock from Employee 

Stock Purchase Plan       —         69       —       —        69   
Issuance of 6,455,551 shares of common stock and 3,227,775 

warrants for cash, net of offering costs of $602,472       65       8,048       —       —        8,113   
Recognition of stock compensation expense for consultants         33       —       —        33   
Comprehensive earnings:              

Net loss and comprehensive loss       —         —         (27,203 )   —        (27,203 ) 
       

  
      

  
      

  
           

  

Balance at December 31, 2004       449       220,515       (213,729 )   —        7,235   
Issuance of 163,322 shares of common stock upon exercise of 

stock options       2       131       —       —        133   
Issuance of 169,823 shares of common stock from Employee 

Stock Purchase Plan       2       140       —       —        142   
Issuance of 18,287,848 shares of common stock upon conversion 

of notes       182       23,500       —       —        23,682   
Issuance of 3,011,303 shares of common stock upon exercise of 

warrants       30       4,195       —       —        4,225   
Recognition of debt discount in conjunction with issuance of $35 

million of convertible notes net of offering costs of 
$2,428,000       —         15,993       —       —        15,993   

Recognition of stock acceleration expense for employees       —         15       —       —        15   
Recognition of stock compensation expense for consultants       —         33       —       —        33   
Comprehensive earnings:              

Net loss and comprehensive loss       —         —         (40,929 )   —        (40,929 ) 
       

  
      

  
      

  
           

  

Balance at December 31, 2005     $ 665     $ 264,522     $ (254,658 )   —      $ 10,529   
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INSMED INCORPORATED  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
(in thousands)  

   

   
See accompanying notes.  
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     Year Ended December 31   
     2005     2004     2003   

Operating activities         

Net loss     $ (40,929 )   $ (27,203 )   $ (10,298 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization       12,897       34       96   
Non-cash stock acceleration       15       —       
Stock options issued for services       33       33       119   
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Due from Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.           199   
Other assets       91       51       390   
Accounts payable       (1,653 )     1,961       (281 ) 
Accrued project costs       1,106       (863 )     (536 ) 
Payroll liabilities       391       978       (153 ) 
Restructuring reserve       (359 )     (335 )     (298 ) 
Asset retirement obligation       591       443       —     
Interest payable       52       —         —     

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash used in operating activities       (27,765 )     (24,901 )     (10,762 ) 
       

  
      

  
      

  

Financing activities         

Proceeds from issuance of convertible debt with detachable stock warrants       35,000       —         12,951   
Proceeds from issuance of common stock       4,621       8,185       —     
Costs incurred in conjunction with issuance of debt       (2,428 )     —         —     
Cash restricted to restricted letters of credit       185       (3,588 )     —     

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities       37,378       4,597       12,951   
       

  
      

  
      

  

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents       9,613       (20,304 )     2,189   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period       9,222       29,526       27,337   

       
  

      
  

      
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period     $ 18,835     $ 9,222     $ 29,526   
       

  

      

  

      

  

Supplemental information         

Cash paid for interest     $ 1,104       —         —     
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INSMED INCORPORATED  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1.    Description of the Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Insmed Incorporated (“Insmed” or “the Company”) is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization 
of drugs for the treatment of metabolic diseases and endocrine disorders in niche markets with unmet medical needs. Currently, our 
development and commercial activities involve drugs that modulate IGF-1 activity in the human body. Our FDA-approved lead product, 
IPLEX (mecasermin rinfabate [rDNA origin] injection), is the only once-daily IGF-1 replacement therapy. IPLEX was approved in December 
2005 and we are in the process of establishing our sales and marketing team to commence commercial sales in the United States in the second 
quarter of 2006. Our development efforts are now focused on expanding the label for IPLEX into additional clinical indications. In addition, we 
are continuing clinical trials for two other drug candidates, INSM-18 and rhIGFBP-3, which are in clinical development for the treatment of 
cancer.  

Principles of Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Insmed Therapeutic 
Proteins, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Incorporated and Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Incorporated (“Celtrix”). All significant intercompany balances 
and transactions have been eliminated.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

The Company considers investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.  

On April 14, 2004 the Company announced that it had acquired a lease to operate a recombinant protein manufacturing facility located in 
Boulder, Colorado. The Company intends to use the facility for the commercial manufacture of its FDA approved product, IPLEX. Insmed 
provided a Letter of Credit to the landlord of the Boulder facility in the amount of $1.3 million for prepayment of the outstanding lease term of 
4 years and a Letter of Credit to Baxter Healthcare Corporation for $2.1 million to cover facility restoration expenses on termination of the 
lease. These amounts are classified as restricted cash on the balance sheet. In connection with the aforementioned lease the Company has 
recorded an asset retirement obligation. Accretion expense for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 totaled $0.6 million and 
$0.4 million respectively.  

Property and Equipment  

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over periods ranging from three to seven years. Property and equipment is stated 
at cost and consists of the following:  
   

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

The Company considers the recorded cost of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable, and accrued expenses to approximate the fair 
value of the respective assets and liabilities at December 31, 2005 and 2004 due  
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     December 31,   
     2005     2004   
     (in thousands)   

Furniture and office equipment     $ 511     $ 511   
       

  
      

  

     511       511   
Accumulated depreciation       (494 )     (484 ) 

       
  

      
  

Property and equipment, net     $ 17     $ 27   
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to the short-term maturities of these financial instruments. The carrying value of the net convertible debt is $6.4 million which approximates 
fair value. This is calculated using the intrinsic value of the conversion feature.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

The Company recognizes expense for stock-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees , and related interpretations. Accordingly, compensation cost is recognized for the 
excess, if any, of the estimated fair value of the stock at the grant date over the exercise price. Disclosures regarding alternative fair value 
measurement and recognition methods prescribed by Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 123, Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation, are presented below. Stock options granted to non-employees are accounted for in accordance with EITF 96-18, 
Accounting for Equity Instruments that are issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services . 
Accordingly, the estimated fair value of the equity instrument is recorded on the earlier of the performance commitment date or the date the 
services required are completed.  

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure (“SFAS 148”), the 
effect on net loss and net loss per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based 
employee compensation is as follows:  

INSMED INCORPORATED  
Stock Compensation Expense  

(in thousands, except per share amounts)  
   

The fair value for these awards was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing method assuming a weighted average 
volatility of 89% in 2005, 89% in 2004, and 127% in 2003, a risk-free interest rate of 4.17% in 2005, 3.83% in 2004, and 3.0% in 2003, no 
dividends, and a weighted-average expected life of the option of 5 years in 2005, 5 years in 2004, and 4.93 years in 2003. Compensation 
expense for fixed awards with pro-rata vesting is recognized under the straight-line method.  

Revenue Recognition  

Revenue from license agreements is generally recognized over the term of the agreement, or in certain circumstances, when milestones 
are met. Amounts received for which there is a future performance obligation, are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the life 
of the agreement.  

Research and Development  

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related 
expenses, costs to develop and manufacture products, patent protection costs and  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2005     2004     2003   

Net Loss     (40,929 )     (27,203 )   (10,298 ) 
     

  
      

  
    

  

Net Loss Per Share (Basic and Diluted)     (0.84 )     (0.69 )   (0.29 ) 
     

  

      

  

    

  

Stock based employee compensation cost (under APB 25)     —         —       —     
Fair value stock compensation expense     (1,628 )     (1,851 )   (2,001 ) 
Pro-Forma Net Income     (42,557 )     (29,054 )   (12,299 ) 

     
  

      
  

    
  

Pro-Forma Net Loss Per Share (Basic and Diluted)     (0.87 )   $ (0.74 )   (0.35 ) 
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amounts paid to contract research organizations, hospitals and laboratories for the provision of services and materials for drug development and 
clinical trials.  

Income Taxes  

Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax 
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective 
tax bases and operating loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable 
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.  

Net Loss Per Share  

Basic net loss per share is computed based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. The 
Company’s diluted net loss per share is the same as its basic net loss per share because all stock options, warrants, and other potentially dilutive 
securities are antidilutive and, therefore, excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share.  

Segment Information  

The Company currently operates in one business segment, which is the development and commercialization of pharmaceutical products 
for the treatment of metabolic and endocrine diseases associated with insulin resistance. The Company is managed and operated as one 
business. A single management team that reports to the Chief Executive Officer comprehensively manages the entire business. The Company 
does not operate separate lines of business with respect to its products or product candidates. Accordingly, the Company does not have 
separately reportable segments as defined by FASB Statement No. 131, Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information .  

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued a revision of Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 123 (revised 2005), Share-Based Payment (Statement 123(R)), which is a revision of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation. Statement 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25 “Opinion 25”, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and 
amends FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Generally, the approach in Statement 123(R) is similar to the approach described in 
Statement 123. Statement 123(R) will be adopted by Insmed Incorporated on January 1, 2006.  

As permitted by Statement 123, Insmed currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using Opinion 25’s intrinsic value 
method and, as such, generally recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock options. However, Statement 123(R) requires all share-
based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values 
over the expected period of service.  
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The full impact of adoption of Statement 123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because it will depend on levels of share-based 
payments granted in the future. However, had Insmed adopted Statement 123(R) in prior periods, the impact of that standard would have 
approximated the impact of Statement 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net income and earnings per share in this Note 1 to the 
consolidated financial statements. Statement 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to 
be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net 
operating cash flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. Insmed is unable to estimate what those amounts will be 
in the future because they depend on, among other things, when employees exercise stock options.  

Operational Restructuring  

On September 10, 2002, the Company announced that it would immediately discontinue the internal development of one of its 
investigational drug candidates, INS-1, based on the results of the then recently completed Phase II clinical trials. At December 31, 2005, 
approximately $0.3 million of the related restructuring costs remain accrued in the current portion of the restructuring reserve. This balance is 
expected to closely approximate the remaining costs to be incurred by the Company for lease obligations. Lease termination costs are 
anticipated to extend through September 2006.  

2.    Risks and Uncertainties  

For the period from inception to December 31, 2005, the Company has accumulated a net loss of $255 million. The Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to raise capital through securities offerings, debt financing, and partnerships and use 
these sources of capital to fund operations. Management is focusing on raising capital through any one or more of these options. There can be 
no assurance that any of management’s plans as described above will be successfully implemented or that the Company will continue as a 
going concern. Accordingly, there is substantial doubt regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

3.    Stockholders’ Equity  

Common Stock & Convertible Debt  

On March 15, 2005 (the Initial Closing Date), Insmed issued and sold approximately $35,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 5.5% 
Senior Convertible Notes (the Notes) to a group of institutional investors, which Notes will be convertible into our common stock, par value 
$0.01 per share, and Warrants to purchase 14,864,865 shares of our common stock (the Warrants), at an exercise price of $1.36 per share. The 
Notes will convert into 27,027,027 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at a conversion price of $1.295 per share as adjusted in accordance 
with certain anti-dilution adjustments (the Conversion Price). The principal of each Note will mature and be payable in nine quarterly 
installments commencing on March 1, 2008 and ending on March 1, 2010. All outstanding Notes shall be repaid in cash or converted within 
five years after the Initial Closing Date. Interest on the Notes is payable quarterly. Upon conversion of the Notes, the related accrued and 
unpaid interest, if any, shall be paid in cash to the investor. The Warrants are exercisable for five years from the Initial Closing Date. 
Commencing two years after the Initial Closing Date, if the market value of our common stock closes above 200% of the Conversion Price for 
at least fifteen of twenty consecutive trading days and other specific criteria are met, we shall have the right on one occasion only to redeem 
50% or more (on a pro rata basis) of the Notes at par, plus any related accrued interest. The investor has the right to require us to repurchase the 
Notes upon the occurrence of certain repurchase events set forth in the transaction agreements, including, but not limited to, the absence of 
trading or market prices, delisting, a fundamental change or certain actions that discriminate against  
   

F-10  



Table of Contents  

INSMED INCORPORATED  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)  
   
the investors in regards to their interest in the common stock. The investors shall also have a right of participation in any future financings 
undertaken by us for one year, which will permit the investors to purchase up to such portion of any subsequent equity or equity-linked 
financing, on the same terms and conditions as the other parties in the financing, as shall enable each investor to maintain its ownership 
percentage of the Company on a fully diluted basis at such time. These proceeds were used during the year to fund operations. The total amount 
of deferred offering costs was $2.4 million. These are being amortized over the life of the notes using the effective interest method. The table 
below details our debt payments over the corresponding years.  
   

Periodically, the Company has issued shares of common stock in exchange for services provided by shareholders and others. These 
issuances have been recorded at their estimated fair value at the time of the respective transactions and corresponding amounts have been 
reflected as expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  

Stock Warrants and Options  

The Company issues stock options to attract and retain executive officers, key employees, non-employee directors and other non-
employee advisors and service providers. The maximum number of shares issuable under the Company’s stock option plan is 9,250,000. 
Options may be granted at the discretion of the board of directors, compensation committee or a delegate. The weighted-average fair value of 
options granted during 2005, 2004, and 2003 was $1.29, $2.12, and $1.72, respectively. A summary of stock option activity is as follows:  
   

The following table summarizes options outstanding at December 31, 2005:  
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     Payments Due by Years 
     2006    2007    2008    2009    2010    Total 

Convertible Notes     $     —      $     —      $ 5,084    $ 5,084    $ 1,270    $ 11,438 

Description     2005     

Weighted 
 

average  
exercise  

price    2004     

Weighted 
 

average  
exercise  

price    2003     

Weighted 
 

average  
exercise  

price 

Options outstanding at January 1     4,864,425     $ 3.68    3,900,516     $ 4.06    3,250,227     $ 4.49 
Granted     1,765,250       1.29    976,000       2.12    1,349,000       1.72 
Exercised     (163,322 )     0.81    (6,091 )     0.50    (53,171 )     1.01 
Cancelled     (541,422 )     2.28    (6,000 )     2.20    (645,540 )     1.59 

     
  

           
  

           
  

      

Options outstanding at December 31     5,924,931       3.17    4,864,425       3.68    3,900,516       4.06 
     

  

           

  

           

  

      

     Options Outstanding    Options Exercisable 

Range of Exercise  
          Prices     

Number  
Outstanding    

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining 
Contractual 

 
Life (Years)    

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price 
 

($/share)    
Number  

Exercisable    

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price 

$ 0.172 – $ 1.00     519,130    5.51    0.72    337,421    0.63 
$ 1.06   – $ 2.87     3,307,558    5.72    1.63    899,253    2.05 
$ 3.00   – $ 8.25     1,649,729    3.19    4.34    1,461,937    4.50 
$ 10.00 – $ 32.12     448,514    1.61    13.09    448,514    13.09 

                         

   5,924,931    4.69    3.17    3,147,124    4.61 
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A total of 22,732,514 shares of common stock were reserved at December 31, 2005 in connection with stock options, stock warrants, and 
the employee stock purchase plan.  

4.    Income Taxes  

The deferred tax assets of approximately $112.0 million and $104.2 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, arise primarily 
due to net operating loss carryforwards for income tax purposes. Due to the Company’s anticipated future losses, these amounts have been 
entirely offset by a valuation allowance.  

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for income tax purposes of approximately $278.2 
million and $261.0 million, respectively, expiring in various years beginning in 2006. Utilization of these carryforwards will be significantly 
limited due to changes in the ownership of the Company’s common stock.  

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of the following at December 31:  
   

The differences between the U.S. federal statutory tax rate and the Company’s effective tax rate are as follows:  
   

5.    Leases  

The Company leases office and laboratory space in Glen Allen, Virginia under an operating lease agreement expiring in October 2006. 
The lease provides for monthly rent of approximately $30,500 for the office space and $28,000 for the lab space with a 1.75% escalation per 
year. With the discontinuation of INS-1 and subsequent  
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     2005     2004   
     (in thousands)   

Deferred tax assets       

General Business Credits     5,478     4,224   
Other     932     1,115   
NOL Carryforwards     105,597     99,055   

     
  

    
  

Total deferred tax assets     112,007     104,394   
Deferred tax liabilities       

Other     —       (224 ) 
     

  
    

  

Total deferred tax liabilities     —       (224 ) 
     

  
    

  

Tax deferred asset/(liability)     112,007     104,170   
Valuation allowance     (112,007 )   (104,170 ) 

     
  

    
  

Net deferred tax asset/(liability)     —       —     
     

  

    

  

     2005     2004     2003   
Statutory federal tax rate     34 %   34 %   34 % 
Permanent items     -11 %   0 %   0 % 
State income taxes net of federal benefit     3 %   4 %   4 % 
Research and development credit     1 %   0 %   -45 % 
Other     -8 %   0 %   0 % 
Change in valuation allowance     -19 %   -38 %   6 % 

     
  

    
  

    
  

Total Expense     0 %   0 %   0 % 
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abandonment of the lab space, the Company recognized $1.2 million of restructuring charge relating to this lease during the third quarter of 
2003. The Company also leases a manufacturing facility and warehouse in Boulder, Colorado under an operating lease agreement expiring in 
February 2008. The lease provides for monthly rent of approximately $30,000 with a 3% escalation per year. The Company also leases a 
vehicle and office equipment. Future minimum payments on all these leases at December 31, 2005 approximate $1,001,000, $365,000, $80,000 
and $14,000 in 2006, 2007, 2008, and 2009 respectively. Rent expense for all operating leases approximated $846,000 in 2005, $869,000 in 
2004, and $535,000 in 2003.  

6.    Employee Benefit Plans  

In 2000, the Company adopted a stock purchase plan whereby eligible employees may purchase common stock. Purchases may be made 
through payroll deductions subject to annual limitations. The purchase price per share under the plan is the lesser of 85% of the fair market 
value of a share of common stock at the beginning of each offering period or 85% of the fair market value on the date the purchase is made. As 
of December 31, 2005 there were 500,000 shares authorized for issuance under the plan and 317,818 had been issued.  

The Company also maintains a tax-qualified employee savings and retirement plan, (the “401(k) plan”) for eligible employees. 
Participating employees may defer up to the lesser of 25% of W-2 compensation or the maximum amount permitted by the Internal Revenue 
Code, as amended. The 401(k) plan permits the Company to make matching contributions on behalf of all participants who have elected to 
make deferrals. To date, the Company has not made any contributions to the plan.  

7.    License and Collaborative Agreements  

Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.  

In January 2004, Insmed was granted a non-exclusive license to patent rights pertaining to the use of IGF-I therapy for the treatment of 
extreme or severe insulin resistant diabetes from Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Under the terms of the agreement, Insmed obtained 
worldwide rights in territories (excluding Japan) where a valid patent claim exists, including the United States and Europe. We have made a 
commitment to use reasonable commercial efforts to make IPLEX available on a named patient basis to patients with extreme insulin 
resistance.  

Pharmacia  

In August 2002 we entered into an agreement with Pharmacia that grants us an exclusive license to Pharmacia’s portfolio of regulatory 
filings pertaining to rhIGF-I. In consideration for the exclusive license we have agreed to make therapy available to the 17 Growth Hormone 
Insensitivity Syndrome subjects that were previously being treated with rhIGF-I supplied by Pharmacia.  

UVA Patent Foundation  

In 1988, the Company entered into a license agreement with The University of Virginia Alumni Patents Foundation (the “Foundation”). 
The agreement, as amended, provides the Company with an exclusive, worldwide license to develop and sell products related to certain patent 
rights for insulin resistance and associated disorders. The Company discontinued the development of products covered under this license and 
terminated this agreement on June 29, 2004.  
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8.    Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)  
   

9.    Legal Proceedings  

Infringement Claims  

We are currently defending infringement claims brought against us. On December 20, 2004, Tercica and Genentech filed a complaint 
against Avecia Limited and us in the United Kingdom at the High Court of Justice, Chancery Division, Patents Court alleging infringement of 
EP patent No. 571,417, or the ‘417 patent. The ‘417 patent has claims directed to particular uses of a combination of IGFBP-3 and IGF-1. In 
the complaint, Tercica asked the court for an injunction to restrain allegedly infringing activity, for a declaration that the ‘417 patent is valid 
and infringed, for an order requiring the delivery or destruction of allegedly infringing articles and materials and for an inquiry into possible 
economic damages. In May 2005, we filed for summary judgment to dismiss the complaint. Our motion for summary judgment was denied and 
a trial date in this litigation has not been set.  

In addition, on December 23, 2004, Genentech and Tercica sued us for infringement of U.S. Patent Nos., 5,187,151 and 6,331,414 in the 
United States District Court for the Northern District of California. These patents are directed to certain methods of using rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3 
and methods of producing rhIGF-1, respectively. On February 16, 2005, Tercica filed an amended complaint, adding an infringement allegation 
against us with respect to U.S. Patent No. 5,528,287, or the ‘287 patent. The claims of the ‘287 patent are directed to DNA encoding BP53 (i.e. 
IGFBP-3) and recombinant constructs, transformed host cells and methods for using the same. Genentech and Tercica claim that the production 
or use of IPLEX, a complex of rhIGF-1/rhIGFBP-3, will infringe these patents. We moved to dismiss the amended complaint for lack of 
jurisdiction and on other grounds. At a hearing on the motion on April 15, 2005, the court granted our motion and dismissed the case with leave 
for plaintiffs to refile the complaint. A second amended complaint was filed on April 22, 2005 by Genentech and Tercica against us that, 
among other things added Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, our wholly-owned subsidiary, as a defendant. We moved to dismiss the portion of the 
second amended complaint that relates to the ‘287 patent. On June 29, 2005, the Court denied our motion to dismiss. On July 14, 2005, we filed 
our answer and counterclaims, in which we denied infringement and sought a declaratory judgment that the asserted patents are not infringed, 
are invalid, and/or are unenforceable. The reply to the counterclaims by Genentech and Tercica was filed on August 5, 2005. On October 17, 
2005, Tercica and Genentech filed a third amended complaint adding Insmed Therapeutic Proteins, our wholly-owned subsidiary, as a 
defendant. The answer and counterclaims in response to the third amended complaint were filed by us on October 27, 2005. Briefing on patent 
claim construction issues and summary judgment motions is set to be completed by May 5, 2006, with a claim construction hearing scheduled 
for May 19, 2006. Discovery is ongoing and a trial date is scheduled for November 2006.  
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       Fiscal Quarter   
     First     Second     Third     Fourth   
     2005     2004     2005     2004     2005     2004     2005     2004   
     (in thousands)   

Revenues     $ 57     $ 61     $ 28     $ 29     $ 22     $ 24     $ 24     $ 23   
Operating Loss       (5,523 )     (4,835 )     (6,951 )     (9,060 )     (7,896 )     (7,647 )     (7,064 )     (5,883 ) 
Net Loss       (5,764 )     (4,759 )     (8,524 )     (9,011 )     (13,756 )     (7,596 )     (12,885 )     (5,837 ) 

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net Loss Per Share  
(Basic and Diluted)     $ (0.13 )   $ (0.12 )   $ (0.19 )   $ (0.23 )   $ (0.29 )   $ (0.20 )   $ (0.27 )   $ (0.14 ) 
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On May 27, 2005, Genentech and Tercica filed a motion for preliminary injunction seeking an order barring us, until trial, from making, 
using or selling IPLEX with respect to its allegations of infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,331,414 and 5,187,151, and requesting that we be 
required to share any Orphan Drug Exclusivity it obtains with Tercica. We filed an opposition to the motion for a Preliminary Injunction on 
June 10, 2005. On June 16, 2005, Genentech and Tercica withdrew their motion for a preliminary injunction, but reserved the right to refile the 
motion for a preliminary injunction. We cannot predict whether Genentech and Tercica will seek a preliminary injunction at another time.  

Deceptive Promotional Statements and Unfair Business Practices Claims  

On December 6, 2005, Tercica filed a complaint against us in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California 
alleging we made deceptive promotional statements and engaged in unfair business practices related to Tercica’s product, Increlex, allegedly in 
violation of the California Business and Professions Code and the Federal Lanham Act. Tercica amended the complaint on December 15, 2005. 
Tercica is requesting injunctive and monetary relief.  

Although we deny any liability, no assurances can be given as to the outcome of this action. An unfavorable settlement or decision could 
affect our ability to make, use or sell our products, and would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. Any liability resulting from this action may exceed our financial resources. We have requested that the court dismiss the action on a 
number of bases, including that Tercica failed to state a claim under the Federal Lanham Act and the court lacks personal jurisdiction over us. 
We plan to seek attorneys’ fees from Tercica if the case is successfully concluded.  

Insmed cannot predict with certainty the outcome of these proceedings. Insmed notes however, that an adverse ruling could materially 
and adversely impact our ability to make, use or sell our products.  

10. Subsequent Events  

Between January 1, 2006 and February 28, 2006, Insmed received notices from holders of its 5.5% Convertible Notes due 2008 - 2010 
electing to voluntarily convert $5,425,000 principal amount of Convertible Notes into 4,189,189 shares of common stock at the conversion rate 
of one share of common stock for each $1.295 in principal amount of the Convertible Notes. The Company also received $8,810,402 from 
warrant exercises that resulted in 6,012,551 shares of common stock being issued at an exercise price of $1.36 and 370,370 shares of common 
stock being issued at an exercise price of $1.71.  

Following the conversions described above, $6,013,000 principal amount of the Convertible Notes remained outstanding. In addition, 
because certain of the Convertible Notes were converted prior to the March 1, 2006 quarterly interest payment, the Company issued an 
additional 29,800 shares of common stock for the forfeited cash interest payment at a conversion price of $1.295.  
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E-1  

Exhibit 
Number    Exhibit Title  

3.1 

   

Articles of Incorporation of Insmed Incorporated, as amended (previously filed as Annex H to the Joint Proxy 
Statement/Prospectus contained in Part I of Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 
333-30098) and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.2 

   

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Insmed Incorporated (previously filed as Annex I to the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus 
contained in Part I of Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098) and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

3.3 

   

Form of Articles of Amendment to Insmed Incorporated’s Articles of Incorporation, as amended, creating a new series of 
Preferred Stock designated as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (previously filed as Exhibit A to the Rights 
Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2001, between Insmed Incorporated and First Union National Bank, as Rights Agent, filed 
as Exhibit 4.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on May, 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.4 
   

Amendment for Reverse Split (previously filed as Exhibit 3.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.1    Description of Capital Stock (contained in the Articles of Incorporation filed as Exhibit 3.1). 

4.2 

   

Specimen stock certificate representing common stock, $.01 par value per share, of the Registrant (previously filed as 
Exhibit 4.2 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098) and incorporated 
herein by reference). 

4.3 
   

Article VI of the Articles of Incorporation of Insmed Incorporated (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098) and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.4 

   

Rights Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2001, between Insmed Incorporated and First Union National Bank, as Rights Agent 
(which includes as (i) Exhibit A the form of Articles of Amendment to Insmed Incorporated’s Articles of Incorporation, as 
amended, (ii) Exhibit B the form of Rights Certificate, and (iii) Exhibit C the Summary of the Rights to Purchase Preferred 
Stock) (previously filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.5 

   

Form of Rights Certificate (previously filed as Exhibit B to the Rights Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2001, between 
Insmed Incorporated and First Union National Bank, as Rights Agent, filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Insmed Incorporated’s 
Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 17, 2001 and incorporated 
herein by reference). 

4.6 

   

Form of Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement by and between Insmed Incorporated and each of the investors in the July 
2003 private placement of common stock and warrants to purchase common stock (previously filed as Exhibit 4.6 to Insmed 
Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-107308) on July 24, 2003 and incorporated herein 
by reference). 

4.7 

   

Form of Warrant issued by Insmed Incorporated to each of the investors in July 2003 private placement of common stock 
and warrants to purchase common stock (previously filed as Exhibit 4.7 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on 
Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-107308) on July 24, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.8 

   

Form of Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement by and between Insmed Incorporated and each of the investors in the 
November 2004 private placement of common stock and warrants to purchase common stock (previously filed as Exhibit 
10.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K on November 10, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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4.9 

   

Form of Warrant issued by Insmed Incorporated to each of the investors in November 2004 private placement of common stock 
and warrants to purchase common stock (previously filed as Exhibit B to the Form of Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement by 
and between Insmed Incorporated and each of the investors previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K on November 10, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.10 

   

Form of Purchase Agreement dated March 15, 2005 between Insmed Incorporated and each of the investors in the March 2005 
private placement of notes and warrants to purchase common stock (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K on March 16, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.11 

   

Form of 5.5% Note Due 2008-2010 dated March 15, 2005 between Insmed Incorporated and each of the investors in the March 
2005 private placement of notes and warrants to purchase common stock (previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Insmed 
Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K on March 16, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.12 

   

Form of Warrant dated March 15, 2005 between Insmed Incorporated and each of the investors in the March 2005 private 
placement of notes and warrants to purchase common stock (previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Insmed Incorporated’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K on March 16, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.13 

   

Form of Registration Rights Agreement dated March 15, 2005 between Insmed Incorporated and each of the investors in the 
March 2005 private placement of notes and warrants to purchase common stock (previously filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Insmed 
Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K on March 16, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.14 

   

Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement dated March 15, 2005 between Insmed Incorporated and Wachovia Bank, N.A. (f/k/a 
First Union National Bank) (previously filed as Exhibit 4.5 to Insmed Incorporated’s Current Report on Form 8-K on March 16, 
2005 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.1 
   

Insmed Incorporated 2000 Stock Purchase Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement 
on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098) and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.2 
   

Insmed Incorporated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098) and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.3 

   

Amended and Restated License Agreement between Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the University of Virginia Patent 
Foundation (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 
333-30098) and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.4+ 

   

Subscription, Joint Development and Operating Agreement by and among Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Elan Corporation, plc, 
Elan International Services, Ltd., and Celtrix Newco Ltd. dated as of April 21, 1999 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Insmed 
Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098) and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.5+ 

   

License Agreement by and between Celtrix Newco Ltd. and Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated as of April 21, 1999 (previously 
filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098) and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

10.6+ 

   

License Agreement by and between Celtrix Newco Ltd. and Elan Pharmaceutical Technologies, a division of Elan Corporation, 
plc, dated as of April 21, 1999 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 
(Registration No. 333-30098) and incorporated herein by reference). 
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10.7   

   

License Agreement, dated as of April 1, 1993, between Genentech, Inc. and Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as 
Exhibit 10.11 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098) and incorporated 
herein by reference). 

10.8   

   

Purchase Agreement among Insmed, Inc., Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and certain investors named therein dated January 13, 
2000 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-
30098) and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.9   

   

Form of Warrant of Insmed to be issued pursuant to Purchase Agreement among Insmed Incorporated, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, 
Inc. and certain investors dated January 13, 2000 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-30098) and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.10   

   

Form of Registration Rights Agreement among Insmed Incorporated, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and certain investors party 
to the Purchase Agreement among Insmed Incorporated, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and certain investors dated January 13, 
2000 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Insmed Incorporated’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-
30098) and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.11   
   

Sublease, dated March 30, 2001, between Rhodia Inc. and Insmed Incorporated (previously filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Insmed 
Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.12   

   

Consent to Sublease, dated as of April 12, 2001, among A & W Virginia Corporation, as Landlord, Rhodia Inc., as Tenant, and 
Insmed Incorporated, as Subtenant (previously filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Insmed Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
for the quarter ended March 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.13+   

   

License and Supply Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2003, between Insmed Incorporated and Pharmacia AB (previously 
filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Insmed Incorporated’s Annual Report of Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

10.14   

   

Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2004, between Insmed Incorporated and Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D. (previously filed as Exhibit 
10.17 to the Insmed Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 and incorporated 
herein by reference). 

10.15 * 

   

License Agreement, dated as of January 19, 2004, between Insmed Incorporated and Fujisawa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. 
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Insmed Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2003 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.16   

   

Form of Change of Control Agreement entered into between Insmed Incorporated and certain of its executive officers 
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Insmed Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.17   
   

Form of Executive Stock Option Grant (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.18      Lease between 2545 Central, LLC and Insmed Incorporated made December 14, 2005. 

21.1   
   

Subsidiaries of Insmed Incorporated (previously filed as Exhibit 21.1 to Insmed Incorporated’s Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference). 

23.1      Consent of Ernst & Young LLP. 
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31.1 

   

Certification of Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D., Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Insmed Incorporated, pursuant 
to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003. 

31.2 

   

Certification of Kevin P. Tully, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting 
Officer) of Insmed Incorporated, pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003. 

32.1 
   

Certification of Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D., Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Insmed Incorporated, pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003. 

32.2 

   

Certification of Kevin P. Tully, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting 
Officer) of Insmed Incorporated, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2003. 

+ The Securities and Exchange Commission has granted confidential treatment with respect to certain information in these exhibits. The 
confidential portions of these exhibits have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

* Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions of this exhibit. The confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted 
and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 



Exhibit 10.21 
   

   

LEASE  

Between  

2545 Central, LLC  

and  

Insmed Incorporated  
   



SUMMARY OF BASIC LEASE TERMS  
   

   

   

   

      Boulder, CO 80301  

Type: Single User  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Rent Schedule:  
   

   

Tenant’s Pro Rata Share (for Additional Rent): 100%.  
   

   
i  

Landlord Initials “ILLEGIBLE”
Tenant Initials “ ILLEGIBLE”

1. Tenant: Insmed Incorporated 

  (a) Tenant’s entity and jurisdiction: Delaware corporation 

  (b) Tenant’s federal taxpayer identification number: 54-1972729 

2. Building Address: 5797 Central Avenue 

3. Demised Premises: 

  (a) Entire Building described above containing approx. Total Rentable Square Footage: 15,725+/- 

  (b) Suite Number: 100 

4. Initial Lease Term: 

  (a) Period: Approximately 5 years 

  (b) Commencement Date: January 1, 2006 

  (c) Expiration Date: December 31, 2010 

5. Basic Rent: 

January 1, 2006    to    December 31, 2006    $13,432.00 per month 
January 1, 2007    to    December 31, 2007    $14,103.00 per month 
January 1, 2008    to    December 31, 2008    $16,380.00 per month 
January 1, 2009    to    December 31, 2009    $17,199.00 per month 
January 1, 2010    to    December 31, 2010    $18,059.00 per month 

6. Additional Rent 

7. Security Deposit Amount: $13,432.00 



   

   

   

   

RENT SCHEDULE FOR RENEWAL  
   

   
ii  

Landlord Initials “ILLEGIBLE”
Tenant Initials “ ILLEGIBLE”

8.    Place for Payments:       

   

2545 Central, LLC  
c/o Flatiron Park Company  
5540 Central Avenue  
Boulder, CO 80301        

9.    Place for Notices:       

   2545 Central, LLC    copy to:    Packard & Dierking, LLC 
   c/o Flatiron Park Company       2595 Canyon Blvd., Suite 200 
   5540 Central Avenue       Boulder, CO 80302 
   Boulder, CO 80301       Attn: David M. Packard 
   Fax No.: 303-442-0265       Fax No.: 303-447-0451 
   Telephone No.: 303-442-6995       Telephone No.: 303-447-0450 

   Insmed Incorporated    copy to:    Insmed Incorporated 
   2590 Central Avenue       4851 Lake Brook Drive 
   Boulder, CO 80301       Glen Allen, VA 23060 
   Fax No.:                            Attn: Executive V.P. & Chief 
   Telephone No.:                                        Operating Officer 
         Fax No.: 804-565-3510 
         Telephone No.: 804-565-3022 

10. Permitted Use(s) by Tenant: Research and development and associated lab and administrative offices. 

11. Broker(s): None 

12. Utilities: Direct 

13. Renewal Option: Tenant will have a one-time option to renew the Lease for an additional five (5) year term under the same terms and 
conditions as set forth in the Lease so renewed, with the rent rate (excluding Additional Rent) as set forth below in the following RENT 
SCHEDULE FOR RENEWAL. Such option is governed by Section 3.4 of the Lease. 

January 1, 2011    to    December 31, 2011    $18,962.00 per month 
January 1, 2012    to    December 31, 2012    $19,910.00 per month 
January 1, 2013    to    December 31, 2013    $20,906.00 per month 
January 1, 2014    to    December 31, 2014    $21,951.00 per month 
January 1, 2015    to    December 31, 2015    $23,048.00 per month 



a. This lease will not become effective, if at all, until the occurrence of the following conditions precedent, which conditions must be 
satisfied on or before the Commencement Date designated above:  

1. Landlord receiving from Baxter Hemoglobin Therapeutics Inc. a sum satisfactory to Landlord for all monies due through to the 
Commencement Date under this Lease and the rent shortfall during the remaining term of the lease for the Demised Premises 
between Landlord and Baxter Hemoglobin Therapeutics Inc. which results from acceptance of this Lease.  

2. Landlord and Baxter Hemoglobin Therapeutics Inc. executing an agreement releasing Baxter Hemoglobin Therapeutics Inc., 
Baxter International, Inc. (which entities along with Baxter International, Inc. predecessor Somatogen, Inc. are hereinafter referred 
to as “Baxter”) from their obligations for the Demised Premises. Any release shall be based on terms and condition satisfactory to 
the Landlord, in its sole discretion. If a release agreement cannot be reached between the Landlord and Baxter, then this Lease shall 
be null and void.  

3. Tenant’s receipt of an executed Bill of Sale from Baxter in form satisfactory to Tenant conveying to Tenant the property 
described on Exhibit M.  

4. Landlord will deliver a copy to Tenant of the environmental assessment of the Demised Premises dated November 23, 2005, and 
any follow-up documentation confirming the performance of activities recommended therein.  

b. Landlord will, at its cost, complete the work described on the attached “Schedule 1” in reasonably diligent and workmanlike manner. 
Landlord may complete this work after the Commencement Date.  

   
iii  

Landlord Initials “ILLEGIBLE”
Tenant Initials “ ILLEGIBLE”

14. Other: 
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LEASE  

This Lease is made this 14th day of December 2005, between 2545 Central, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (“Landlord”), 
whose address is c/o Flatiron Park Company, 5540 Central Avenue, Boulder, Colorado 80301, and Insmed Incorporated, a Delaware 
corporation (“Tenant”), whose address is 2590 Central Avenue Boulder, Colorado 80301.  

ARTICLE 1  
GENERAL  

1.1 Consideration . Landlord enters into this Lease in consideration of the payment by Tenant of the rents herein reserved and the 
keeping, observance and performance by Tenant of the covenants and agreements of Tenant herein contained.  

1.2 Exhibits and Addenda to Lease . The Exhibits and Addenda listed below shall be attached to this Lease and be deemed incorporated 
in this Lease by this reference. In the event of any inconsistency or conflict between such Exhibits and Addenda and the terms and provisions 
of this Lease, the terms and provisions of the Exhibits and Addenda shall control. The Attachments, Exhibits and Addenda to this Lease are:  
   

ARTICLE 2  
DEFINITIONS: DEMISE OF PREMISES  

2.1 Demise . Subject to the provisions, covenants and agreements herein contained, Landlord hereby leases and demises to Tenant, and 
Tenant hereby leases from Landlord, the Demised Premises as hereinafter defined, for the Lease Term as hereinafter defined, subject to 
existing covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements and encumbrances affecting the same.  

2.2 Demised Premises . The “Demised Premises” shall mean the space to be occupied by Tenant as depicted on Exhibit B attached 
hereto. The Demised Premises are the entire Building that is located on the Land, as the terms “Building”  and “Land”  are hereinafter defined.  

Summary of Basic Lease Terms 
Exhibit A   Legal Description of Land 
Exhibit B   Location of Demised Premises within Building 
Exhibit C   Notice of Non-Liability for Mechanics’  Liens 
Exhibit D   Form of Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornment Agreement 
Exhibit E   Form of Sublease, Assumption and Consent Agreement 
Exhibit F   Form of Assignment, Assumption and Consent Agreement 
Exhibit G   Form of Estoppel Certificate 
Exhibit H   Environmental Investigation 
Exhibit I   Restoration Obligations 
Exhibit J   Tenant’s equipment 
Exhibit K   Declaration of Protective Covenants 
Schedule 1   Landlord’s Work 



2.3 Square Footage and Address . The Demised Premises contains approximately the rentable floor area set forth in the Summary of 
Basic Lease Terms. The address of the Demised Premises is the address set forth in the Summary of Basic Lease Terms.  

2.4 Land . “Land” shall mean the parcel of real property more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto, as the same may be 
replatted, resubdivided or adjusted from time to time by Landlord; provided, however, that Landlord shall not, without Tenant’s prior written 
approval, replat, resubdivide or adjust the Land in any manner that materially interferes with Tenant’s use of the Demised Premises or its 
ability to carryout the Permitted Use.  

2.5 Building . “Building” shall mean the building or buildings constructed on the Land, as the same may be expanded, remodeled, 
reconstructed or otherwise modified from time to time by Tenant (as permitted pursuant to this Lease) or by Landlord (with Tenant’s prior 
written consent, except as otherwise permitted or required pursuant to the terms of this Lease. If there is more than one building constructed on 
the Land, the term “Building” shall mean collectively all buildings constructed upon the Land.  

2.6 Improvements . “Improvements” shall mean the Building, the Parking Area as hereinafter defined, and all other fixtures and 
improvements on the Land, including landscaping thereon, but notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Lease (except as provided in 
Section 8.23), excluding Tenant’s Equipment, as defined below.  

2.7 Property . “Property” shall mean the Land, the Building and the Improvements and any fixtures and personal property used in 
operation and maintenance of the Land, Building and Improvements, excluding Tenant’s Equipment.  

2.8 Common Facilities . “Common Facilities” shall mean all of the Property that is intended to be used by Tenant (in common with other 
tenants, if any), except (a) the Demised Premises and (b) the other premises in the Building leased or held for lease to other tenants, if any. 
Common Facilities shall include, without limitation, the Parking Area and any walks, driveways, and, if applicable, lobby areas, halls, stairs, 
elevators, restrooms, utility rooms, and janitorial closets designed for common use of Tenant and other users of space in the Building.  

2.9 Parking Area . “Parking Area” shall mean that portion of the Land that is or is to be paved and otherwise improved or designated 
unimproved land for the parking of motor vehicles. Landlord shall not be responsible for any injuries to any person nor any damage to any 
automobile, vehicle or other property that occurs in or about the Parking Area, except to the extent caused by the gross negligence or willful 
misconduct of Landlord or its agents, contractors or employees. Tenant may operate multiple work shifts in the Demised Premises, and 
Landlord acknowledges that Tenant and Tenant’s employees, agents, invitees and contractors may park vehicles in the Parking Area at all 
hours of the day. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant may not park trucks or truck trailers in the Parking Area other than for short term 
purposes of loading and unloading.  

2.10 Use of Common Facilities and Parking Area . Tenant is hereby granted the non-exclusive right and license to use, in common with 
other tenants in the Building, if any, the Common Facilities, as they from time to time exist, subject to the rights of Landlord reserved herein. 
Tenant shall not interfere, at any time, with the rights of Landlord and others entitled to use any part of the Common Facilities, and shall not 
store, either permanently or temporarily, any materials, supplies or equipment on the Common Facilities. Landlord shall have the right, at any 
time, to change, reduce or otherwise alter the Common Facilities, in its sole discretion and without compensation to Tenant; provided, however, 
that Landlord shall  
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provide reasonable parking in the Parking Areas, loading areas and access to the Demised Premises to Tenant. If there are multiple tenants in 
the Building, Landlord shall have the right at any time to assign spaces in the Parking Area to individual tenants, in its sole discretion, provided 
that Landlord shall provide a reasonable number of spaces for Tenant. Landlord shall not be responsible for any injuries to any person nor any 
damage to any automobile, vehicle or other property that occurs in or about the Parking Area. Tenant shall not park nor permit the parking of 
any vehicles in the Parking Area overnight without Landlord’s prior, written permission.  

2.11 Covenant of Quiet Enjoyment . Landlord covenants and agrees that, provided Tenant is not in default beyond any applicable cure 
period, Tenant shall have quiet and peaceable possession of the Demised Premises and such possession shall not be disturbed or interfered with 
by Landlord or by any person claiming by, through or under Landlord.  

2.12 Condition of Demised Premises . Except as otherwise provided in this Lease (or an Exhibit or Addenda hereto), Tenant covenants 
and agrees that, upon taking possession of the Demised Premises, Tenant shall be deemed to have accepted the Demised Premises “as is” and 
Tenant shall be deemed to have waived any warranty of condition or habitability, suitability for occupancy, use or habitation, fitness for a 
particular purpose or merchantability, express or implied, relating to the Demised Premises.  

2.13 Tenant’s Equipment . “Tenant’s Equipment” shall mean all trade fixtures (whether movable or attached to the real estate), 
equipment, apparatus, machinery, signs, furniture, furnishings and personal property of Tenant or Tenant’s employees, agents, invitees or 
contractors, including, without limitation, the equipment and personal property listed on Exhibit J hereto. Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary in this Lease (except Section 8.23), Landlord acknowledges and agrees that no Tenant’s Equipment shall become the property of 
Landlord, or shall become part of the real estate, or shall cease to be Tenant’s Equipment as a result of it being installed upon, affixed to or 
attached to real estate, the Land, the Building, the Demised Premises, or the Improvements.  

ARTICLE 3  
TERM OF LEASE  

3.1 Lease Term . “Lease Term” shall mean the period of time specified in the Summary of Basic Lease Terms commencing at midnight 
on the Commencement Date as defined below and expiring at midnight on the Expiration Date, as specified in the Summary of Basic Lease 
Terms.  

3.2 Commencement Date . The term “Commencement Date” shall mean the later of the Commencement Date set forth in the Summary of 
Basic Lease Terms.  

3.3 Early Occupancy or Entry . In the event Landlord permits Tenant or its agents or contractors to occupy or enter the Demised Premises 
for any reason prior to the Commencement Date, and Tenant avails itself of such right, then Tenant shall be subject to all terms and provisions 
hereof.  

3.4 Option to Renew . Subject to requirements for exercising same set forth in this Lease, Landlord hereby grants to Tenant a one-time 
option to renew the Lease for one (1) additional five (5) year term under the same terms and conditions as set forth herein and with the Basic 
Rent as set forth on the Summary of Basic Lease Terms. Tenant shall exercise such option by giving written notice of its election to exercise; 
provided that (i) such written election must be given on or before July 1, 2008, prior to the expiration of the then-existing Lease Term, and 
(ii) such written election shall be null and void in the event that Tenant, at the time of Landlord’s receipt of same, is in default beyond any 
applicable cure  
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period. If Tenant does not timely provide such notice in accordance with this Section 3.4, the option shall lapse and thereafter be null and void. 
Upon timely exercise of such notice, the Lease shall be deemed to be extended for the additional period at the Basic Rent as set forth herein and 
pursuant to all other terms and conditions set forth in the Lease.  

ARTICLE 4  
RENT AND OTHER AMOUNTS PAYABLE  

4.1 Basic Rent . Tenant covenants and agrees to pay to Landlord, without offset, deduction or abatement, basic rent for the full Lease 
Term in the amount specified as or calculable from Basic Rent in the Summary of Basic Lease Terms (“Basic Rent”).  

4.2 Monthly Rental . Basic Rent shall be payable monthly in advance, without notice, in equal installments, together with installments of 
Additional Rent. Each installment of Basic Rent shall be in the amount of monthly rent specified in the rent schedule in the Summary of Basic 
Lease Terms (“Monthly Rental”). The first such monthly installment shall be due and payable on or before the Commencement Date and a like 
monthly installment shall be due and payable on or before the first day of each calendar month succeeding the Commencement Date during the 
Lease Term, except that the rental payment for any fractional calendar month at the commencement or end of the Lease Term shall be prorated 
based on a thirty (30) day month.  

4.3 Place of Payments . Basic Rent and all other sums payable by Tenant to Landlord under this Lease shall be paid to Landlord at the 
place for payments specified in the Summary of Basic Lease Terms, or such other place as Landlord may, from time to time, designate in 
writing.  

4.4 Lease a Net Lease and Rent Absolute . It is the intent of the parties that the Basic Rent provided in this Lease shall be a net payment 
to Landlord; that, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Lease shall continue for the full Lease Term notwithstanding any 
occurrence preventing or restricting use and occupancy of the Demised Premises, including any damage or destruction affecting the Demised 
Premises, and any action by governmental authority relating to or affecting the Demised Premises; that the Basic Rent shall be absolutely 
payable without offset, reduction or abatement for any cause except as otherwise specifically provided in this Lease; that Landlord shall not 
bear any costs or expenses relating to the Demised Premises or provide any services or do any act in connection with the Demised Premises 
except as otherwise specifically provided in this Lease; and that Tenant shall pay, in addition to Basic Rent, Additional Rent to cover costs and 
expenses relating to the Demised Premises, the Common Facilities, and the Property, all as hereinafter provided.  

4.5 Additional Rent . Tenant covenants and agrees to pay directly to third parties or as Additional Rent, as applicable, all costs and 
expenses relating to the Demised Premises including utilities, maintenance and repair thereof; Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of all costs and 
expenses relating to the Common Facilities, pursuant to Section 7.2 hereof; Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of all Taxes and Assessments (hereinafter 
defined) and costs and expenses of Casualty Insurance (hereinafter defined); all costs and expenses of Liability Insurance (hereinafter defined) 
and other insurance described in Section 6.3 below; and all other costs and expenses that Tenant is obligated to pay under this Lease; except 
that Tenant is not obligated to pay sums expressly allocated to Landlord under other provisions of this Lease.  

4.6 Tenant’s Pro Rata Share . “Tenant’s Pro Rata Share” shall mean the percentage set forth in the Summary of Basic Lease Terms as 
Tenant’s Pro Rata Share, which is the percentage derived by dividing the approximate rentable floor area of the Demised Premises, as set forth 
in the Summary of Basic Lease  
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Terms, by the approximate rentable floor area within the Building, as set forth in the Summary of Basic Lease Terms. The percentage set forth 
in the Summary of Basic Lease Terms shall be conclusive and not subject to adjustment for remeasurement of the area of the Demised 
Premises or the Building. Landlord may modify Tenant’s Pro Rata Share from time to time based upon any increase or reduction in the rentable 
floor area of the Building or of the Demised Premises.  

4.7 Monthly Deposits for Taxes, Insurance, and Common Facilities Charges . Tenant will pay to Landlord, monthly in advance, without 
notice, on each day that payment of Monthly Rental is due, amounts, as hereinafter specified, for payment of Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Taxes 
and Assessments (defined in Section 5.1), Casualty Insurance (defined in Section 6.1), Liability Insurance, if applicable (defined in 
Section 6.2), Common Facilities Charges (defined in Section 7.2), and any other charges payable with respect to the Property hereunder as 
Additional Rent (collectively “Monthly Deposits”) and, if the Monthly Deposits are insufficient to pay Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of the actual 
cost of such items, to pay to Landlord, within twenty (20) days after written demand by Landlord, such amounts as are necessary to provide 
Landlord with sufficient funds to pay Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of the same. The Monthly Deposits shall each be equal to Tenant’s Pro Rata 
Share of 1/12 of the amounts, as reasonably estimated and re-estimated from time to time by Landlord (Tenant to receive written notice from 
time to time of each such estimate or re-estimate), of the annual Taxes and Assessments, annual Casualty Insurance premiums, annual Liability 
Insurance premiums, and annual Common Facilities Charges payable with respect to the Property. The initial Monthly Deposit shall be subject 
to adjustment as herein provided. To the extent the Monthly Deposits exceed Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of the actual cost of such items, the 
excess amount shall, at Landlord’s option, except as may be otherwise provided by law, either be paid to Tenant or credited against future 
Monthly Deposits or against Basic Rent, Additional Rent or other amounts payable by Tenant under this Lease. If Tenant so requests in writing 
within thirty (30) days after the date of Landlord’s annual reconciliation of Monthly Deposits, Landlord shall furnish Tenant with a copy of 
invoices or receipts for Taxes, Insurance, and Common Facilities Charges. The amounts of such taxes, insurance premiums and expenses 
payable by Tenant for the years in which the Lease Term commences and expires shall be subject to the provisions hereinafter contained in this 
Lease for proration of such amounts in such years. Prior to the dates on which payment is due for such items, Landlord shall make payment of 
the same. Except for Landlord’s obligation to make payments, the making of Monthly Deposits by Tenant shall not limit or alter Tenant’s 
obligation to pay taxes and assessments and to maintain insurance as elsewhere provided in this Lease.  

4.8 Security Deposit . Upon execution of this Lease, Tenant shall deposit with Landlord, the amount specified as a security deposit in the 
Summary of Basic Lease Terms (“Security Deposit”). The Security Deposit shall be retained by Landlord and may be applied by Landlord, to 
the extent necessary, to pay and cover any loss, cost, damage or expense, including attorneys’ fees, sustained by Landlord by reason of the 
failure of Tenant to comply with any provisions, covenant or agreement of Tenant contained in this Lease. To the extent not necessary to cover 
such loss, cost, damage or expense, the Security Deposit, without any interest thereon, shall be returned to Tenant within sixty (60) days after 
expiration of the Lease Term or as may be otherwise provided by law; provided, however, that Landlord may also deduct any amount from the 
Security Deposit Landlord estimates may be required to cover any shortfall in Additional Rent deposits made by Tenant in the final year of the 
Lease until such time as Landlord has completed its annual Additional Rent reconciliation for such year in which event any excess will be 
returned to Tenant. The Security Deposit shall not be considered as an advance payment of rent or as a measure of the loss, cost, damage or 
expense that is or may be sustained by Landlord. In the event all or any portion of the Security Deposit is applied by Landlord to pay any such 
loss, cost, damage or expense, Tenant shall, from time to time, promptly upon written demand, deposit with Landlord such amounts as may be 
necessary to replenish the Security Deposit to its original amount.  
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4.9 General Provisions as to Monthly Deposits and Security Deposit . Landlord shall not be required to hold the Security Deposit in an 
escrow or trust deposit account, and Landlord may commingle the Monthly Deposits with Landlord’s own funds. Landlord shall not be 
obligated to pay interest to Tenant on account of the Monthly Deposits and Security Deposit. In the event of a transfer by Landlord of 
Landlord’s interest in the Demised Premises, Landlord or the property manager of Landlord will deliver the Monthly Deposits and Security 
Deposit to the transferee of Landlord’s interest and Landlord and such property manager shall thereupon be discharged from any further 
liability to Tenant with respect to such Monthly Deposits and Security Deposit. In the event of a transfer by Tenant of Tenant’s interest in the 
Demised Premises, Landlord shall be entitled to return the Monthly Deposits and Security Deposit to Tenant’s successor in interest and 
Landlord shall thereupon be discharged from any further liability with respect to the Monthly Deposits and Security Deposit.  

4.10 Rent Regulations . If the Basic Rent, Additional Rent, or any other amounts to be paid by Tenant to Landlord hereunder is or 
becomes at any time subject to regulation by law such that they exceed the maximum rental or other amounts permitted by such laws, then the 
rent or other amounts to be so paid shall be the maximum rental or other amounts permitted by said laws.  

ARTICLE 5  
TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS  

5.1 Covenant to Pay Taxes and Assessments . Tenant covenants and agrees to pay, as Additional Rent, Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Taxes 
and Assessments, as hereinafter defined, which accrue during or are attributable to the Lease Term. “Taxes and Assessments” shall mean all 
taxes, assessments or other impositions, general or special, ordinary or extraordinary, or every kind or nature, which may be levied, assessed or 
imposed upon or with respect to the Property or any part thereof, or upon any building, improvements or personal property at any time situated 
thereon.  

5.2 Proration at Commencement and Expiration of Term . Taxes and Assessments shall be prorated between Landlord and Tenant for the 
year in which the Lease Term commences and for the year in which the Lease Term expires as of, respectively, the date of commencement of 
the Lease Term and the date of expiration of the Lease Term, except as herein provided. Additionally, for the year in which the Lease Term 
expires, Tenant shall be liable without proration for the full amount of Taxes and Assessments relating to any improvements, fixtures, 
equipment or personal property that Tenant is required to remove or in fact removes as of the expiration of the Lease Term. Proration of Taxes 
and Assessments shall be made on the basis of actual Taxes and Assessments. Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Taxes and Assessments for the years 
in which the Lease Term commences and expires shall be paid and deposited with Landlord through Monthly Deposits as hereinabove 
provided, but, in the event actual Taxes and Assessments for either year are greater or less than as estimated for purposes of Monthly Deposits, 
appropriate adjustment and payment shall be made between the parties, at the time the actual Taxes and are known, as may be necessary to 
accomplish proration, as hereinafter provided, and such obligation shall survive the termination or expiration of this Lease.  

5.3 Special Assessments . If any Taxes or Assessments are payable in installments over a period of years, Tenant shall be responsible 
only for installments payable for periods during the Lease Term with proration, as above provided, of any installment payable prior to or after 
expiration of the Lease Term.  

5.4 New or Additional Taxes . Tenant’s obligation to pay Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of Taxes and Assessments shall include any Taxes and 
Assessments of a nature not presently in effect but that may hereafter be levied, assessed or imposed upon Landlord or upon the Property if 
such tax shall be based upon  
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or arise out of the ownership, use or operation of or the rents received from the Property, other than income taxes or estate taxes of Landlord. 
For the purposes of computing Tenant’s liability for such new type of tax or assessment, the Property shall be deemed the only Property of 
Landlord.  

5.5 Landlord’s Sole Right to Contest Taxes . Landlord shall have the sole right to contest any Taxes or Assessments. Landlord shall pay 
to or credit Tenant with Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of any abatement, reduction or recovery of any Taxes and Assessments attributable to the 
Lease Term less Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of all costs and expenses incurred by Landlord, including attorneys’ fees, in connection with such 
abatement, reduction or recovery.  

ARTICLE 6  
INSURANCE  

6.1 Casualty Insurance . Landlord covenants and agrees to obtain and keep in full force and effect during the Lease Term, Casualty 
Insurance as hereinafter defined. “Casualty Insurance” shall mean property insurance including “all risk” coverage with respect to the Property, 
in an amount equal to the full replacement cost thereof, with coinsurance clauses of no less than ninety percent (90%), and with coverage, by 
endorsement or otherwise, for all risks, vandalism and malicious mischief, sprinkler leakage, boilers, and rental loss and with a deductible in 
reasonable amount for each occurrence as Landlord may determine from time to time. Casualty Insurance obtained by Landlord shall name 
Tenant as an insured party and may, at Landlord’s option, name any mortgagee or holder of a deed of trust as an insured party as its interest 
may appear. Tenant covenants and agrees to pay, as Additional Rent, its Pro Rata Share of the cost of Casualty Insurance obtained by Landlord, 
and to pay, as Additional Rent, its Pro Rata Share of the cost of any deductible under such Casualty Insurance as provided by Section 10.5. 
Tenant shall be responsible for obtaining, at Tenant’s option, cost and expense, insurance coverage for personal property and leasehold 
improvements of Tenant and for business interruption of Tenant.  

6.2 Liability Insurance . Tenant covenants and agrees to obtain and keep in full force and effect during the Lease Term, and to pay the 
premiums and costs of, Liability Insurance as herein defined. “Liability Insurance” shall mean comprehensive or commercial general liability 
insurance covering public liability for claims for bodily injury, personal injury, and property damage with respect to the use and operation of 
the Demised Premises and the Common Facilities, with limits of not less than two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) combined single limit of 
liability, with endorsements for assumed contractual liability with respect to the liabilities assumed by Tenant under Sections 8.24 and 9.2 of 
this Lease, and with no deductible, retention or self-insurance provision contained therein, unless otherwise approved in writing by Landlord. 
The coverage limits may be satisfied by a comprehensive or commercial general liability policy with limits of not less than one million dollars 
($1,000,000.00) combined with a liability excess policy with limits of not less than two million dollars ($2,000,000.00). Landlord may, at its 
sole cost, also obtain and keep in full force and effect during the Lease Term liability insurance covering public liability with respect to the 
ownership, use and operation of the Property.  

6.3 Other Insurance . Tenant covenants and agrees to obtain and keep in full force and effect during the Lease Term, and to pay the 
premiums and costs of, any other types of insurance relating to the Property or Tenant’s occupancy, use, and operation of the Demised 
Premises that any mortgagee or holder of a deed of trust on the Property may hereafter reasonably require. Tenant shall cause such other 
insurance to be in effect within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice from Landlord. Landlord may obtain insurance coverage for lost 
rental income, the cost of which shall be paid by Tenant as Additional Rent.  
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6.4 General Provisions Respecting Insurance . Except as otherwise approved in writing by Landlord, all insurance obtained by Tenant 
shall be on forms and with insurers selected or approved by Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld; and shall name 
Landlord, and, upon written request by Landlord providing all requisite information, Landlord’s manager(s) and agent(s), and the holder of any 
mortgage or deed of trust encumbering the Property, their interests may appear as insured, or additional insured, parties. All insurance obtained 
by either party as provided herein shall contain a waiver of rights of subrogation as among Tenant, Landlord and the holder of any such 
mortgage or deed of trust and by the respective insurers by endorsement; shall provide coverage on an occurrence basis; and shall provide, by 
certificate of insurance or otherwise, that the insurance coverage shall not be canceled or altered except upon thirty (30) days’ prior written 
notice to the other party and the holder of any such mortgage or deed of trust on the Demised Premises. Certificates of insurance obtained by 
Tenant shall be delivered to Landlord who may deposit the same with the holder of any such first mortgage or deed of trust. Upon written 
request, each party agrees to provide the other with copies of all policies of insurance obtained by such party hereunder.  

6.5 Cooperation in the Event of Loss. Landlord and Tenant shall cooperate with each other in the collection of any insurance proceeds 
that may be payable in the event of any loss, including the execution and delivery of any proof of loss or other actions required to effect 
recovery.  

ARTICLE 7  
UTILITY, OPERATING, MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR EXPENSES  

7.1 Utility Charges . Tenant covenants and agrees to contract for in Tenant’s own name and to pay directly to the utility providers, all 
charges for water, sewage, disposal, storm drainage fees, gas, electricity, light, heat, power, telephone or other utility services used, rendered or 
supplied to or for the Demised Premises. If any such utility charges are not separately metered or billable to the Demised Premises, then 
(i) Landlord shall have the right to apportion utility charges based upon Landlord’s reasonable estimation of relative use of such utilities, and 
(ii) Tenant shall the right to cause such utilities to be separately metered at Tenant’s sole expense. In the event, from time to time, that Tenant 
shall fail to make payments to utility providers, as required above when due and payable, Landlord shall have the right at its option, to pay any 
and all amounts owing, and Tenant shall immediately reimburse Landlord for same upon written notice of such payment by Landlord, such 
reimbursement obligation to constitute Additional Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord the apportioned amount of such utilities as Additional 
Rent. In the event of an interruption of utilities or services necessary to Tenant’s use of the Demised Premises or its ability to carry out its 
Permitted Use, but only if such interruption is not caused by Tenant, Landlord will cooperate and exercise commercially reasonable efforts to 
assist Tenant with regaining service.  

7.2 Common Facilities Charges . Tenant covenants and agrees to pay, as Additional Rent, Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of those costs and 
expenses that are incurred by Landlord during the term of operating, repairing, maintaining and upkeep of the Common Facilities including, 
without limitation, upkeep and replanting of grass, trees, shrubs and landscaping; removal of dirt, debris, obstructions and litter from Parking 
Areas, landscaped areas, sidewalks and driveways; repairs, resurfacing, resealing, restriping, sweeping and snow removal from the Parking 
Areas, sidewalks and driveways; sprinkler systems; building signs; stairways; heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems; utilities for the 
Common Facilities; fire protection systems and sprinkler systems; exterior painting; roof membranes, including penetrations of the membranes; 
water and sewage disposal systems; storm drainage systems; supplies, personnel, and the cost of any rental of equipment in implementing such 
services; charges for professional management of the Property and Common Facilities; the wages, salaries, benefits and payroll taxes paid by 
Landlord with respect to its non-supervisory employees (to the extent reasonably allocable to providing such services with  
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respect to the Common Facilities); all alterations, additions, improvements and other changes made to the Improvements in order to conform to 
changes subsequent to the date of this Lease in any laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any applicable governmental authority, 
subject to amortization of such costs at a market rate of interest over the useful life thereof, as determined by Landlord’s accountants; and 
personal property taxes, licenses and permits (to the extent reasonably allocable to providing such services to the Common Facilities). Landlord 
may cause any or all of such services to be provided by employees of Landlord or by independent contractor(s) and subcontractor(s). Tenant 
shall pay to Landlord, monthly in advance, without notice, on each day that payment of Monthly Rental is due, the estimated monthly charge 
for the Common Facilities, as determined and redetermined from time to time by Landlord in accordance with Section 4.7 above. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 7.2, Tenant shall not be required to pay, as Additional Rent or otherwise (and 
Landlord shall bear) all costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with maintaining, replacing or improving the Property (or any 
portion thereof) to the extent such costs and expenses (i) are for improvements or replacements having a useful life of five (5) years or more, as 
determined by Landlord’s accountants (excepting those incurred in connection with roof membranes or alterations, additions, improvements 
and other changes made to the Improvements in order to conform to changes subsequent to the date of this Lease in any laws, ordinances, rules, 
regulations or orders of any applicable governmental authority, as provided above), (ii) constitute legal, accounting, consulting or other 
professional fees or leasing fees, (iii) were incurred in connection with improvements made for the benefit of occupants of other buildings or 
properties, or to prepare space for occupancy by a purchaser or a new tenant, (iv) are reimbursed by third parties or (v) result from the gross 
negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or its agents, contractors, invitees or employees.  

7.3 Tenant’s Maintenance Obligation . Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall maintain, repair, replace (at Tenant’s reasonable option) 
and keep the Demised Premises and all non-structural improvements, fixtures and personal property (excluding Tenant’s Equipment) thereon 
(including, for purposes of this paragraph and without limitation, the heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems, fire protection systems 
and sprinkler systems, Tenant’s Equipment, the electrical, lighting and communications conduits, wires, switches and other electrical fixtures 
and the plumbing pipes, valves, meters and other plumbing fixtures for water and sewer) in good, safe and sanitary condition, order and repair 
and in accordance with all applicable laws, ordinances, orders, rules and regulations of governmental authorities having jurisdiction, ordinary 
wear and tear, casualty and condemnation excepted. Tenant will perform or contract for and promptly pay for trash and garbage disposal, 
janitorial and cleaning services, security services, interior painting, interior window washing, replacement of damaged or broken glass and 
other breakable materials, replacement of interior light bulbs and light fixtures in or serving the Demised Premises. All costs of maintenance 
and repairs to be performed by Tenant in accordance herewith, but incurred instead by Landlord, shall be considered Additional Rent 
hereunder. All maintenance and repairs to be performed by Tenant shall be done promptly, in a good and workmanlike fashion, and without 
diminishing the original quality of the Demised Premises or the Property. Tenant shall maintain the heating, ventilation and air conditioning 
equipment located in or about the Building by a contractor reasonably acceptable to Landlord.  

7.4 Landlord’s Maintenance Obligation . Landlord shall be responsible for and shall bear the costs and expenses of replacement of, or 
extraordinary maintenance and repairs to, structural aspects of the roofs, foundations, exterior walls, and other structural elements of the 
Building and keep such structural elements in good and safe condition, order and repair. Landlord shall also maintain and repair the Common 
Facilities and provide routine maintenance of the structural elements, and Tenant shall pay its Pro Rata Share of all costs and expenses with 
respect thereto pursuant to Section 7.2 above.  
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ARTICLE 8  
OTHER COVENANTS OF TENANT  

8.1 Limitation on Use by Tenant . Tenant covenants and agrees to use the Demised Premises only for the use or uses set forth as 
Permitted Uses by Tenant in the Summary of Basic Lease Terms and for no other purposes, except with the prior written consent of Landlord. 
Landlord has made no investigation of and makes no representations or warranties whatsoever regarding the permissibility of Tenant’s 
Permitted Uses under applicable zoning or land use laws, rules, regulations or approvals.  

8.2 Compliance with Laws . Tenant covenants and agrees that at all times during the Lease Term, Tenant’s use of the Demised Premises 
shall be in compliance with all zoning, land use, and other applicable laws, rules, and regulations with respect thereto, and that nothing shall be 
done or kept on the Demised Premises in violation of applicable law, ordinance, order, rule or regulation of any governmental authority having 
jurisdiction, and that the Demised Premises shall be used, kept and maintained in compliance with any such law, ordinance, order, rule or 
regulation and with the certificate of occupancy issued for the Building and/or the Demised Premises; provided, however, that nothing in this 
Section 8.2 is intended, or shall be construed, to require Tenant to make or to pay for alterations, improvements or replacements to or of the 
Property (or any portion thereof) except those that may be required as a result of Tenant’s or Baxter’s use or alteration of the Demised Premises 
or Tenant’s business operations.  

8.3 Compliance with Insurance Requirements . Tenant covenants and agrees that should anything be done or kept at the Demised 
Premises on the part of Tenant or Tenant’s employees, agents, invitees or contractors that increases the cost of insurance maintained with 
respect to the Demised Premises or the Property, then Tenant shall bear the full economic effect of such increase in premiums.  

8.4 No Waste or Impairment of Value . Tenant covenants and agrees that nothing shall be done or kept on the Demised Premises or the 
Property that would impair the value of the Demised Premises or the Property, or that would constitute excessive wear and tear or waste.  

8.5 No Overloading . Tenant covenants and agrees that nothing shall be done or kept on the Demised Premises or the Building and that no 
improvements, changes, alterations, additions, maintenance or repairs shall be made to the Demised Premises that might impair the structural 
soundness of the Building, Improvements, or Parking Area, that might result in an overload of electrical lines serving the Building or cause 
excessive tripping of circuit breakers, that might interfere with any telephone lines or equipment or any other electric or electronic equipment in 
the Building or on any adjacent or nearby property, that might place excessive demands on or exceed the capacity of the water lines or sewer 
lines servicing the Building, or that might in any other way overload any portion of the Property or Improvements or any equipment or 
facilities servicing the same. In the event of violations hereof, Tenant covenants and agrees to immediately remedy the violation at Tenant’s 
expense and in compliance with all requirements of governmental authorities and insurance underwriters.  

8.6 No Nuisance, Noxious or Offensive Activity . Tenant covenants and agrees that no noxious or offensive activity shall be carried on 
upon the Demised Premises or the Property nor shall anything be done or kept on the Demised Premises or the Property that may be or become 
a public or private nuisance or that is likely to cause disturbance or annoyance to others on adjacent or nearby property.  

8.7 No Annoying Lights, Sounds or Odors . Tenant covenants and agrees that no light shall be emitted from the Demised Premises that is 
unreasonably bright or causes unreasonable glare; no sound shall be emitted from the Demised Premises that is unreasonably loud or annoying; 
and no odor shall be emitted from the Demised Premises that is or might be noxious or offensive to others in the Building or on adjacent or 
nearby property.  
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8.8 No Unsightliness . Tenant covenants and agrees that no unsightliness shall be permitted on the Demised Premises or the Property that 
is visible from any adjacent or nearby property. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all unsightly conditions, equipment, objects 
and conditions shall be kept enclosed within the Demised Premises; no refuse, scrap, debris, garbage, trash, bulk materials or waste shall be 
kept, stored or allowed to accumulate on the Demised Premises or the Property except as may be enclosed within the Demised Premises; all 
pipes, wires, poles, antennas and other facilities for utilities or the transmission or reception of audio or visual signals or electricity shall be 
kept and maintained underground or enclosed within the Demised Premises or appropriately screened from view; and no temporary structure 
shall be placed or permitted on the Demised Premises or the Property without the prior written consent of Landlord.  

8.9 No Animals . Tenant covenants and agrees that no animals shall be permitted or kept on the Demised Premises or the Property; 
provided, however, that nothing herein shall be construed as prohibiting qualified service animals that may not be legally excluded from the 
Demised Premises or Property pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act or any similar law, rule or regulation applicable to the Property.  

8.10 Restriction on Signs and Exterior Lighting . Tenant covenants and agrees that no signs or advertising devices of any nature shall be 
erected or maintained by Tenant on the Demised Premises or the Property and no exterior lighting shall be permitted on the Demised Premises 
or the Property except as approved in writing by Landlord, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  

8.11 No Violation of Covenants . Tenant covenants and agrees not to commit, suffer or permit any violation of any covenant, condition or 
restriction affecting the Demised Premises or the Property.  

8.12 Restriction on Changes and Alterations . Tenant covenants and agrees not to improve, change, alter, add to, remove or demolish any 
improvements on the Demised Premises, (“Changes”), without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned or delayed, and unless Tenant complies with all reasonable conditions that may be imposed by Landlord in connection 
with such consent; and unless Tenant pays to Landlord the reasonable costs and expenses of Landlord for architectural, engineering, legal or 
other consulting that may be reasonably incurred by Landlord in determining whether to approve any such Changes. Landlord’s consent to any 
Changes and the conditions imposed in connection therewith shall be subject to all requirements and restrictions of any holder of a mortgage or 
deed of trust encumbering the Property. If such consent is given, no such changes shall be permitted unless Tenant shall have procured and paid 
for all necessary permits and authorizations from any governmental authorities having jurisdiction; unless such Changes will not reduce the 
value of the Property, and will not affect or impair existing insurance on the Property; and unless Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, 
shall maintain or cause to be maintained workmen’s compensation (to the extent required by applicable law) covering all persons employed in 
connection with the work and obtains liability insurance covering any loss or damage to persons or property arising in connection with any 
such Changes and such other insurance or bonds as Landlord may reasonably require. Tenant covenants and agrees that any such Changes 
approved by Landlord shall be completed with due diligence and in a good and workmanlike fashion and in compliance with all conditions 
imposed by Landlord and all applicable permits, authorizations, laws, ordinances, orders, rules and regulations of governmental authorities 
having jurisdiction and that the costs and expenses with respect to such Changes shall be paid promptly when due and that the Changes shall be 
accomplished free of liens of mechanics and  
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materialmen. Tenant covenants and agrees that all such Changes (except to the extent they constitute Tenant’s Equipment, whether or not 
affixed or attached to the real estate) shall become the property of Landlord at the expiration of the Lease Term if and to the extent that 
Landlord relieves Tenant from its Restoration Obligations at the expiration or termination of this Lease.  

8.13 No Mechanic’s Liens . Tenant covenants and agrees not to permit or suffer, and to cause to be removed and released, any 
mechanic’s, materialmen’s or other lien on account of supplies, machinery, tools, equipment, labor or material furnished or used in connection 
with the construction, alteration, improvement, addition to or repair of the Demised Premises by, through or under Tenant. At least fifteen 
(15) days prior to any Changes, Tenant shall provide written notice to Landlord of the date of commencement of any Changes. Prior to the 
commencement of any Changes, Tenant shall post in conspicuous locations and maintain on the Demised Premises and Building Notices of 
Owner’s Non-Liability in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C or in such other form as Landlord may from time to time reasonably require in 
writing. Tenant shall have the right to contest, in good faith and with reasonable diligence, the validity of any such lien or claimed lien, 
provided that Tenant shall give to Landlord such security as may be reasonably requested by Landlord to insure the payment of any amounts 
claimed, including interest and costs, and to prevent any sale, foreclosure or forfeiture of any interest in the Property on account of any such 
lien, including, without limitation, bonding, escrow or endorsement of the title insurance policy of Landlord and any holder of a mortgage or 
deed of trust encumbering the Property. If Tenant so contests, then on final determination of the lien or claim for lien, Tenant shall immediately 
pay any judgment rendered, with interest and costs, if any, and will cause the lien to be released and any judgment satisfied.  

8.14 No Other Encumbrances . Tenant covenants and agrees not to obtain any financing secured by Tenant’s interest in the Demised 
Premises and not to encumber the Demised Premises or Landlord’s or Tenant’s interest therein, without the prior written consent of Landlord, 
and to keep the Demised Premises free from all liens and encumbrances except liens and encumbrances existing upon the date of 
commencement of the Lease Term or liens and encumbrances created by Landlord or otherwise outside the control of Tenant.  

8.15 Subordination to Landlord Mortgages . Tenant covenants and agrees that this Lease and Tenant’s interest in the Demised Premises 
shall be junior and subordinate to any mortgage or deed of trust now or hereafter encumbering the Property. In the event of a foreclosure of any 
such mortgage or deed of trust, Tenant shall attorn to the party acquiring title to the Property as the result of such foreclosure. No act or further 
agreement by Tenant shall be necessary to establish the subordination of this Lease to any such mortgage or deed of trust, which is self-
executing, but Tenant covenants and agrees, upon request to Landlord, to execute such documents as may be reasonably necessary or 
appropriate to confirm and establish this Lease as subordinate to any such mortgage or deed of trust in accordance with the foregoing 
provisions, including, without limitation, the form of Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornment Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 
D . Alternatively, Tenant covenants and agrees that, at the option of any mortgagee or beneficiary under a deed of trust, Tenant shall execute 
documents as may be reasonably necessary to establish this Lease and Tenant’s interest in the Demised Premises as superior to any such 
mortgage or deed of trust. If Tenant fails to execute any documents required to be executed by Tenant under the provisions hereof, Tenant 
hereby makes, constitutes and irrevocably appoints Landlord as Tenant’s attorney in fact and in Tenant’s name, place and stead to execute any 
such document. In the event Tenant requests any changes or revisions to any such document or agreement, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, within 
ten (10) days after demand by Landlord, the reasonable costs and expenses of Landlord in connection with the negotiation, drafting, and 
revision thereof, including attorneys’ fees.  
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8.16 Assignment or Subletting . Tenant covenants and agrees not to make or permit a Transfer by Tenant, as hereinafter defined, without 
Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. A Transfer by Tenant shall include 
an assignment of this Lease, a sublease of all or any part of the Demised Premises or any assignment, sublease, license, franchise, transfer, 
mortgage, pledge or encumbrance of all or any part of Tenant’s interest under this Lease or in the Demised Premises, by operation of law or 
otherwise, or the use or occupancy of all or any part of the Demised Premises by anyone other than Tenant. Any such Transfer by Tenant 
without Landlord’s written consent shall be void and shall constitute a default under this Lease. In the event Landlord consents to any Transfer 
by Tenant, Tenant shall not be relieved of its obligations under this Lease and Tenant shall remain liable, jointly and severally and as a 
principal, and not as a guarantor or surety, under this Lease, to the same extent as though no Transfer by Tenant had been made, unless 
specifically provided to the contrary in Landlord’s prior written consent. The acceptance of rent by Landlord from any person other than Tenant 
shall not be deemed to be a waiver by Landlord of the provisions of this Section or of any other provision of this Lease and any consent by 
Landlord to a Transfer by Tenant shall not be deemed a consent to any subsequent Transfer by Tenant. In giving or withholding its consent to a 
proposed Transfer by Tenant, Landlord shall be entitled to consider any reasonable factor, including but not limited to the following: 
(a) financial strength and credit history of the proposed subtenant/assignee; (b) business reputation of the proposed subtenant/assignee; 
(c) proposed use of the Demised Premises by the proposed subtenant/assignee; (d) managerial and operational skills of the proposed 
subtenant/assignee; and (e) compatibility of the proposed subtenant with other tenants of the Building. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant 
may assign this Lease or sublet any or all of its leasehold interest in the Demised Premises to an affiliate, subsidiary, or parent corporation of 
Tenant; (ii) resulting entity from a merger or consolidation involving Tenant; or (iii) an entity purchasing all or substantially all of the assets of 
Tenant, in each case without Landlord’s consent, provided that Tenant gives written notice to Landlord with a copy of the assignment or 
sublease and the assignee or sublessee agrees in writing with Landlord to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Lease; provided further 
that no such notice or consent shall be required in connection with the transfer of any voting stock or interests of Tenant. Despite any 
assignment or sublease, Tenant will not be relieved of its obligations under this Lease, and Tenant remains liable, jointly and severally and as a 
principal, and not as a guarantor or surety, under this Lease, to the same extent as though no assignment or sublease by Tenant had been made.  

Tenant covenants and agrees that in the event Landlord consents to a sublease by Tenant, Tenant and Tenant’s Subtenant shall enter 
into the form of Sublease, Assumption and Consent Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit E , and in the event Landlord consents to an 
assignment, Tenant and Tenant’s assignee shall enter into the form of Assignment, Assumption, and Consent Agreement attached hereto as 
Exhibit F , or the standard form of agreement in each case then being used by Landlord for subleases and assignments. In the event Tenant or 
Tenant’s transferee requests any changes or revisions to any such agreement, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, within ten (10) days after demand 
by Landlord, the reasonable costs and expenses of Landlord in connection with any request by Tenant for consent to a Transfer, including 
attorneys’ fees.  

8.17 Annual Financial Statements . Tenant covenants and agrees to furnish to Landlord, within fifteen (15) days after Landlord’s written 
request, copies of Tenant’s most recent year end financial statements, and agrees that Landlord may deliver any such financial statements to 
any existing or prospective mortgagee or purchaser of the Property. The financial statements shall include a balance sheet as of the end of, and 
a statement of profit and loss for, the preceding fiscal year of Tenant and, if regularly prepared by Tenant, a statement of sources and use of 
funds for the preceding fiscal year of Tenant.  
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8.18 Payment of Other Taxes . Tenant covenants and agrees to pay promptly when due all personal property taxes on personal property of 
Tenant on the Demised Premises and all state and local sales taxes and use taxes, the nonpayment of which might give rise to a lien on the 
Demised Premises or Tenant’s interest therein to the extent applicable to the Demised Premises, and to furnish, if requested by Landlord, 
evidence of such payments.  

8.19 Estoppel Certificates . Tenant covenants and agrees to execute, acknowledge and deliver to Landlord, upon Landlord’s written 
request, a written Estoppel Certificate certifying that this Lease is unmodified (or, if modified, stating the modifications) and in full force and 
effect; stating the dates to which Basic Rent has been paid, stating the amount of the Security Deposit held by Landlord; stating the amount of 
the Monthly Deposits held by Landlord for the then tax and insurance year; and stating whether or not Landlord is in default under this Lease 
(and, if so, specifying the nature of the default); and stating such other matters concerning this Lease as Landlord may reasonably request, 
including but not limited to, the form of Estoppel Certificate attached hereto as Exhibit G . Tenant agrees that such statement may be delivered 
to and relied upon by any existing or prospective mortgagee or purchaser of the Property. Tenant agrees that a failure to deliver such a 
statement within ten (10) days after written request from Landlord shall be conclusive upon Tenant that this Lease is in full force and effect 
without modification except as may be represented by Landlord; that there are no uncured defaults by Landlord under this Lease; and that any 
representation by Landlord with respect to Basic Rent, the Security Deposit and Monthly Deposits are true. In the event Tenant requests any 
changes or revisions to any such Estoppel Certificate other than to correct inaccuracies, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, within ten (10) days after 
demand by Landlord, the reasonable costs and expenses of Landlord in connection the negotiation, drafting and revision of such Estoppel 
Certificate, including attorneys’ fees.  

8.20 Landlord Right to Inspect and Show Premises and to Install “For Sale”  Signs . Tenant covenants and agrees that Landlord and the 
authorized representatives of Landlord shall have the right to enter the Demised Premises at any reasonable time for the purposes of inspecting, 
repairing or maintaining the same or performing any obligations of Tenant that Tenant has failed to perform hereunder or for the purposes of 
showing the Demised Premises to any existing or prospective mortgagee, purchaser or, during the last nine (9) months of the Lease Term, 
lessee of the Property or the Demised Premises. Except in the case of emergency, Landlord will notify Tenant a reasonable time prior to 
entering the Demised Premises. Tenant covenants and agrees that Landlord may at any time place on the Property or the Demised Premises a 
sign advertising the Property or the Demised Premises for sale or, within the last nine (9) months of the Term, for lease.  

8.21 Landlord Right to Renovate, Expand or Modify Building . Tenant covenants and agrees that Landlord shall have the right to 
renovate, expand, reconstruct, or otherwise modify the Building and/or Common Facilities at any time, in Landlord’s sole discretion; provided, 
however, that no such renovation, expansion, reconstruction, or other modification shall permanently or materially interfere with Tenant’s right 
to the quiet use and enjoyment of the Demised Premises. Landlord will give Tenant prior written notice describing any work planned under the 
terms of this provision and the methods planned for performing such work. Tenant may require Landlord to modify its methods in reasonable 
manner to minimize any impact on Tenant’s operations.  

8.22 Landlord Title to Fixtures, Improvements and Equipment . Subject to Tenant’s Restoration Obligations and excluding Tenant’s 
Equipment, Tenant covenants and agrees that all fixtures and improvements on the Demised Premises and all equipment and personal property 
relating to the use and operation of the Demised Premises (as distinguished from operations incident to the business of Tenant), including all 
plumbing, heating, lighting, electrical and air conditioning fixtures and equipment, whether or not attached to or affixed to the Demised 
Premises, and whether now or hereafter located upon the Demised Premises, shall be and remain the property of Landlord upon expiration of 
the Lease Term.  
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8.23 Removal of Tenant’s Equipment . In addition to Tenant’s Restoration Obligations, Tenant covenants and agrees to remove, at or 
prior to the expiration of the Lease Term, all of Tenant’s Equipment, as herein defined. If such removal shall injure or damage the Demised 
Premises Tenant covenants and agrees, at its sole cost and expense, at or prior to the expiration of the Lease Term, to repair such injury and 
damage in good and workmanlike fashion and to place the Demised Premises in the same condition as the Demised Premises would have been 
if such Tenant’s Equipment had not been installed. If Tenant fails to remove any Tenant’s Equipment by the Expiration of the Lease Term, 
Landlord may, at its option, keep and retain any such Tenant’s Equipment or dispose of the same and retain any proceeds therefrom, and 
Landlord shall be entitled to recover from Tenant any costs or expenses of Landlord in removing the same and in restoring the Demised 
Premises in excess of the actual proceeds, if any, received by Landlord from disposition thereof. Tenant releases and discharges Landlord from 
any and all claims and liabilities of any kind arising out of Landlord’s disposition of Tenant’s Equipment pursuant to this Section 8.23.  

8.24 Tenant Indemnification of Landlord . Tenant covenants and agrees to protect, indemnify, defend, and hold Landlord harmless from 
and against all liability, obligations, claims, damages, penalties, causes of action, costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, imposed upon, 
incurred by or asserted against Landlord by reason of: (a) any accident, injury to or death of any person or loss of or damage to any property 
occurring on the Demised Premises or Common Facilities; (b) any act or omission of Tenant or of Tenant’s officers, employees, agents, guests 
or invitees or of anyone claiming by, through or under Tenant; (c) any use that may be made by Tenant of, or condition created by Tenant or 
Baxter upon, the Demised Premises or Common Facilities; (d) any improvements, fixtures or equipment upon the Demised Premises or 
Common Facilities installed by Tenant or by Baxter; (e) any failure on the part of Tenant to perform or comply with any of the provisions, 
covenants or agreements of Tenant contained in this Lease; (f) any violation of any applicable law, ordinance, order, rule or regulation of 
governmental authorities having jurisdiction by Tenant or Tenant’s officers, employees, agents, guests or invitees or by anyone claiming by, 
through or under Tenant; and (g) any repairs, maintenance or Changes to the Demised Premises made or caused to be made by, through or 
under Tenant. Tenant further covenants and agrees that, in case any action, suit or proceeding is brought against Landlord by reason of any of 
the foregoing, Tenant will, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, pay all costs and expenses to defend Landlord in any such action, suit or 
proceeding with counsel of Landlord’s choosing. Tenant’s obligations under this Section 8.24 will not apply to any liability, obligations, 
claims, damages, penalties, causes of action, costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, imposed upon, incurred by or asserted against 
Landlord to the extent caused or contributed by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or its officers, agents, contractors, 
guests, invitees or employees.  

8.25 Liability of Landlord . Landlord shall be liable to Tenant for Landlord’s gross negligence and willful misconduct. Tenant waives and 
releases any claims Tenant may have against Landlord or Landlord’s officers, agents or employees for loss, damage or injury to person or 
property sustained by Tenant or Tenant’s officers, agents, employees, guests, invitees, or anyone claiming by, through or under Tenant 
resulting from any cause whatsoever other than gross negligence or willful misconduct. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in 
this Lease, Landlord, its beneficiaries, successors and assigns, shall not be personally liable with respect to any of the terms, covenants and 
conditions of this Lease, and Tenant shall look solely to the equity of Landlord in the Property in the event of any default or liability of 
Landlord under this Lease, such exculpation of liability to be absolute and without any exception whatsoever.  
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8.26 Release upon Transfer by Landlord . In the event of a transfer by Landlord of the Property or of Landlord’s interest as Landlord 
under this Lease, Landlord’s successor or assignee shall take subject to and be bound by this Lease and, in such event, Tenant covenants and 
agrees that Landlord shall be released from all obligations of Landlord under this Lease, except obligations that arose and matured prior to such 
transfer by Landlord; that Tenant shall thereafter look solely to Landlord’s successor or assign for satisfaction of the obligations of Landlord 
under this Lease; and that, upon demand by Landlord or Landlord’s successor or assign, Tenant shall attorn to such successor or assign.  

8.27 Rules and Regulations . Upon and after receipt of written notice thereof to Tenant, Tenant shall observe and comply with rules and 
regulations that may be promulgated and amended from time to time by Landlord, provided that such rules and regulations are reasonable and 
do not materially interfere with Tenant’s ability to carry out the Permitted Use at the Demised Premises. Landlord shall not be responsible to 
Tenant for the failure of any other tenant of the Building to observe or comply with any of the rules or regulations, but Landlord shall make 
reasonable efforts to enforce the rules and regulations (if any) for the benefit of all tenants of the Building.  

8.28 Monitoring Equipment . Should equipment for monitoring fire systems and/or security systems be deemed necessary by Tenant or 
be required for the Demised Premises by federal, state, or local governing agencies because of Tenant’s equipment, the nature of Tenant’s 
business, or Tenant’s modification of the Demised Premises, Tenant shall be responsible for installation of such monitoring system, for any 
required building permits, monthly monitoring fees, and any fines, penalties or other charges for false alarms. Should such monitoring systems 
be otherwise required by federal, state, or local governing agencies, or deemed by Landlord to be advisable for the operation of the Building, 
Landlord shall be responsible for installation of such monitoring systems, and all costs and expenses relating thereto shall be included as 
Common Facilities Charges.  

ARTICLE 9  
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS  

9.1 Definitions .  

9.1.1 Hazardous Material . Hazardous Material means any substance:  

9.1.1.1 that is or becomes defined as a “hazardous material,” “hazardous waste,” “hazardous substance,” “regulated 
substance,” “pollutant” or “contaminant” under any applicable federal, state or local statute, regulation, rule or ordinance or amendments 
thereto including, without limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.) 
and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq.); or  

9.1.1.2 that is toxic, explosive, corrosive, flammable, infectious, radioactive, carcinogenic, mutagenic, or otherwise 
hazardous and is or becomes regulated by any governmental authority, agency, department, commission, board, agency or instrumentality of 
the United States, the State of Colorado or any political subdivision thereof; or  

9.1.1.3 the presence of which on the Demised Premises causes or threatens to cause a nuisance upon the Demised Premises 
or to adjacent properties or poses or threatens to pose a hazard to the health or safety of persons on or about the Demised Premises; or  

9.1.1.4 that contains gasoline, diesel fuel or other petroleum hydrocarbons; or  
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9.1.1.5 that contains polychlorinated bipheynols (PCBs), asbestos or urea formaldehyde foam insulation; or  

9.1.1.6 radon gas.  

9.1.2 Environmental Requirements . Environmental Requirements means all applicable statutes, regulations, rules, ordinances, 
codes, licenses, permits, orders, approvals, plans, authorizations, concessions, franchises, and similar items, of all governmental agencies, 
departments, commissions, boards, bureaus, or instrumentalities of the United States, states and political subdivisions thereof having 
jurisdiction over the Demised Premises and all applicable judicial, administrative, and regulatory decrees, judgments, and orders relating to the 
protection of human health or the environment.  

9.1.3 Environmental Damages . Environmental Damages means all claims, judgments, damages, losses, penalties, fines, liabilities 
(including strict liability), encumbrances, liens, costs, and expenses of investigation and defense of any claim, whether or not such claim is 
ultimately defeated, and of any good faith settlement or judgment, of whatever kind or nature, contingent or otherwise, matured or unmatured, 
foreseeable or unforeseeable, including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements and consultants’ and witnesses’ fees, 
any of which are incurred at any time as a result of the existence of Hazardous Material upon, about, beneath the Demised Premises or 
migrating or threatening to migrate to or from the Demised Premises, or the existence of a violation of Environmental Requirements pertaining 
to the Demised Premises.  

9.2 Tenant’s Obligation to Indemnify, Defend and Hold Harmless . Tenant, its successors, assigns and guarantors, agree to indemnify, 
defend, reimburse and hold harmless the following persons from and against any and all Environmental Damages arising from activities of 
Tenant or its employees, agents, contractors, subcontractors, or guests, licensees, or invitees that (1) result in the release of Hazardous 
Materials upon, about or beneath the Demised Premises or migrating to or from the Demised Premises, or (2) result in the violation of any 
Environmental Requirements pertaining to the Demised Premises and the activities thereon:  

9.2.1 Landlord;  

9.2.2 any other person who acquires an interest in the Demised Premises in any manner, including but not limited to purchase at a 
foreclosure sale or otherwise; and  

9.2.3 the directors, officers, shareholders, employees, partners, agents, contractors, subcontractors, experts, licensees, affiliates, 
lessees, mortgagees, trustees, heirs, devisees, successors, assigns, guests and invitees of such persons.  

This obligation shall include, but not be limited to, the burden and expense of investigating and defending all claims, suits and 
administrative proceedings (with counsel reasonably approved by the indemnified parties), including attorneys’ fees and expert witness and 
consulting fees, even if such claims, suits or proceedings are groundless, false or fraudulent, and conducting all negotiations of any description, 
and paying and discharging, when and as the same become due, any and all judgments, penalties or other sums due against such indemnified 
persons, and all such expenses incurred in enforcing the obligation to indemnify. Tenant, at its sole expense, may employ additional counsel of 
its choice to associate with counsel representing the indemnified parties.  
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9.3 Tenant’s Obligation to Remediate . Notwithstanding the obligation of Tenant to indemnify Landlord pursuant to this agreement, 
Tenant shall, upon demand of Landlord, and at its sole cost and expense, promptly take all actions to remediate the Demised Premises, 
Building, and Land that are reasonably necessary to mitigate Environmental Damages or to allow full economic use of the Building and Land, 
or are required by Environmental Requirements, which remediation is necessitated by the 1) release of a Hazardous Material upon, about or 
beneath the Demised Premises or 2) a violation of Environmental Requirements, either of which is caused by the actions of Tenant, its 
employees, agents, contractors, subcontractors, guests, invitees or licensees. Tenant shall promptly provide to Landlord copies of testing 
results and reports that are generated in connection with the above activities, and copies of any correspondence with any governmental entity 
related to such activities.  

9.4 Notification . If Tenant shall become aware of or receive notice or other communication concerning any actual, alleged, suspected or 
threatened violation of Environmental Requirements, or liability of Tenant for Environmental Damages in connection with the Demised 
Premises or past or present activities of any person thereon, or that any representation set forth in this agreement is not or is no longer accurate, 
then Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, within ten days of the receipt of such notice or communication by Landlord, a written description of said 
violation, liability, correcting information, or actual or threatened event or condition, together with copies of any such notice or 
communication. Receipt of such notice shall not be deemed to create any obligation on the part of Landlord to defend or otherwise respond to 
any such notification or communication.  

9.5 Negative Covenants .  

9.5.1 No Hazardous Material on Demised Premises . Except in strict compliance with all Environmental Requirements, Tenant shall 
not cause, permit or suffer any Hazardous Material to be brought upon, treated, kept, stored, disposed of, discharged, released, produced, 
manufactured, generated, refined or used upon, about or beneath the Demised Premises by Tenant, its agents, employees, contractors, 
subcontractors, guests, licensees or invitees, or any other person. Tenant shall deliver to Landlord copies of all documents that Tenant provides 
to any governmental body in connection with compliance with Environmental Requirements with respect to the Demised Premises, such 
delivery to be contemporaneous with provision of the documents to the governmental agency.  

9.5.2 No Violations of Environmental Requirements . Tenant shall not cause, permit or suffer the existence or the commission by 
Tenant, its agents, employees, contractors, subcontractors or guests, licensees or invitees, or by any other person (excepting Landlord, its 
employees, agents, or contractors) of a violation of any Environmental Requirements upon, about or beneath the Demised Premises or any 
portion of the Building or Land.  

9.6 Landlord’s Right to Inspect and to Audit Tenant’s Records . Landlord shall have the right in its sole and absolute discretion, but not 
the duty, to enter and conduct an inspection of the Demised Premises and to inspect and audit Tenant’s records concerning Hazardous Materials 
at any reasonable time to determine whether Tenant is complying with the terms of the Lease, including but not limited to the compliance of 
the Demised Premises and the activities thereon with Environmental Requirements and the existence of Environmental Damages. Tenant 
hereby grants to Landlord the right to enter the Demised Premises and to perform, at Landlord’s cost, such tests on the Demised Premises as 
are reasonably necessary in the opinion of Landlord to assist in such audits and investigations. Landlord shall use reasonably diligent efforts to 
minimize interference with the business of Tenant by such tests inspections and audits, but Landlord shall not be liable for any interference 
caused thereby.  
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9.7 Landlord’s Right to Remediate . Should Tenant fail to perform or observe any of its obligations or agreements pertaining to 
Hazardous Materials or Environmental Requirements, then, thirty (30) days following written notice to Tenant of its failure and Tenant’s 
failure to cure within that period (except that such notice and cure opportunity is not necessary in an emergency situation), Landlord shall have 
the right, but not the duty, without limitation upon any of the rights of Landlord pursuant to this Lease, to enter the Demised Premises 
personally or through its agents, consultants or contractors and perform the same. Tenant agrees to indemnify Landlord for the costs thereof 
and liabilities therefrom as set forth in Section 9.2.  

9.8 Survival of Environmental Obligations . The obligations of Landlord and Tenant as set forth in this Article 9 and all of its sections 
shall survive expiration and termination of this Lease. If Tenant has provided a certificate as required by Section 9.9 below which indicates no 
Environmental Damages or adverse environmental condition (excluding Hazardous Material migrating onto the Property from off-site or 
caused by Landlord, its agents, employees or contractors) not indicated by same as of the October 2005 investigation and certification, this 
Section 9.8 will expire two (2) years following the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease.  

9.9 Environmental Certifications . Landlord and Tenant have been provided the certification of an environmental engineer, Altus 
Environmental Consulting, Inc., dated October 2005, that the Demised Premises and Property are safe for human occupancy as of the 
Commencement Date. Upon expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant, at its cost, shall have the tests and investigations indicated 
on Exhibit H performed and must provide to Landlord, a similar certification by a licensed environmental engineer, noting any qualifications 
to such certification. If Tenant does not timely perform such investigation and provide such certification, Landlord may, at Tenant’s cost, 
perform such investigation and obtain the opinion of a licensed environmental engineer regarding whether the Demised Premises and Property 
are safe for human occupancy, including the identification of any conditions which should be remedied to make it safe for human occupancy. If 
the investigation or certification indicates Environmental Damages or adverse environmental condition (excluding Hazardous Material 
migrating onto the Property from off-site or caused by Landlord, its agents, employees or contractors) not indicated by same as of the October 
2005 investigation and certification, then Tenant shall promptly take any remedial actions necessary to remedy the Environmental Damages or 
environmental condition so identified.  

ARTICLE 10  
DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION  

10.1 Damage to Demised Premises . If any portion of the Demised Premises shall be damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty, 
Tenant shall give prompt written notice thereof to Landlord (“Tenant’s Notice of Damage”).  

10.2 Options to Terminate if Damage to Demised Premises is Substantial . Upon receipt of Tenant’s Notice of Damage, Landlord shall 
promptly proceed to determine the nature and extent of the damage or destruction and to estimate the time necessary to repair or restore the 
Demised Premises. As soon as reasonably possible, Landlord shall give written notice to Tenant stating Landlord’s estimate of the time 
necessary to repair or restore the Demised Premises (“Landlord’s Notice of Repair Time”). If Landlord reasonably estimates that repair or 
restoration of the Demised Premises cannot be completed within two hundred forty (240) days from the time of Landlord’s Notice of Repair 
Time, Landlord and Tenant shall each have the option to terminate this Lease. If, however, the damage or destruction was caused by the act or 
omission of Tenant or Tenant’s officers, employees, agents, guests or invitees or of anyone claiming by, through or under Tenant and for any 
reason the casualty is not insured (except failure  
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by Landlord to have policy in force), Landlord shall have the option to terminate this Lease if Landlord reasonably estimates that the repair or 
restoration cannot reasonably be completed within two hundred forty (240) days from the time of Tenant’s Notice of Damage, but Tenant shall 
not have the option to terminate this Lease. Any option granted hereunder shall be exercised by written notice to the other party given within 
ten (10) days after Landlord’s Notice of Repair Time. If either Landlord or Tenant exercises its option to terminate this Lease, the Lease Term 
shall expire thirty (30) days after the notice by either Landlord or Tenant exercising such party’s option to terminate this Lease. Following 
termination of this Lease under the provisions hereof, Landlord shall refund to Tenant such amounts of Basic Rent and Additional Rent 
theretofore paid by Tenant as may be applicable to the period subsequent to the time of Tenant’s Notice of Damage less the reasonable value of 
any use or occupation of the Demised Premises by Tenant subsequent to the time of Tenant’s Notice of Damage.  

10.3 Damage to Building . If the Building shall be damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty (whether or not the Demised Premises 
are affected) to the extent of fifty percent (50%) or more of the replacement value of the Building, and within thirty (30) days after the 
happening of such damage Landlord shall decide not to reconstruct or rebuild the Building, then upon written notice to Tenant within such 
thirty (30) days, this Lease shall terminate and Landlord shall refund to Tenant such amounts of Basic Rent and Additional Rent paid by Tenant 
for the period after such damage less the reasonable value of any use or occupation of the Demised Premises by Tenant during such period.  

10.4 Obligations to Repair and Restore . If repair and restoration of the Demised Premises can be completed within the period specified in 
Section 10.2, in Landlord’s reasonable estimation, or if neither Landlord nor Tenant terminate this Lease as provided in Sections 10.2 or 10.3, 
this Lease shall continue in full force and effect and Landlord shall proceed forthwith to cause the Demised Premises to be repaired and 
restored with reasonable diligence and there shall be an abatement of Basic Rent and Additional Rent proportionate to the extent of the space 
and period of time that Tenant is unable to use and enjoy the Demised Premises. Landlord may, at its option, require Tenant to arrange for and 
supervise the repair and restoration of the Demised Premises, in which case Landlord shall furnish Tenant with the insurance proceeds for such 
repair and restoration at the time or times such funds are needed, provided that such proceeds are sufficient to cover the costs of repair or 
restoration.  

10.5 Application of Insurance Proceeds . The proceeds of any Casualty Insurance maintained on the Demised Premises, other than 
casualty insurance maintained by Tenant on fixtures and personal property of Tenant, shall be paid to and become the property of Landlord, 
subject to any obligation of Landlord to cause the Demised Premises to be repaired and restored and further subject to any rights of a holder of 
a mortgage or deed of trust encumbering the Property to such proceeds. Landlord’s obligation to repair and restore the Demised Premises 
provided in this Article 10 is limited to the repair and restoration that can be accomplished with the proceeds of any Casualty Insurance 
maintained or to be maintained on the Demised Premises; provided, that, if Landlord fails to repair and restore the Improvements, including the 
Demised Premises, for any reason, including the foregoing limitation, then Tenant shall have the right to terminate this lease upon written 
notice to Landlord, in which case Landlord shall refund to Tenant such amounts of Basic Rent and Additional Rent theretofore paid by Tenant 
as may be applicable to the period subsequent to the time of termination less the reasonable value of any use or occupation of the Demised 
Premises by Tenant subsequent to the date of casualty. Landlord will be responsible for any deductible on the Building casualty insurance 
maintained by Landlord; provided, however, that if the casualty results from an act or omission of Tenant, or Tenant’s officers, employees, 
agents, guests, or invitees or of anyone claiming by, through or under Tenant, then Tenant shall pay such deductible. The amount of any such 
insurance proceeds is subject to any right of a holder of a mortgage or deed of trust encumbering the Property to apply such proceeds to its 
secured debt.  
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ARTICLE 11  
CONDEMNATION  

11.1 Taking — Substantial Taking — Insubstantial Taking . A “Taking” shall mean the taking of all or any portion of the Demised 
Premises as a result of the exercise of the power of eminent domain or condemnation for public or quasi-public use or the sale of all or part of 
the Demised Premises under the threat of condemnation. A “Substantial Taking” shall mean a Taking of twenty five percent (25%) or more of 
the area (in square feet) of either the Demised Premises or the Building. An “Insubstantial Taking” shall mean a Taking that does not constitute 
a Substantial Taking.  

11.2 Termination on Substantial Taking . If there is a Substantial Taking with respect to the Demised Premises or the Building, the Lease 
Term shall expire on the date of vesting of title pursuant to such Taking. In the event of termination of this Lease under the provisions hereof, 
Landlord shall refund to Tenant such amounts of Basic Rent and Additional Rent theretofore paid by Tenant as may be applicable to the period 
subsequent to the time of termination of this Lease.  

11.3 Restoration on Insubstantial Taking . In the event of an Insubstantial Taking, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, 
Landlord shall proceed forthwith to cause the Demised Premises, less such Taking, to be restored as near as may be to the original condition 
thereof and there shall be abatement of Basic Rent and Additional Rent proportionate to the extent of the space so taken. Landlord may, at its 
option, require Tenant to arrange for and handle the restoration of the Demised Premises, in which case Landlord shall furnish Tenant with 
sufficient funds for such restoration at the time or times such funds are needed.  

11.4 Right to Award . The total award, compensation, damages or consideration received or receivable as a result of a Taking (“Award”) 
shall be paid to and be the property of Landlord, including, without limitation, any part of the Award made as compensation for diminution of 
the value of the leasehold or the fee of the Demised Premises. Tenant hereby assigns to Landlord, all of Tenant’s right, title and interest in and 
to any such Award. Tenant covenants and agrees to execute, immediately upon demand by Landlord, such documents as may be necessary to 
facilitate collection by Landlord of any such Award. Notwithstanding Landlord’s right to the entire Award, Tenant shall be entitled to any 
separate award, if any, for the loss of Tenant’s personal property, Tenant’s relocation expenses, or the loss of Tenant’s business and profits.  

ARTICLE 12  
DEFAULTS BY TENANT  

The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a “Default by Tenant” of this Lease:  

12.1 Failure to Pay Rent or Other Amounts . A Default by Tenant shall exist if Tenant fails to pay Monthly Rental (or any portion 
thereof), Basic Rent, Additional Rent, Monthly Deposits, or any other amounts payable by Tenant under the terms of this Lease, within five 
(5) days after (i) such rental or amount is due or (ii) notice that payment is due by Landlord to Tenant, whichever is later.  

12.2 Nonoccupancy of Demised Premises . A Default by Tenant shall exist if Tenant shall fail to occupy and use the Demised Premises 
within thirty (30) days after commencement of the Lease Term or shall leave the Demised Premises continuously unoccupied and shall vacate 
and abandon the Demised Premises without providing for ongoing maintenance, heating and other utility service to the Demised Premises 
while vacated.  
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12.3 Transfer of Interest Without Consent . A Default by Tenant shall exist if Tenant’s interest under this Lease or in the Demised 
Premises shall be transferred to or pass to or devolve upon any other party without Landlord’s prior written consent; provided, however, that 
this Section 12.3 shall not apply to assignments or subleases for which prior written consent is not required pursuant to Section 8.16 above.  

12.4 Execution and Attachment Against . A Default by Tenant shall exist if Tenant’s interest under this Lease or in the Demised Premises 
shall be taken upon execution or by other process of law directed against Tenant (other than by condemnation), or shall be subject to any 
attachment at the instance of any creditor or claimant against Tenant and said attachment shall not be discharged or disposed of within thirty 
(30) days after the levy thereof.  

12.5 Bankruptcy or Related Proceedings . A Default by Tenant shall exist if Tenant shall file a petition in bankruptcy or insolvency or for 
reorganization or arrangement under the bankruptcy laws of the United States or under any similar act of any state, or shall voluntarily take 
advantage of any such law or act by answer or otherwise, or shall be dissolved or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors or if 
involuntary proceedings under any such bankruptcy or insolvency law or for the dissolution of Tenant shall be instituted against Tenant or a 
receiver or trustee shall be appointed for the Demised Premises or for all or substantially all of the property of Tenant, and such proceedings 
shall not be dismissed or such receivership or trustee-ship vacated within sixty (60) days after such institution or appointment.  

12.6 Violation of Lease Terms . A Default by Tenant shall exist if Tenant breaches or fails to comply with any agreement, term, covenant 
or condition in this Lease applicable to Tenant (other than those referred to in Sections 12.1 through 12.5 above), and Tenant does not cure 
such breach or failure within thirty (30) days after notice thereof by Landlord to Tenant, or, if such breach or failure to comply cannot be 
reasonably cured within such 30-day period, if Tenant shall not in good faith commence to cure such breach or failure to comply with such 30-
day period or shall not diligently proceed therewith to completion with one hundred twenty (120) days following the occurrence of the breach 
or failure.  

12.7 Reserved .  

ARTICLE 13  
LANDLORD’S REMEDIES  

13.1 Remedies Generally. Upon the occurrence of any Default by Tenant, Landlord shall have the right, at Landlord’s election, then or at 
anytime thereafter, to exercise any one or more of the following remedies:  

13.1.1 Cure by Landlord . In the event of a Default by Tenant, Landlord may, at Landlord’s option, but without obligation to do so, 
and without releasing Tenant from any obligations under this Lease, make any payment or take any action as Landlord may reasonably deem 
necessary or desirable to cure any such Default by Tenant in such manner and to such extent as Landlord may reasonably deem necessary or 
desirable. Landlord may do so without demand on, or written notice to, Tenant and without giving Tenant any opportunity to cure such Default 
by Tenant. Tenant covenants and agrees to pay to Landlord, within ten (10) days after demand, all advances, costs and expenses of Landlord in 
connection with the making of any such payment or the taking of any such action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, together with interest as 
hereinafter provided from the day of payment of any such reasonable advances,  
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costs and expenses by Landlord. Action taken by Landlord may include commencing, appearing in, defending or otherwise participating in any 
action or proceedings and paying, purchasing, contesting or compromising any claim, right, encumbrance, charge or lien with respect to the 
Demised Premises that is reasonably necessary or desirable to protect its interest in the Demised Premises and under this Lease.  

13.1.2 Termination of Lease and Damages . In the event of a Default by Tenant, Landlord may terminate this Lease, effective at 
such time as may be specified by written notice to Tenant, and demand (and, if such demand is refused, recover) possession of the Demised 
Premises from Tenant. Tenant shall remain liable to Landlord for damages in an amount equal to the Basic Rent, Additional Rent and other 
sums that would have been owing by Tenant hereunder for the balance of the term, had this Lease not been terminated, less the net proceeds, if 
any, of reletting of the Demised Premises by Landlord subsequent to such termination, after deducting all Landlord’s reasonable expenses in 
connection with such recovery of possession or reletting. Landlord shall be entitled to collect and receive such damages from Tenant on the 
days on which the Basic Rent, Additional Rent and other amounts would have been payable if this Lease had not been terminated. 
Alternatively, at the option of Landlord, Landlord shall be entitled to recover forthwith from Tenant, as damages for loss of the bargain and not 
as a penalty, an aggregate sum that, at the time of such termination of this Lease, represents the excess, if any, of (a) the aggregate of the Basic 
Rent, Additional Rent and all other sums payable by Tenant hereunder that would have accrued for the balance of the Lease Term, over (b) the 
aggregate rental value of the Demised Premises for the balance of the Lease Term, both discounted to present worth at the then applicable 
federal rate.  

13.1.3 Repossession and Reletting . In the event of Default by Tenant, Landlord may reenter and take possession of the Demised 
Premises or any part thereof, without demand or notice, and repossess the same and expel Tenant and any party claiming by, under or through 
Tenant, and remove the effects of both, without breach of the peace, without being liable for prosecution on account thereof or being deemed 
guilty of any manner of trespass, and without prejudice to any remedies for arrears of rent or right to bring any proceeding for breach of 
covenants or conditions. No such reentry or taking possession of the Demised Premises by Landlord shall be construed as an election by 
Landlord to terminate this Lease unless a written notice of such intention is given to Tenant. No notice from Landlord hereunder or under a 
forcible entry and detainer statute or similar law shall constitute an election by Landlord to terminate this Lease unless such notice specifically 
so states. Landlord reserves the right, following any reentry or reletting, to exercise its right to terminate this Lease by giving Tenant such 
written notice, in which even the Lease will terminate as specified in said notice. After recovering possession of the Demised Premises, 
Landlord may, from time to time, but shall not be obligated to, relet the Demised Premises, or any part thereof, for the account of Tenant, for 
such term or terms and on such conditions and upon such other terms as Landlord, in its uncontrolled discretion, may determine. Landlord may 
make such repairs, alterations or improvements as Landlord may consider appropriate to accomplish such reletting, and Tenant shall reimburse 
Landlord upon demand for all costs and expenses, including brokers’ commissions and attorneys’ fees, that Landlord may incur in connection 
with such reletting. Landlord may collect and receive the rents for such reletting but Landlord shall in no way be responsible or liable for any 
failure to relet the Demised Premises, or any part thereof, or for any failure to collect any rent due upon such reletting. Notwithstanding 
Landlord’s recovery of possession of the Demised Premises, Tenant shall continue to pay on the dates herein specified, the Basic Rent, 
Additional Rent and other amounts that would be payable hereunder if such repossession had not occurred. Upon the expiration or earlier 
termination of this Lease, Landlord shall refund to Tenant any amount, without interest, by which the amounts paid by Tenant, when added to 
the net amount, if any, recovered by Landlord through any reletting of the Demised Premises, exceeds the amounts payable by Tenant under 
this Lease. If, in connection with any reletting, the new lease term extends beyond the existing term, or the premises covered thereby include 
other premises not part of the Demised Premises, a fair apportionment of the rent received from such reletting and the expenses incurred in 
connection therewith will be made in determining the net amount recovered from such reletting.  
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13.1.4 Waiver of Landlord Liens . Landlord hereby waives any and all statutory and/or common law landlord lien which now exists 
or hereafter arises in connection with this Lease.  

13.1.5 Suits by Landlord . Actions or suits for the recovery of amounts and damages payable under this Lease may be brought by 
Landlord from time to time, at Landlord’s election, and Landlord shall not be required to await the date upon which the Lease Term would 
have expired to bring any such action or suit.  

13.1.6 Recovery of Landlord Enforcement Costs . All reasonable costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with 
collecting any amounts and damages owing by Tenant pursuant to the provisions of this Lease or to enforce any provision of this Lease, 
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, whether or not any action is commenced by Landlord, shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord upon demand.  

13.1.7 Administrative Late Charge . Other remedies for nonpayment of rent notwithstanding, if the Monthly Rental, Monthly 
Deposit or Additional Rent is not received by Landlord on or before the tenth day of the month for which such rental or deposit is due, or if any 
other payment due Landlord by Tenant is not received by Landlord on or before the last day of the month next following the month in which 
Tenant was invoiced, a one-time administrative late charge of five percent (5%) of such past due amount shall become immediately due and 
payable in addition to such amounts owed under this Lease to help defray the additional cost to Landlord for processing such late payments.  

13.1.8 Interest on Past-Due Payments and Advances . Tenant covenants and agrees to pay to Landlord interest at the rate of fifteen 
percent (15%) per annum, compounded on a monthly basis, on the amount of any Basic Rent, Monthly Deposit, Additional Rent or other 
charges not paid when due, from the date due and payable, and on the amount of any payment made by Landlord required to have been made 
by Tenant under this Lease and on the amount of any costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, paid by Landlord in connection 
with the taking of any action to cure any Default by Tenant, from the date of making any such payment or the advancement of such costs and 
expenses by Landlord.  

13.1.9 Landlord’s Bankruptcy Remedies . Nothing contained in this Lease shall limit or prejudice the right of Landlord to prove and 
obtain as liquidated damages in any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, reorganization or dissolution proceeding, an amount equal to the 
maximum allowable by any statute or rule of law governing such proceeding in effect at the time when such damages are to be proved, whether 
or not such amount be greater, equal or less than the amounts recoverable, either as damages or rent, under this Lease.  

13.2 Remedies Cumulative . Exercise of any of the remedies of Landlord under this Lease shall not prevent the concurrent or subsequent 
exercise of any other remedy provided for in this Lease or otherwise available to Landlord at law or in equity.  

ARTICLE 14  
SURRENDER AND HOLDING OVER  

14.1 Surrender upon Lease . Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, or on the date specified in any demand for 
possession by Landlord after any Default by Tenant, Tenant covenants and agrees to surrender possession of the Demised Premises to Landlord 
broom clean, with all lighting, doors,  
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and electrical and mechanical systems (including, without limitation, all HVAC facilities) in good working order and condition, all walls in 
clean condition and holes or punctures in the walls repaired, and otherwise in the same condition as specified in Exhibit I attached hereto, 
casualty, condemnation and ordinary wear and tear excepted (such exceptions shall not limit Tenant’s obligation under Section 14.3.  

14.2 Holding Over . If Tenant shall hold over after the expiration of the Lease Term, without written agreement providing otherwise, 
Tenant shall be deemed to be a Tenant at sufferance, at a Monthly Rental (except as provided in the last sentence of this Section 14.2), payable 
in advance, equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Monthly Rental, and Tenant shall be bound by all of the other terms, covenants 
and agreements of this Lease, including without limitation the obligation to pay Additional Rent. Nothing contained herein shall be construed 
to give Tenant the right to hold over at any time, and Landlord may exercise any and all remedies at law or in equity to recover possession of 
the Demised Premises, as well as any damages incurred by Landlord, due to Tenant’s failure to vacate the Demised Premises and deliver 
possession to Landlord as herein provided. If Tenant has not delivered the certificate of substantial completion and certificate of occupancy for 
Tenant’s Restoration Obligations as required by Section 14.3 below on or before the expiration of the Lease Term, Tenant shall be deemed to 
be a Tenant at sufferance, at a monthly rental, payable in advance, equal to the Monthly Rental, and Tenant shall be bound by all of the other 
terms, covenants and agreements of this Lease, including without limitation the obligation to pay Additional Rent.  

14.3 Restoration Obligations . Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, or upon the date specified in any written demand 
for possession by Landlord after any Default by Tenant which date may not be less than six (6) months from the date of such notice), Tenant 
shall have completed all work associated with the removal of Tenant’s Equipment, fixtures, systems, and tenant improvements, whether by 
Tenant or Baxter, and restoration and reconstruction of the Demised Premises to the conditions described in Exhibit I attached hereto (referred 
to herein as Tenant’s “Restoration Obligations”). All such work shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner by Quinlan 
Construction or other general contractor reasonably acceptable to Landlord. Repairing damage from casualty, the repair of which is subject to 
Articel 10 hereof, is not part of the Restoration Obligations. Tenant is responsible for all permits, fees, and costs associated with the work and 
must deliver to Landlord: (i) a certificate of substantial completion signed by the general contractor performing the work, and (ii), if required 
by the City, a certificate of occupancy from the City of Boulder for the Demised Premises following substantial completion of the restoration 
work. Prior to the commencement of the Tenant’s Restoration Obligations described and defined by this Section 14.3 and Exhibit I , Tenant 
must give Landlord written notice that Tenant intends to commence such work. Landlord may, at its sole option, reduce or eliminate any of 
Tenant’s Restoration Obligations by written notice to Tenant within fifteen (15) days from Tenant’s notice to Landlord, or, if earlier, with any 
written demand by Landlord for possession; provided, however, Landlord may not alter Tenant’s Restoration Obligations in any manner that 
increases Tenant’s cost of performance or prevents Tenant from recovering Tenant’s Equipment. If Tenant has not delivered the certificate of 
substantial completion and certificate of occupancy by the applicable deadline set forth in this Section 14.3, then Tenant will be deemed in 
default of this Section 14.3.  

ARTICLE 15  
MISCELLANEOUS  

15.1 No Implied Waiver . No failure by Landlord to insist upon the strict performance of any term, covenant or agreement contained in 
this Lease, no failure by Landlord to exercise any right or remedy under this Lease, and no acceptance of full or partial payment during the 
continuance of any Default by Tenant, shall constitute a waiver of any such term, covenant or agreement, or a waiver of any such right or  
   

25  



remedy, or a waiver of any such Default by Tenant. Similarly, no failure by Tenant to insist upon the strict performance of any term, covenant 
or agreement contained in this Lease and no failure by Tenant to exercise any right or remedy under this Lease shall constitute a waiver of any 
such term, covenant or agreement or a waiver of any such right or remedy, or a waiver of any default by Landlord.  

15.2 Survival of Provisions . Notwithstanding any termination of this Lease, the same shall continue in force and effect as to any 
provisions hereof that require observance or performance by Landlord or Tenant subsequent to termination.  

15.3 Covenants Independent . This Lease shall be construed as if the Covenants herein between Landlord and Tenant are independent, 
and not dependent, and Tenant shall not be entitled to any offset against Landlord if Landlord fails to perform its obligations under this Lease.  

15.4 Covenants as Conditions . Each provision of this Lease performable by Tenant shall be deemed both a covenant and a condition.  

15.5 Tenant’s Remedies . Tenant may bring a separate action against Landlord for any claim Tenant may have against Landlord under 
this Lease, provided that Tenant shall first give written notice thereof to Landlord and shall afford Landlord a reasonable opportunity to cure 
any such default. In addition, Tenant shall send notice of such default by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, to the holder of any 
mortgage or deed of trust covering the Demised Premises, the Property or any portion thereof of whose address Tenant has been notified in 
writing, and shall afford such holder a reasonable opportunity to cure any default on Landlord’s behalf. In no event will Landlord be 
responsible for any incidental, consequential or special damages incurred by Tenant, including, but not limited to, loss of profits or interruption 
of business as a result of any default by Landlord hereunder. In no event will Tenant be responsible for any incidental, consequential or special 
damages incurred by Landlord, including, but not limited to, loss of profits or interruption of business as a result of any default by Tenant 
hereunder, except as may be specifically provided under the terms of this Lease  

15.6 Binding Effect . This Lease shall extend to and be binding upon the heirs, executors, legal representatives, successors and assigns of 
the respective parties hereto. The terms, covenants, agreements and conditions in this Lease shall be construed as covenants running with the 
Land.  

15.7 Short Form Lease . This Lease shall not be recorded, but Tenant agrees, at the request of Landlord, to execute a short form lease for 
recording, containing the names of the parties, a description of the Demised Premises and the Lease Term prepared and recorded at Landlord’s 
cost.  

15.8 Notices and Demands . All notices, demands or billings under this Lease shall be in writing, signed by the party giving the same and 
shall be deemed properly given and received: (i) when actually given and received; (ii) when actually given by confirmed facsimile 
transmission, (iii) the date of confirmed delivery when delivery is by delivery service; or (iv) or three (3) business days after mailing, if sent by 
registered or certified United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the party to receive the notice all at the address or facsimile number set 
forth for such party in the first paragraph of this Lease or at such other address as either party may notify the other of in writing. Any notice by 
Tenant to Landlord shall not be effective until a copy thereof shall have been received by or transmitted in the same manner to Landlord’s 
counsel at the address set forth in the Summary of Basic Lease Terms or such other address as Landlord may from time to time notify Tenant in 
writing.  
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15.9 Force Majeure . In the event that Landlord shall be delayed or hindered in, or prevented from, the performance of any act required 
hereunder by reason of strikes, lock-outs, labor troubles, inability to procure materials, failure of power or unavailability of utilities, riots, 
insurrection, war or other reason of like nature not the fault of Landlord, or not within its reasonable control, the performance of such acts shall 
be excused for the period of delay, and the period for the performance of any such act shall be extended for a period equivalent to the period of 
such delay (including extension of both the commencement and expiration dates of this Lease); provided, however, that if Tenant is not in any 
way responsible for the delay and does not have use or occupancy of the Demised Premises during the period of delay, the rent and other 
charges payable hereunder shall be abated for such period of delay. In the event that Tenant shall be delayed or hindered in, or prevented from, 
the performance of any act required hereunder by reason of strikes, lock-outs, labor troubles, inability to procure materials, failure of power or 
unavailability of utilities, riots, insurrection, war or other reason of like nature not the fault of Tenant, or not within its reasonable control, the 
performance of such acts shall be excused for the period of delay, and the period for the performance of any such act shall be extended for a 
period equivalent to the period of such delay (including extension of the expiration date of this Lease); provided, however, that if the delay 
results in extension of the Lease Term, Tenant will continue to pay the rent and other charges payable hereunder for such period of extension.  

15.10 Time of the Essence . Time is of the essence under this Lease, and all provisions herein relating thereto shall be strictly construed.  

15.11 Captions for Convenience . The headings and captions hereof are for convenience only and shall not be considered in interpreting 
the provisions hereof.  

15.12 Severability . If any provision of this Lease shall be held invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease shall not be affected 
thereby, and there shall be deemed substituted for the affected provision a valid and enforceable provision as similar as possible to the affected 
provision.  

15.13 Governing Law and Venue . This Lease shall be interpreted and enforced according to the laws of the State of Colorado. Any 
action or proceeding arising out of this Lease, its modification or termination, or the performance or breach of either party hereto, shall be 
brought exclusively in courts of the state and county in which the Property is located. The parties agree that such courts are a convenient forum 
and waive any right to alter or change venue, including removal.  

15.14 Entire Agreement/Further Assurances . This Lease and any exhibits and addenda referred to herein, constitute the final and 
complete expression of the parties’ agreement with respect to the Demised Premises and Tenant’s occupancy thereof. Each party agrees that it 
has not relied upon or regarded as binding any prior agreements, negotiations, representations, or understandings, whether oral or written, 
except as expressly set forth herein. The parties agree that if there should be any clerical or typographical errors in this Lease, the Summary of 
Basic Lease Terms, any exhibit or addendum hereto, the party requested to do so will use its reasonable, good faith efforts to execute such 
corrective instruments or do all things necessary or appropriate to correct such errors. Further, the parties agree that if it becomes necessary or 
desirable to execute further instruments or to make other assurances, the party requested to do so will use its reasonable, good faith efforts to 
provide such executed instruments or do all things reasonably necessary or appropriate to carry out this Lease.  

15.15 No Oral Amendment or Modifications . No amendment or modification of this Lease, and no approvals, consents or waivers by 
Landlord under this Lease, shall be valid and binding unless in writing and executed by the party to be bound.  
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15.16 Real Estate Brokers . Tenant covenants to pay, hold harmless and indemnify Landlord from and against any and all cost, expense or 
liability for any compensation, commissions, charges or claims by any broker or other agent with respect to this Lease between Insumed and 
2545 or the negotiation thereof other than the broker(s) listed as the Broker(s), if any, on the Summary of Basic Lease Terms.  

15.17 Relationship of Landlord and Tenant . Nothing contained herein shall be deemed or construed as creating the relationship of 
principal and agent or of partnership, or of joint venture by the parties hereto, it being understood and agreed that no provision contained in this 
Lease nor any acts of the parties hereto shall be deemed to create any relationship other than the relationship of Landlord and Tenant.  

15.18 Authority of Tenant . Each individual executing this Lease on behalf of a party represents and warrants that he is duly authorized to 
deliver this Lease on behalf of that party and that this Lease is binding upon that party in accordance with its terms.  

[Signature page follows]  

*                *                *  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Lease to be executed the day and year first above written.  
   

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 23rd day of December, 2005 by Richard L. Hedges, as Vice President and 
Authorized Agent of 2545 Central, LLC.  

Witness my hand and official seal  
My commission expires: 4/11/09  

   

   

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 22 day of December, 2005 by Ronald D. Gunn, as EVP & COO of Insmed 
Incorporated.  

Witness my hand and official seal.  
My commission expires: 7/31/08  
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LANDLORD:     TENANT: 

2545 Central, LLC     Insmed Incorporated 

By:   /s/ Richard L. Hedges     /s/ Ronald D. Gunn 
  Richard L. Hedges     Name:    Ronald D. Gunn 
  Vice President     Title:    EVP & COO 
  Authorized Agent for Landlord        

STATE OF COLORADO  
   
COUNTY OF BOULDER  

    

)  
)ss  
)  

   

 

       

       

Kimberly S. King 
Notary Public 

STATE OF VIRGINIA      ) 
    )ss 

COUNTY OF “ ILLEGIBLE”      ) 

“ ILLEGIBLE”  
Notary Public 



EXHIBIT A  

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF LAND  

Flatiron Industrial Park, Filing 4, Lot 2  



EXHIBIT B  

LOCATION OF DEMISED PREMISES WITHIN BUILDING  

Entire Building  



EXHIBIT C  

NOTICE OF NON-LIABILITY FOR MECHANICS’ LIENS  

Pursuant to C.R.S. § 38-22-105, [Landlord], the owner of these premises, located at [Building address], Boulder, Colorado, hereby gives notice 
to all persons performing labor or furnishing skill, materials, machinery, or other fixtures in connection with any construction, alteration, 
removal, addition, repair or other improvement on or to these premises, that the owner shall not be liable therefor and the interests of said 
owner shall not be subject to any lien for the same.  
 



EXHIBIT 23.1 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements, as listed below, of Insmed Incorporated and in the related 
Prospectuses, where applicable, of our report dated February 10, 2006, (except Note 10, as to which the date is February 28, 2006), with 
respect to the consolidated financial statements of Insmed Incorporated, and our report dated February 10, 2006 with respect to Insmed 
Incorporated management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal control 
over financial reporting of Insmed Incorporated, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2005.  
   

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  

Richmond, Virginia  
March 2, 2006  
 

Registration  
Statement  
Number     Form    Description 

333-131535    Form S-3     Offering of Securities  
333-123695    Form S-3     Offering of Securities in July 2003, November 2004 and March 2005  
333-87878    Form S-8     Insmed Incorporated Stock Incentive Plan  
333-39198    Form S-8     Insmed Incorporated Employee Stock Purchase Plan  
333-129479    Form S-8     Insmed Incorporated Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Stock Incentive Plan  
333-39200    Form S-8     Insmed Incorporated Stock Incentive Plan  



EXHIBIT 31.1 

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OF FICER  

I, Geoffrey Allan, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Insmed Incorporated, certify that:  

(1) I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, of Insmed Incorporated;  

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and  

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

   

   

 

Date: March 3, 2006 

/s/ Geoffrey Allan  
   

Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D.  
Chairman of the Board and Chief  
Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer)  



EXHIBIT 31.2 

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OF FICER  

I, Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Insmed Incorporated, certify that:  

(1) I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, of Insmed Incorporated;  

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 
and  

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

   

   

   
 

Date: March 3, 2006 

/s/ Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A.  
   

Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A.  
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer  
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  



EXHIBIT 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2003  

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Insmed Incorporated (the “Company”) for the period ending December 31, 2005 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D., Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2003, that:  

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 
Company.  
   

March 3, 2006  

A signed original of this written statement required by § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003 has been provided to the Company and will be 
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  
 

/s/ Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D.  
   

Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D.  
Chairman of the Board and  
Chief Executive Officer  



EXHIBIT 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003  

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Insmed Incorporated (the “Company”) for the period ending December 31, 2005 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A., Executive Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003, that:  

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and  

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 
Company.  
   

A signed original of this written statement required by § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003 has been provided to the Company and will be 
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

/s/ Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A  
   

Kevin P. Tully, C.G.A  
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer  
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  
March 3, 2006  


